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Chapter'1
A New Land
%

Oskar stood on the bow &f ﬁhé steamer peering through the.swirling mist of early
morning. Only miﬁutes before he had heard the cry, "Land ahoy!", had pulled on his pants
in excltement, and crowded up the steps with the other passengers, Just as e;ger for the
sight of land again as he. -

Sure enough, there she Stood, veiled in fog,'the symbol of freedom and é new be-
ginning for many, the Statue of Liberty, Tears came into Oskar's eyes, and he wiped
them away unashamedly. Some were cPying openly. This meant thg end of one life and thg
beginning of another, and after several weeks of travel, it was so good to be on the
§erge of a new adventﬁre.

His parents, Carl énd Johanna Larson, stood a short distance from him, among the
%embers of four other families who had made the same decision, ?heir 1ife in Skarsborg
Lan, Vestergotlund, Sweden, while not all bad, certainly left a lot to be desired.

Word trickled through about this land of plenty on the other side of the Atlantic
Ocean., The same rumors stated that life in the new land could be so much better that
it almost sounded to the Larsons like the Biblical Land of Milk and Honey.

True, it meant leaving all their family and friends behind, and the decisioﬁ had
been a difficult one to make, Of eight children Born_fo them in Swedén, their_fourth,

a lovely little girl, passed away before she ﬁas.two. That same year, 1850, their second
son,Jéhn Oskar, had been born. Leaving the grave of her little darling wag most painful
for Johanna, but Oskar was now seven, and she had three younger than he, so reluctantly
she had agreed to making the move,

Selling most of their household items, they boarded this steamer for the long ?oyage,
to their Land of Promise., Now crying openly, Johaﬁna wondered whether £bé decision had

been a wise one,



=

pr—

In bewilderment, the immigrants, knowing 6nly the Swedish ianguage, went through

customs, After some time, they cleared and with the help of friends who had gone before,

bought passage on a train for the state of Iowa,

This train took them to the end of the railroad track, to Chariton, a town in the
éouth-central part of Iowa, in the month of Octdber, Jjust before a cold winter,

-Having sent a man ahead in the spring to prepare a place for them to camp when.they
arrived, they were most surptrized and disappointed to find only the floor laid to a
shack. However, there was no time to spend in self-pity, and some boards were found
and soon ali were busy putting up walls and a roof to keep them dry,

They discovered the weather to be no more merciful in Iowa than in Sweden, and by
the time they moved in, rains had started and it had turned most chilly. Many of their
things were soaked from rain before they finally moved everythlng under cover, When
everyone was settled, it appeared that they wvere pauked . more like sardines in a can,
than a group of friends in a bunk house,

. Carl went two or three miles in an effort. to get some milk for his family, only to
find that the people. spoke English, He spoke nothing but Swedish but sonevway made his
needs known. The strain of the last few months took its to}l,‘and as he kaited for
the milk, he fainted dead away! .

They found times to be difficult in Iowa, too. Their move followed a time of gréat
unrest, the terrible divisive Civil War, and the entire country Wwas attempting to re-
cover and make a fresh start,

They located inside a bend of the railroad, with a distance of nine miles to the
track in one direction, and five miles in the 6ther.. If soon Bécamé 6bviqus that'they
couldn't spend the winter in sﬁch close quarters, so the men found a Swedish man 1ivingb
nearby who spoke - a 1little English, expléined their plight to him, and he agreed
to help_them find some land and materials to build homes for each 6f the families,

However, it proved time-consuming, and three of the families lived there together
for over tWwoy ears, huddling around the one stove when the Weather tﬁrned cold, and
sharing the same stove for cooking their meals;

Carl located a plece of land five miles from the railrbad, eventually bought lumber,
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and ‘built a small home for his family, ﬁhile,they lived in this "bunk house", Johanna
gave birth to their last child, a 1little boy, and they moved into their own home when
he'was six months old, o . |

- The property they purchased needed a great deal of work before it could become the
wbnderful land of promise they had anticipated, The hilly country resisted their hard
work. Rough land needed smoothing., OStones must be removed. At times it seeméd that
1ife.involved nothing but back-breaking tdil, and Johanna longed for her home-land.

| However, they found that the hard work paid off, and from time to time they annexed
adjoining acreage, puttihg all thé hard work into it, until it, also, produced fine
érops_for them,

One thing that made their place valuable was a spring of gobd water, But blessings
don't alwayé come ﬁithout curses, and they found it to be surrounded with quick sénd.:
The Quick‘sand gave them considerable trouble at first, as animals became trépped in
it when.drinking. Getting them out became a major operation, involving several of the
family,

Occasionally a friend would step into theAquick sdnd”accidently, and all work would
come tg a halt as the family raced to his aid, Eventpally they‘filled the quick sand
area wifh stenes and other debris, méking it quite safe and'é very good watering place,

Winters were cold, summers were hot, but the entire family pitched in and helped
with the work, winter and summer, One winter was an exceptionally hard one, The worst
sleet they could rgmember hit them, making the road so icy that a neighbor boy skated
to their place; a distance of about one-half mile, Fruit trees in the orchard were
bédiy damaged, as well as some oﬁher trees, inciuding sbme maplgs.

Damage to their property,/severe though it was;:still didn't equal that.of the |
little town of éhariton, where telephone and power lines were a complete loss. Some of
poles 14 inches in diameter were broken into three pieces, like matéh sticks, The
wires were such a complete tangle that a person couldn't walk through the streets.,-

The storm occurred during the night, and when morning oame, it was 1ong remembered.
1t took some time to clear the streets of Charlton, and fruit crops were’ small the .

following summer,



Carl was a proud man, a man of character and good morals and principles. He train-

ed his family in the same way. Johanna shared his pride in their family, and both

watched their . children grew, A&nd how those boys grew! " Eventually all of them ex-

ceeded six feet, with the exception of Oscar, who by now had changed the spelling of

‘his name to a more Americanize' way.

Carl told his children ;f-fheir Swedish heritage,'reminding them of their homeland,
where most of their relative”Stiil lived, He wanted them to remember, even if they
lived in America,cthat his family was of royal lineage,.and he eipectedvthem to live
ﬁp to all that would be expected of them, as members of the foy@; family.,

When time permitied, the boys worked for neighbors for wages, always trying to.help
meet the heavier expenses of a growing family. The older girls married, one at a fime,
but the boys éontented themselves with fafm work, being some younger,

Oscar loved horses more than anything and found work on a’ large ranch,where they . -

- raised and bred horses. When the farm bought one of the first binders in that part of

Iowa, he proudly drove it behind a pair of pure-bred Clydesdales, At fifteen, that was
a real honor,
Oscar enjoyed working on the ranch with the horses, little realizing how drastically

his 1life would be changing in a short time,
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Chapter 2

"Westward Hoé!

When he reached 21, Harry, or Axel, as some called him, decided to move farfher west

‘and homestead, The home farm, how produting well, kept Carl busy, but with the young

péople growing up and marrying, expenses lessened and this seemed to Harry a good time
to start out on his own, | -

| He and Oséar listened as tales were told of the West, and all the opportunities it
offered, Homesieading‘éounded juét great, Neither Harry nor Oscar were afraid of hard

work, and when Harry made up his mind to move West, he asked Oscar to go with him,

While Oscar was only 17, he was capable of doing a man's work and had been.doing

. heavy work for some time, It was with some slight trepidation that the two boys left

home for the first time to be completely on their oﬁn; and -Johdnna's heart ached to see
them leave,

Carl had taught them the Bible truths, as far as he knew and believed them, and

‘the family was deeply religious, Oscar remembered the teachings of his father, as.they

left their home, 3

And so the two eager young men headed out West, feeling tﬂat surely gomewhere out
the£é they could carve a life for themselves, hopefully better than the one they.weré
léaving. Greener grass, maybe, but they had heard of a Swedish colony in Kansas that
was hoﬁesteading land, and it appealed to their spirit of adventure,

They wenf as far as Kansas, and Harry decided to stake out a claim near Oberlin,

" Oscar worked with him for a while, helping make a dug-out, and clear part of his land.

Dug-outs were the simplest and cheapest, and also the fastest and most practical
dwelling, Most claims had banks or hillsides, They searched for a good place, then

dug back into the bank the size of the room they wanted, When it reached that size,

.they. put willow sapplings across the top and covered it with straw., When straw

dogered the entire top, they covered the straw with dirt,.

" They made the front wall of sod, with a door-that led into the room, Considered home
by most of the frontiersmen, it tock no money, was easy to heat in the winter; and kept
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reasonably cool in the summex, AThese dug--outs  served as home to-man& for their entire
iifetime.

.With Harry settled in, Oscer began looking for a place for himself. After.éome time,
he fdund Jjust what he wanted about ten miles away ané staked his own claim, This time,
Harry helped him dig his dug-out, complete it, and break tﬁe first soil, but with his
own claim to care for, he soon returned and the brothers were each on his own,

Time passed, with each busy with his own work, But Sundays were days of rest, and
Oscar often visited with Harry.. He had acquired a black pony he named Jack, 01d Jack
waé not only his work horse, but also his mode of transportation, and when he visited -
Harry, it was on 014 Jack. |

-On one of these visits he learned with interest that a new family had moved into
the neigﬁborhood. Homesteading was a difficult 1life, and while there were some a;tivities
other than work, very few girls lived in that-neighborhood. Hoaglunds were é different
story. rThey had been blessed with eight girls and not a éingle boy, and best of all,.
they had chosen t& settle near Harry's claim, where Mr, Héaglund staked claim to a
homestead of his oWN, |

With no bqys to help with the back-breaking work of a new homestead, the Hoaglund
girls soon became accustomed to working in the field like mén. Hovever, they, also,
_were a very religious family, and Sunday was élways a day of rest and relaxatiﬁn.

Oscar ¢isited in their home with Harry many times after thé first meeiing with
this interesting fami'ly, While Harry and Oscar had learned to speak English, the
Hoaglunds had recently arrived from Sﬁgland{’ Sweden, and spoke only Swedish, although
they learned that Father Hoaglund could speak a little English,sas he had come to'
Anerica some time befo;e and worked in the Chicago area to ‘earn money toipay'for the
fares for the rest of his family, ;

The Hoaglund home became the center of many a young man's fancy. With seven girls,
and before, as one of the young men put it, "Women as scarce aé hen's teeth", even the
féct that half of them were not really old-enougﬁ to be elegibie for'marriage ﬂidﬁ't
dampen the spirits and interest of the young men for miles arouﬁd. | |

While visiting with them, Oscar learned that their oldest daughter, Emma, had come

to America several years earlier, w0rked in the Chicago area to make enough to send for
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her father, who with her help, finally saved enough to send for the rest of the famiiy.

While Emma and Father Hoaglund worked to earn their fare, at home in Qmaland,A’
Mother Hoaglund and the girls spent thelr evenings pasting together match boxes and
gluing ‘on the little papefs., These they tossed up into a net slung above their heads
‘to dry, before taking them bac’ to the factory, where they were paid by the piece for
their efforts, Certainly t"re‘had been no time for - play, no time for enJoyment whlle
waiting for their trip to America. |

Finally the 1ong awaited day arrived, they said théir last farewells, énd boarded
£he steam boat., They knew that they yeren't going as first-élas§ passengers, but they
hardly expected to be going as steerage, down in the  hold with the cattle and other ani-
mals., Poor Mother Hoaglund was violently ill the entire vojyge, which lasted about
two months,
| The seven sisters had been pianning what to take with them on the boat and saved - °
- 1ittle bits of candy and sweets for many weeks to eat on their voyage, but bilge water
~came in and ruined all of it. Food served to steerage ciasé lacked any. imagination,
so that by the time the boat docked in New Ygrk Harbor, the entire family rejoiced as they
disembarked and made arrangements to reunite with Father and Emma by train,

And what a reunion that had been! Eefore the& made aﬁy decisions concerning their
futurg in America, Oscar learned, they decided to change their namg, which origin-
ally- had been Gustafson to Hoaglund,

Mother Hoaglund couldn't understand why this should be necessary, but Father wsxplain-
ed that there were too many Gustafson's already and that many people immigrating to
America changed their names, indicating a new life in a new country, |

-‘They decided on Hoaglund, also a common name in Sweden, because “hoégy meant
"high ground", while "lund" meant "forested area". Having come from a rather mountain-
ous, forested area, their name reminded them of the hoﬁeland they already missed.a great
deal, | |

After a brief stay in the Chicago area, the Hoaglunds decided to move on to what
offered them a greater challenge. They gngoyed farming, and'FathQr Hoaglund wanted to
get back to working with the good earth, Someohe told them of this Swedish community

in Kansas, as far West as that railroad would take them,fand,in a few short weeks they
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boarded the train for Oberlin, Kansas, .

Emma's Job and friends helped in her decision to remain in Chicagp,and shortly she
married a fine young man there, '

W;th each succeeding viéit, Oscar learned more about this family so like his own
in many ways. Both he and Harry were made to feel at home when they visited with them,
| One night aftef a visit w%gh Harry, and of course, the Hoaglunds, Oscar mounted
01d Jack and started riding }pwéra home, Ten miles in the dark didn't mar his happi-
néss in companionéhip after a week of loneliness and hard work on his claim, and he gave
01d Jack his head and said, "Just take me home, Old Boy," :

Putting his hand in front of his face, he discovered that Hé couldn't even see it.,
Yet, he didn't worry. O0ld Jack knew the way blind-folded.

Of course he did, but Oscar felt after some time that the pony seemed to be going
in the wrong direction, Putting the reign to the side of his neck, he turned him with'_
difficulty. Then, as he attempted to turn him even more, the pony stopped completely,
énd Oscar knew betterlthaﬁ to urge him on,

Swinging down out ﬁf the saddle, he slid to the ground, walked to fhe front of the
bony and started feeline to see what had stovped him, He felt absolutely nothing, and
came to the horrible realizaiion that 01d Jack had stopped-on the edge .of an embankment,
Had he urged the pony on, they would have dropped to the bottom of the "draw", as they
called them, which was a good eight or ten feet down,

He got back on the faithful pony, gave him his head again, and the pony tcok him
home safely. Never again did he distrust 0ld Jack's Judgment when returning home,

During the busy times of the year, Oscar reméined pretty close to his h;me spread,
but whenever he felt he could take the time, he would spend the Sundxy with Harry, and
that dften meapt a visit %o the Hoaglund home, Harry had made up his mind'that one of
the Haaglund girls was just what he wanted for a wife and was actively courting Anna,

On these visits.Oscar learned more about the Hoaglund family, and what he learned,
pleased him, Each of the girls.earned her own way, either helping Father Hoaglund on
his farm, or working out, ' . T
| Several years went by, Oscar's spréad-began paying off-and ihelﬁdaglund girlé gfew

up. He wanted to take a wife but felt that he must have.a fit home for her, and the
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dug out wasn't exactly what he had in mind.

He felt that the time had come to make some changes in his life,



Chapter 3

. A Soddy of His Ownm
B - :

One day when.visiting Harri, Oscar asked him if he could take a few days and go home
with h;m, as he héd something important on his mind.and needed some advice and help,
ﬁarry agreed, and when they arrived at the dug-out, Oscar sﬁoweq Harry where he hoped
he could make a "soddy", or sod house, He wondéred~if Harry thought the place would be
all right and admitted that living aléng left a void in his life, His farm was doing
well now,-and he hoped to be able to marry a wife very soon, 4 dugsout would newer

do as a home for a new bride, and Harry agreed with him. They planned a !"soddy"” with - -

. two rooms, a kitchen and a combination 1iving-bedroom,

Harry teased Oscar a bit about who would be the luéky girl, but Oscar was tight-
lipped about that part of it, How could he be certain that the one of his choice would
have him?

Together they plowed tﬁe sod with a special pidw withéut.é mould board to lay back
the turf, They first cut the grass with a colter, then plowed in straight rows, and.
fhe grass looked as it had ;Sefbfé it had been cut, -

Then they took a spade and cut the grass sod into lengths., It was about 2-3 inches
deep, and the roots were solid and matted, holding it togefher. Thesé‘lengths were used
as brick, stacked one upon another, until the height of the ceiling was reached, |

.Vhen compieted, the soddy had walls two feet thick and could well withstand'the
cold winters, hot summers, and even the terrible storms that occasionally blew through
the prairie lands, | |

ﬁe but glass windows into the holes left for tﬁem, half-way through the walls,
leaving about one foot of sod on each side of the glass, Doors‘were,put in~the_same
ﬁay; , |

When the "soddy" was nearly ' completed, Oscar made another visit to Harry's home,
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and although he felt a bit strange about this visit, how he hoped the Hoaglund girl he
had kept his eye on for some time now would agree to marry-him and cheer his lonely
days and nights,

Apparently Josie, or Josephine Mathilda, found it no great surprize when he began

‘@ourting her, A few eye brows may have lifted over a 33 year-old man courtingia 16 year-

old girl, but aftei a few fishiog trips together and other times alone and with the' fam-
ily, getting better acquaintod,-OScar finally asked Josie . if she would share her life
with his, and without hesitation she responded, "Yes,"

Oscar felt a great weight lifted from his heart, and it was a happy young man that
mounted Jack for his returnltrip home after getting a "yes" to ois 1mportant question,
Now he really had work to do; He completed the "soddy", built in a few extra things he
hoped would make her happy, and planted a nice garden for her to help him harvest, All
things intended to give Josie a warm welcome when she joined him in a. short time,

Josie knew all about hard work, In addition to helping her father in the fields,
she hired out to different families and had been doing this since she had first arrived
on the Kansas prairie, at twelve years of age, Work was nn stranger to.her, and she
welcomed the challenge of turning the soddy into a comfortable home,

The day before she turned seventeen they had a .simple wedding, and Oscar took his
bride home. Modern conveniences were unheard of, Light came from kerosene lamps, the
heating stove was "powered" with cow dung, perferrably called "buffalo chips", and all
water came from the hand pump. |

Oberlin, the nearest town, was ten miles aWay, and the trip was made perhaps once
a jpear to purchase supplies for sewing, quilting, and staples for cooking.

Josie did the laundry out in the yard, using a wash board in a laundry tub, scrubbing
each piece of clothing or other laundry by hand, carefully checking to see that all the
dirty places were clean ance again,

The laundry tub rested on a frame fashioned by Oscar over a fire-pit, and Josie
kept & fire burning to provide hot water while laundering.

In the winter time, the cold of Kansas was much too severe to do the Iaundry out

in the yard, so the entire operation was moved 'inside, with the hot water furnished by

the water tank on the back of the cook stove.
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Oscar worked even harder now, with a Qife‘to care for, but with a joyful heart, He
no longer returned to a cold soddy after WOrk. Josie.had mealé prepared and waiting éach
evening, and life took on a new and wonde*ful meaning.

When Josie told Oscar that she was expecting their first child, he was over-joyed,

Now he would be a family man, and nothing could have pleased him morex But he must take
.better care of Josie now, and ;b he installed a windmill to pump the water. Uﬂat a wonder-
ful thing,windmills were! C;cé; waa-the idol of tﬁe prairié, with his windmill spinning
in the breezes, déing all thé.work for ﬁim, and Josie enjoyed ﬁaving to car;& the water
from the windmill, instead of having to pump it first.

Their first-born, Alma, brought them great joy. 4 healthy 1ittle girl, and cheer-
ful, too, Mother and Father Hoaglund thrilled each iime they éaw her, but the visits to
theitr home weren't frequent, as now 0ld Jack could no longer take them, and they used a
‘horse-drawn wagon. Each trip took several hours over the bumpy prairie roads.

While both Oscar and Josie understood and spoke English quite well by now, they uééd
6nly Swedish in theirfhome, so when little Alma began to speak, Swédish was the language
that she learned.

By then, another child announced its arrival. A boy this time, and they named him-
Josepl Emmanuel., Still very religious, Oscar was a charter meqbér of the Swedish community
Bhurch, and Emmanuel had a very special meaning for them,

‘Time has a way of moving along, They added Albert to the- family;.and then-Aaron,” $ach
" early learned the importance of working, and each carried his or hef share of the work
load as he was able, While Josie didn't weave or spin, her mother did, and her father
prepared the wool for her by washing and carding it. |

The children watched with great interest on the infrequent visits in the home
of théir grandparents as raw wool changed into yarn, and then was woven into fabric,

How Grandpa could shear a sheep and Grandma would work such mir#cles with the wool facin-
ated them,

On one of these visits, when Alma was about seven, Grandpa Hoaglund surprized her
with a China head for a doll, It didn't take mucﬁ éoaxing for;Josie to méke a.body for

it, and also some clothes. Such an extravagant gift! Toys were scarce, in fact, almost

unheard of, aside from home-made playthings like corn husk dolls,
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Viéits were made with other relatives on occasiong, and these were always the high-
lights of the week with the entire family. Winter sométiﬁes curtailed visiting to a'de-
gree; yet Oscar and Josie still attempted to get théir little family out frequently.

Of. course, in wiﬁter, with its deep snow, the wagon couldn't be used, so Oscar
invested in a horse-drawn sleigh, While he hitched up the horses, Josie bundlea-upttﬁe
children warmly, because the™ were pretty much out in the open with temperatures down much
too low to take any chances withxtheir-getting cold,

One Sunday they decided to visit Josie's sister, Hulda, and her husband, Gus., While
they lived only about eight miles away, it would take the entire day to make the trip each

way, with some time for visiting and a big lunch at noon,

As Oscar hitched the horses, Josie bundled the children especially weli, as the weather

was bitter cold, with just enough breeze to drive that cold all the way through., Osacar

drove the team and sleigh to the front door, and between him and Josie, they loaded the .

children into the back of the sleigh, and then Oscar helped Josie and Aaron, the baby, into

the front seat beside him, and amid much merriment, they'started the hor;es on the way.
) Their big feet broke through the érusty snow., Oscar and Josie talked as they drove
on. Aaron soon fell asleep, but Aima,'Joseph, and Alﬁert chattered in the back seat,
eager to visit with their cousins, about their age, and whom they hadn't seen in some
timé.

Tﬁme paésed, and slowly the miles passed behind them. Suddenly, excitement grew as
they looked ahead and could see the home of their cousins, Between them was a draw, and
the snow lay in deep drifts, _

Thei# fun was rudely interupted when the sleigh stopped and fellevei té one Sidé,
almost dumping them all out in®® the snow,. 0s§ar gave the reigns. to Josie %0 that he

could get out an do some investigating, He found one of the sleigh runners had broken,

and there was no way he could do repairs where he was with no equipment with.which to

‘work.,

Oscar pondered their situation for a moment, then declded to remove the back seat of

. the sleigh and place it beside the road for Josie and Aardn, and'they'sat"there'ﬁhile S

Oscar took the team, drove it on across the draw, And got a wagon from Gus, and returned
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to pick up the rest of the family,
In the meantime, the children had remained in the back of the sleigh, so well bundled
for:wermth that they thought the entire thing greafbsport.

After Oscar delivered his family to Gus and Hulda's home, he returned to the sleigh

_once more, this time with the necessgry things with which to make repairs. and .after some

time had passed, drove the *2am:and empty sleigh into the yard. The children's feeling
that "Papa can do anything" was reinforced that morning. ‘Their Papa could fix anything,
of that the entire neighborhood agreed, . '
Fortunately, the trip home proved uneventful, but the trip remalned etched in their
minds indelibly, as the first trip they could remember in the sleigh--and then, the runner
broke, édding only interest to the trip for them, but considerable tréuble for their Papa.

While week-ends were eaperly awaited when trips were in store, there were other

'aspects of the week-ends not so welcome in the children's thinking,

One of these was the not-so-ecagerly waited Saturday night baths.

Josie heated all the water in the boiler on the back of the stove, poured 1t into

a wash tub placed on the floor in the middle of thevkitchen, and one at a time the children

took their baths, beginning with the youngest., Each knew better.than to miss scrubbing
behind the ears, etc, Josie had an uncanny way of'knowing'wheﬁ the bathing left places
un£ouched, and after a thorough scrubbing by her, the children were more than willing to
fake éare of it themselves the next Saturday.

Oscar beliecved in everyone working hard, but he also believed in enjoying his familyu
Evenings were often story times, and one evening he told them of how he had bullt the
horse barn. | .

The prairies greﬁ bountiful wild hay. Hé cut much of this one fall, and had hauled
many loads of it to their yard. Most of this wild hay was oats, so when it dried, he had
the straw that he needed for making the barn, |

Thié he tightly packed into a large stack, tambed it in hard and solid, and trimmedv
away tb-~make the sides straight and true, '

After deciding just where he wanted the door, he ek away the hay in that-érea to-
ward the inside of the stack, then procéeded to cut away all fhe ﬁay>oﬁ the inside of“the

well-packed stack, leaving a wall four feet thick,
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When it was all trimmed out, rafters were placed on top, and they were covered with
even more hay and straw, making a weather-proof barn for the horses. And by now, Oscar
had an excellent team of work horses who were more than hapoy to go in for cover and
their nightly ration of food, after a hard day at work. Old Jack, their beloved and
oldest horse, was still the fanrite of the children, | ‘ |

As the family-grew, so 4id.the expenses and responsibility. Now, they all went along
when they collected the cow auné'for fuel. The children went with Josie into the field,
collected the chips into piles, and later, Oscar_followed with the wagon and ﬁhrew them‘
into the wagon bed.

The depression of 1890 made conditions even worse, and the komesteaders‘felt fortune
ate if they had cattle to collect chips from. The lucky peopnle burned cow chips, others
did the beét they could with whatever they could find,

One summer the corn crop did exceptionally well. It appeared that, after several |
years of short crops, the family would finally be able to get a few things, barest nec-
essities, things they had done without. To their great disappointment, they found that
no one could afford to buy their corn, and had they hauled it to Oberlin, ten miles away,
they would only have received 2¢ a bushel for it.

Rather than go to the work of shelling it and hauling it to town, they shelled part
of~it for themselves and ground corn meal, They ate corn mealrmueh, corn bread, corn
éconeé, and dried corn in every way imagineable, and what they couldn't eat, they burh- -
ed for fuel.

One day when Josie went the boys for water to the'windmill, they hurrie@ back tb the
house to tell her that a yearling calf had somehow tried to Jump over the pipe. that ran
the water from the windmill to the water tank; but it had lodged over the pipe. and there
it dangled, completely off the ground, tipping precariously one way, and then the other,
in vain strueegles to get down.

Josie took one look at the heifer, shook her head, and said, "She weighs too much
for me to move., There is no way we can get that calf off. We'll just have to wait until
Papa comes home later uHiS evening." | o

While the poor czlf continued itq frantic ‘efforts to get free, the boys took the water

to the house and set up a watch for Papa, hardly able to: wait to tell him about the heifer
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hanging by its belly over the water pipe, ahd certain that Papa would know what to do.

"On the water pife, you say? How could it get up there?".

"We don't know, Papa, but it wants down te¥ribly!"

With Oscar to the rescue, the calf finally went on its way, little worse for the
frightening experience, |

Entering the house one day, Josie looked up over the door and froze in her tracks.,
Hanging anong the sticks and roots just above the door was a snake, Fortunately for her,
a stick was near-by, and unfortﬁnately for the snake, between her and the boys, they :
promptly disposed of it once and for all,

Life was good., Oscar and Josie Here,ﬁappy, the children were well, and Josie dis-
covered that a fifth child was on the way. Another time for rejoicing. Both she and
Oscar loved childrén and welcomed the coming of another., Summexr crops were in, ana a
large stack of hay put away toward their winter needs.  All was well with their world,

until the day of the storm.
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Chapter 4
Family Man
4
One day as Oscar workec in'the field with the team, he noticed a dark cloud travel-
ing in their general direction. That could only mean one thing--trouble, perhaps serious
trbuble °
Hurriedly he turned the horses toward home, leaving the equipment in the field,

but before he could get near the home and barn, he could tell that he could never make it

ahead of the storm, and it continued racing across the prairie. He could see that his

homestead was directly in the path of the storm, and when he neared the house, he turned

the horses loose, hoping they could find thelr own way to the barn and attempted to find
the corn crib, hoping for some shelter.

The corn crib no longer stood in its place, having been blown awa& by the winds, now
oé gale force, From there, the chicken house seemed to be the next nearest refuge, but |
when he reached where it had been, he decided to'try'to make it to the house.

| Inside the house, Josie and the children worried about him, but more presently for
themseives, as the wind whipped around the corners of.their‘SOddy. They had watched as
the wind approached, after their mother called them back from an errand she hoped they

could accomplish before the storm struck. Their bushel basket remained empty, and they bare-

1y made it into the house before they saw the windmill, so still all-day, begin to turn as

the edge of the storm neared them, and then spin crazilly, frantically tryipg to keep up
with wiﬁds of gale force,

Around and around it went, as the storm approached, bringing first dﬁst,.and then
torr@ntial rains, until they lost sight of the windmill and outside became totally dark,
darker than the darkest night,

With much effort, Oscar reached the house and tried to get the‘dodrﬁopén.r Never had

1t stuck so tightly! He pushed with all his might, and while it appeared to give a bit,

\
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it appeared that another force pushed against the far side. Hé shouted for Josie and the
child;en to open.it for him, blease help him get-in out of the storm, but his veice blew
away with all the other unattached things in the yard. | . |

Finally, Josie realiéed the: reason her efforts to hold the door shut against the
storm wouldn't have been nearly aé nécessary had she only allowed Oscar to open the door
énd come in!

The éntire time he tried to get in, she had even enlisted the help of the small
children to keep the door closed, thinking it was only the siorm about to-blow it down and
she couldn't bear to think about the consequences should that have happened.,

After changing out of his wet clothes, Oscar attempted to get ﬁhe ch;ldren's minds
off th;ﬂstorm that raged outside as he read to them from the Bible,

Evening came, it was bedtime for the children, and still the storm raged. Tucking
them into bed, they prayed for God's protection, and soon Oscar and Josie also went té
bed and fell into an exhausted sleep. ' |

The following morning dawned bright and clear, Bﬁt although the storm had passed,
when théy went out to survey the damage, they found their prized haystack completely blown
- away. Bits of it cluttered the yard, and straws had been blown with such force thaf they
stuck severalwinches into the walls of the soddy.

. This cyclone did a great deal of damage in that neighborhood, and Oscar and Josie
knelt in thanks to God that their home had withstood the terrible blasts of wind that
could diive individual straws into the light posts.,

Chifstmas tihe they made another visit to Mother and Father Hoaglund, spending éome
>time with other friends. Thede were special times, of great enjoyment to all.

. Grandpa.Hoaglund had a surprize for the boys, and while they watched, he made jump~
ing jacks for theﬁ. 'Sﬁch a wondérful grandfather! How they loved him, and wished they coulé
see him more often,

For Alma, a set of China dishes. Another big sacrifice on Grandfather's part, but he
excuéedhit fy saying, "But we get to see them so seldom. " |

. He showed Oscar some of his latest hand-pade tools, A‘wooden scoop for dipping oats

for his horses, and other improvisations to ease the burden of living.

" So while the boys played with their jumping jacks, Alma played house with her .t of
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real China dishes, playing that she was serving tea to the King .and Queen of Sweden,

Not all the time was spent with the children, however, Father Hoaglund .-
'“‘1nquired all-aﬁout Oscar's farm, and talkéd about all the usual farmer-to-farmer

.topics, and Oscar told biﬂlof the terrible storm th;f had visited them but missed °
the Hoaglunds, only ten miles awaj, while Josie and her mother caught up with all the
family news, , | |

.All too soon the time came for Oscar and Josie to load their family back into the
waéon for the return trip home.- They tucked warm blankets around them to keep out the
biting wind, and by the fime they-reached home, the children had long been sleeping.

Hinter work consisted of getting th;ﬁgs in shape for spring plawing and planting,
feeding and milking the cows, and other routine things. Many things were put aside dur-
ing the rush of spfing and summer work, waiting for ;inter mohths, when the weathér pre=~
vented gefting anything done out in the fields.

Eaily in his married life, Oscar had made a soddy for the few chickené they kept,
Not having taken the pains with.thié one as he had for his own home, rain and vinter |
weather had melted it to the ground, leaving ah unsightly mound in the back of tﬁeir
yard, ? |

While it had served it duties ﬁéll,_now it was ohly an'éye sore, Oscar decided that
the door yard needed some fill dirt, and that the chicken house sod could be used to
good ddvantage, so he and Josie dressed the children in their warmest clothesj‘aﬁd thay

went  with him to #hé deceased chicken house, where he began the work of sifting out the
dirt from the foots.

| While still winter, the sun shone warm on_fheir bécks as tpe small children played in
the yard, making small éoddies’ and playing other gé@es. ‘

Joseph and.Aaron soon tired of building miniature soddies and went to see if théy
could hélp Oscar, vwhile Alma and Albert played-on, oblivious to their absence,

Oscar didn't mind their watching, but there was 1little that they could do to helpe.
Finally he finished sifting another &art load and asked,."Joseph, will you please throw
th‘a.t spade into the cart for me?" B '

Pieased to be asked to helv, Joseph pickeé uﬁ the spade ;nd tossed it‘inté fhe cart,

He failed to notice that when Oscar asked Joseph to help, Aaron decided that he wanted to
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help, too,_and had stood at the end 6f the cart, reaching up to push. However, at three;
Aaron was simply too khort to reach high enough to do much‘good. © Just as Joseph tossed
thé Spade; Aaron's little fingers reached up o;er the side of the cart,

"The spade flew across the cart, slamming into the far side, and Aaron let out a scream
as it severed -the end of one of His baby fingers,

Alma and Albert didn't hear anything unusuai add continued with their pla& until
Alma.realized that Papa and the boys had been gone a very long time and decided to go
to the house to see what kept tﬁem.

| The first things_shé saw was.a pool of blood in the wash basin, and it frightened
Her. She asked, "What happaned? Who got hurt?"
'Josie pointed at a very quietA?'ron~ sitting there with a bandage on his finger,
and Alma asﬁed, "Wﬁat happened to his finger?;

Ever&one started talking at once, and finally Oscar quieted them and exblained that
Aaron w;nted to "help Papa", too, and how the spade had cut his finger off, so Josie had
put it back in place, bandag'ec:i 1t, and they hoped it would heal nicely now,

Aaron still sat there quietly, although Aima thought he looked a little palé, staring
at the white bandage on his finger, |

As the days went by, he asked 1f he.éould take the bandége off, but Josie kept telling
him, "Not just yet. Wait a bit lQnger."

| Kt the end of three weeks, Josie removed the offending bandage, and to the delight
of everyone, the fihger had healed perfectly, leaving only a small scar to remind Aaron
of the day thét "Joseph cut my finger off,"

’ With cattle neediﬁg to be prought in from,pasture each day! Oscar decided that they
needed a dog. They found one guaranteed to be jusf ﬁhat they wanted, and'nahed him Shep.
Shep 1ived up to his reputation, helping a great deal with the cows. He had been tfainedv
to be a "heeler", going for the heels instead of the head of the caws, and when Oscar
said,-"Come Shep., GCet the cows," he'd point out where the cows were, then he'd add,
"Bring them in,"

| Shepknew just what to do. He trotted out to the field, cliied t.hg',cdw‘s, i, o

~ed them in toward the barn. If one started to stfay,'he would go to the heels and bring

it around. He saveddoscar many miles of walking, and doubled as an excellent watch doge
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Shep became a nmember of the family, and his favorite sleeping place was Jjust inside
the door, which was set about a foot back into t£e two-foot sod-wall. There he could
watch everything that went on, yet 39 out of the way. 4nd théfe he could sleep undisturb-
ed as long as he pleased, providing the chiléren didn't waken him to playiwith theme '

Oscar worked his fields with a team, hand plows, and hana cultivators, He plant-

_ed corn and wheat, and ﬁhen the corn w;s ready for harvesting, he let the children help
him with the husking.
B He took out his big wagon and said, "You take yQur little wagun", and they all went
to the field together. "While he worked on his larger wagon, Joseph and Alma husked corn
and filled thevémaller Wwagon, ‘

When it filled, he pzaised them, dumped it into his wagon, and told them to’ fill

it agein. Over and over again they filled their little wagon, proud to do this, as they

were "helping Papa". This seemed 1like big business to them, and although they tired,
they never complained. Everyong worked, and they were proud their Papa thought them
old enough to be able to help. |

Oscar found that it saved them a great deal of money if he did his own black-
smithing. Ewentually he built his own shops and the children engoyed watchlng as he held
the piow shear in the fire until it became red-hot, pounded it out to sharpen it, and
tﬁeﬁ'plunged it into a pail of water to temper it, -

They shivvered with dellghtWhen

they heard the shear sizzle as it dipped into the cold
water.' Eagerly they stood as close as they dared, hoping that Papa would let them work

the bellows for him. Those times they felt especiallycof value to their beloved Papa,

: and often Alma or Joseph worked the bellows until their arms ached and consiaered it an

honor.

When they didn't help him, they still knew when he had been w0rkiﬁg in the smithy, és
he always came in at evening with a black nose,

Neighbors learned of his skills in black-smithing and came to him for miles around
with WOrk so he made a little extra spendlng money in this way. His reputation went
'ahead of him, and some felt that .he had missed his calling and should have been a smithy

jilatéad.of a farmer.‘ But Oscar's first love was the soil, and that is where it remained.
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Chapter 5

.- Good - News!

The fall that Josie was carr&ing Mable, whep Oscar decided the corn was ready to har-
vest, he hitched up the horses to the wagan and drove out into the field. Slowly he made
his. way down_the rows of corn, husking‘and putting them matﬁre ears into the bed of the
wagon, |

As he neared the end of a row,~he noticed a stranger walking toward him. Always
hospiteble, he worked a little faster as the man approached, meeting him at the‘end of
the row, After greeting each other, the man joined him as they hueked corn on their way
' thfeugh the field.

Oscar wondered about this young Swede who had inﬁrodueed ﬂimsalf as Bwin Mortenson.
Obviously he had husked corn before.'- He kept up with‘Oscar easily when they each took |
a row.' As they visited, Swim tactfully turned the conversation to religious subjects,
and Oscar found himself most interested in what this young man had to say. Certainly
not 1ike he had been brought up to believe, yet somethlng about the way Swilntalked
touched Oscar's heart,

At the end of the day, Oscar invited hlm to spend the night in their hOme,'and.he
glady accepted. Undoubtedly he must have been weary, yet he made no mention of it as they
continued’discpssing various subjects of the Bible,

Oscar enjoyed Bible study and had faithfully attended church most of his life, This :
young man opened horizons that he simply couldn't grasp in one sitting, and he asked
questions that 1et Swin know he had found an interested and well-read man. Little did
he realize that_Oscar had never completed more than three winters of formal education.,

He read his Bible well, and as Swin continued visiting the Larson family, he admired the
-way'Oscar.led out in family worship-each evening; calling ali the children to him and
'reading stories to them from the Bible, He discovered that some of their favorites were

Daniel in the Lion's Den, Jonah and the Whale, and the Three Hebrews in the Fiery Furnace.

" Josie wondered that first night where he would sleep; With only two rooms, and
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one of them the k¥tchen, their oﬁly sleeping room was almost wall-to-wall beds, With fou?
children now, Oscar showed his ingenuity when he made a trundle bed for the children, one
tha£ slid under the big bed during the day.

- While they disliked having to put him there, they finally decided the only place -

for him to sleep would have to be the kitchen floor, and each of the many times he visit-

ed and studied the Bbble with them he slept thére, happy for a place to spend the night

out of the weather,
| They.discovered that he héd completed Swgdish Seminary a short time before as an
evaﬁgelist, and that sqpn.he plannéd to start meetings, explaining even more Bible truths;
Oséar decided that he must attend,
 Throughout the entire series of meetings, Oscar faithfully attended. Josie re-
mained at hoﬁe to cére for the children, Carrying her fifth, she didn't feel stroné
enough to éo along with him and keep four small children quiet. |

Wﬁen Oscar returned home each evening, he explained what he had learhed to her,A
and .she listened but couldn't completely comprehend the new truths. At the end of the
series of'meetings, Oscar gave his heart anew to God, accepted the truth of the SeQenth—
day Adventist Church, and was baptized, .

Josie didn't feel that sﬁe could accept all these new'ideas so quickly, so Oscar
continued helping her with the difficult points as they studied together. Time passed,
and the.few others who were baptized following the meetings began meeting in a home some
miles away. No chupéh existed for them at that time, and especially during the winter
months, atteﬁdiﬁg was most difficult at times,

. Somehow, Oscar, as leader of the small coﬁpany, ménaged to hold things together. He

conducted everything in Swedish, and they had no musidal instrument, Yet,'whén Oscar

o pitched a song, after humming a bit to himself, it always seemed to be just right, and

their voices joined singing from their Swedish Hymnals, with words to the songs, but no
musical-score.

Usually they took the team and wagon, but in the wiﬁter tﬁey changgd the wagon fof
a sieigh, bundling the children well against the cold airt No maitei wﬁaf‘kihd éf weathér,’

church was important enough to make a real effort to get there., Only heavy snow or blizzards

kept them home from this precious time with others who believed as they now did.
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Mable was born, and still Josie couldn't decide whether to'accept what Oscar believed,
Her parents opposed them violently. All their fsmily had been members of the'oId Swedish
Church, and anyone leaving it was considered a heretic,

Finally, in March, she took her stand to join her husband in Baptism; and this posed'
a bit of a technical problem., Living on a prairie, ﬁith no lakes for miles around, and
few rivers, where could they baptize this fragile lady?

When the children learned the answer, fear struck their hearts, Out in the yard they
watered their horses in a large circular wooden - °> trough that stood about 30" high,
They scrubbed 1t out, ftlled it with fresh water, and this'ﬁould be Josie's baptismal.font.

:The ‘boys remembered her repeated wafnings to "Stay away from that trough. If you ~*°
fall in there, you could drown,"

On the crisp Sabbath morning planned for Josie's baptism, the minister arrived at
their home. 'Other members began to arrive., Someone placeq a chair beside the trough on
the outside for her to step up oﬁto, and another inside for her t¢ step down inside, as
Josie changed into appropriate olothihg for the big event,

Albert watched with growing horror as his mother came out of their home, stepped
upon the chair, and down into the trough. He noticed that as the minister stepped in just |
ahead of her, he brushed a ihin scim of ice to one side before burying his mother in holy
baptism. . |

He wanted to cry out, to stop them. He simply couldn't watch, yet he couldn't look
away. 'His beloved mother, going to drown in the horse trough, and for what? He didnft'
understand very much about what was happening, but he felt a tremenduous sense of relief
. wﬁen Josis stepped, shivvering, out of the trough, and walked back into.the house.

Oscar decided that Josie needed more time to learn as much as possible about their
new faith.' Opposition from her parents, even worse than they anticipated, ﬁade them no
longer wlecome in their home, The children felt this most keenly and couldn't undesstand
the reasons behind the change in their grandparents attitude, although their parents
.aitempted to explain that sometimes people have to suffer if they follow Jesus,

| “BEven Harry, who had never fsally gone aiong with the traditional Swedish Churoh

opposed them, and this perhaps hurt even worse than the antagonism of Jesie's parents,
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Oécar'é thouéhts turned more and more often to the second coming of Christ, and he
encouraged his family to be ready, for "no man knoweth the hour of His coming."
"Almza, as the oldest, needed new clothes moge frequently, as there was no;one to pass
them doﬁn to her. Ablthough times were difficult indeed, the time came when she desp-
erately needed a new pair of "Sabbath" shoes, | |
Oscar took her to town and bought a pair of shoes that would delight any little girl,
The insets on each side were of blue Qelvat with.white polka dots, and Alma could only
think, "These shoes will last me until Jesus comes.,"
" When Osaar learned about something the Adventists called "pémp meeting", he decided
this would be the plade“for Josie to learn more and get a little vacation at the same time,
He offered to éénd her aﬁd Mable, tHe baby, and keep the children with him so that she -
could attend as many of the meetings as possible.
- She agreed to go, and took along one of the older daughters of another newly-convert-
ed family to help with Mable, Spending time at camp meeting had more advantages than
Just ;ttending méetings. Josie found that she knew very little about this faith, and even
less about many of the people wgo believed inh it. She met new~friends, and they dispelled
any reservations she might have had COncefning‘f her newly—embfaced religion. She noted
that these were God's people, | | |
Anong the people she mét while there, one couplé particularly seemed attracted to
hér;' As fhey visited and became acquainted, they told her af a place in Califorqia where
there was a church close enough to worship each week. They also told her of a school °
where fhe}students were taught from the Bible, and operatedoby their denomination,
: .- In.their conversations they learned that Alma must soon start school. Already they

. had held her out one year, and Joseph should also be starting; but they hesitated sending A
them to the SChool near by because of a wild, rough'element. When she léarned that'they
intended té make a trip out to see if all this were true, she asked if they would write
to her after they looked things over, letting her family know if it éould pqssibly be
as good as the rumors said., |

| They agreed, and at the close of camp meeting, Josie took Mable home, full of things

'to share with Oscar and the rest of the family.
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In the meanvwhile, Oscar learned a bit about trying to operate a farm and tend four
small children.. He found it to be a difficult chore, But work must go on, especially
during the busy time of the year, so he fook the children to the fields with ﬁim. He
would go about his work, and they played at.the edge of the field, picking wild. flowers.
The biggest problem involved a tiny stinging insect, and every so often he rushed to help
the childrep, ~Wwho were fighting them off and screaming at the top of their voices, He
eagerly awaited the day of Josie's return,

{.He listened intently to the many fhings she .told“'toid him. Especially when she
méntioned about the chufch school in California., Their concern about schooling their
children was of utmost importance right now.

éﬁmmer wore on., Oscar harvested his crops, but still no word from Josie's new friends.
He continued his Bible study, glving the study to the small company of believers who still

' met each Sabbath., Many hours he spent, pouring over passages of the Bible, comp&riné them
witﬁ each other, until he became a knowledgeable Biblé student; His o0ld Swedish Bible
showed the large amount of useage, as he hungered and thirsted after ever more of God's
Word. How he wished, at times, that he could have had more education. But his family
had needed Lthe help of each member to survive, and when it camme time for spring fafm work,
everyone hadwto ﬁitch in and do his or her part,

2The day came when the long-awaited letter arrived. What a tale it told! Of a land

flowing with all kinds of goodies, of fruit trees on every side, of wiﬁters 1o miid that
a light coat was sufficient, and then the ihportant part--indeed, there was a church
school, and also a church,

The letter ended by suggesting that Oscar make & trip out to see for himself whether
.or not they would be as favorably impressed by the Land of Promise as they,

Oscar pondefed'tﬁis. Moviﬁg the entire family? That would be a big move to take,
and yet, if they'believed'the Word of God, wasn't it their bounden duty to do all they
could to sée that their children grow up to love and serve the Lord? And how could they
do that whén they didn't‘éven have a.regular churéh to attend; and certainly no church
séhool in which to learn more about the #ible?

He talked it over with Josie, and together they decided that she and the children

could manage until he returned. He boarded a train to "spy cut the land", and see first-
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Chapter 6

Fond Good-byes:

Josie and the older boys took care of the cattle, slopped the hogs, and all the
other things necessary to keep a farm running smoothly. Yes, they still had hogs.
They puzzléd-as'to how they could manage without them when they were first baptized,
but the minister told them that he felt for the time being they should keep thenm, and
when it came time to get rid of them the:Lord would show them how to make a 1living
without them.
What excitement when Oscar returned! His suitcase smelled of apples, and not oniy
| apples, but pther fruit as well were distributed to all. Alma coﬁldn't help but feel
a sense of envy when she saw what she imagined to be the largest apple in the world
set aside for her beloved grandéarents. Josie and Oscar still loved her mother and
father'very much, and they hoped that they might get back into their good graces before
nzaking the méve fhey anticipated. | |
Then they visited the‘Hoaglunds, Josie's parents, the first visit since they had
become Seventh-day Adventists, and while the reception was cool, at least they were °
welcomed, Oscar told them of their decision to move out to California, and gave.them
that big,'BIG apple. The children all understood that absolutely no one could touch
it. How Alma wanted that applel
| While fhe grandparents hadn't changed their thinking about the new religion, when
they realized fhgi’c Qsoar and Josie would soon be moving their family -~out to California
their manner Softened considerably toward them. They made over the children agaln, and
Grandpa Hoaglund gave Alma a box of colored pencils, knowing that she would soon be
starting school. Another treasﬁre! She loved her grandparents so dearly ané couldn't
.unde£Stand why they tréated her parénts in such an unloving way for so many moﬁths.
“Josie tried to explain thaf.she felt hef fatber had onée beén'introduced to this
new religion and had decided against accepting it. She knew how he felt--if it didn't

sound right to him, none of his family should Ssve anything to do with it.



That Christmas they traveled again to visit with Grandpa and Grandma Hoaglund.
Josie talked Wwith the children before they went, warning them éf possible unclean foods
that would be served at the big Christmas Ainnér.

A; the platter passed down the long table, Albert's eyes bulged. He saw some of
Grandma's home made'pork sausages, and suddenly he felt an irresiible urge to have some.
Not even daring to look at eithér of his pﬁféﬂltﬁ,he took an ample serving and passed
the platter on down the table. Never had sausages tasted $o good! Yet, he wondered
just when he WOuld'begnnaiShed;becaase he knew he had done something wWronge Josie "~
decided not to say anything about i{, and the wondering was far warse then if she had
actuglly punished him and been done with it,

:Crops had been unusually good the summer before, ‘there wWas more money a&ailable
than in several years, and it seemed that the Lord was telling Uscar to make the move
while the time was ripe. As spring-time neared, he and Josie made plans 18 sell their
homestead, all their furniture, livestock, and farm méchinery, including the horses B
£hat meant so much to Oscar;

Talk got around théir 1ittle community. People questioned the common sense of
;heir-making a move right when the going was so good, Neighbors came to call, asking
if it were really true that the Larsons were moving ‘awagr,.n . Khile neighbors
were two to three miles avway, still everyone knew everyone else in the community.

The closest neighbors waited until they were certain that the lLarsons were indeed
going to sell, When they visited, they asked about the price on 160" acre spread,

Oscar placed a fancy price_of $1500 on it, thinking he could always go down, and felt
the Lord's hand leading once more when the man acéepted it for the first price mentioned.
Not gnly did he buy it, but he paid for it with good, hard cash, something almost un=-
heard'of during the depression, st1ll so fresh in théir minds. =

Plans continued for an auction sale, Since money had been so tight, éune one had
attempted to hold an_auction sale for years, and many thought it a foolish thing to do.
Oscar thought otherwise, ordered hand bills printed, and placed an ad in_the local news
paper, . ‘

On the day of the sale, the friends, neighbors, and acquaintances cwowded to their
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yard, A1l of them jingled a little cash in their pockets after an unusually good crop,
eager. to spend it for things beyond their means for so longs

Somehow, Oscar felt that if the Lord could help them sell their farm for hard cash
before they advertized it, He would guide in the auction sale, tpo, and it went very'
wéll, indeed.

At lunch time two of Josie's sisters helped her serve a hot lunch to the crowd,
Soup, served in tin cups, along with crackers, bread, and hot coffee. So many people
came that they could hardly believe it; and wheq the auctioheer finished selling the
last item, they counted their money. An additiénal $1500 for the salel What a good God
tha& gprved! |

The following week, Josie frantically packeds Her  parents, DOV genuinely éorry'
for the tough stand they took when Josie and Oscar first changed religions,'now offered
' to.keep the children while Josie and Oscar completgd the packing and made final pre-

an

parations for the big move.

The ages of the five children ranged between nine and three., They enjoyed théir
visit with their grandparents and for the most part, their differences were reconciled,

Josie WArnéd the children once again about the probability'of unciean meats béing
encouraged, especially crayfish. The children couldn't understand why it was all right
for-their vranuparchto to eat them and yet quite wrong if they Jjoined them.

With Mable just three,and Josie feeling not at all well while carrying her 81xth
child, the children would have been nbthlng but a hindrance to the preparations for
the trip to Gali?ornla, and the grandparehts, who had attended the auction, hoped that

in taking the children home with them it would be a great help to Josie, It would also
be the last-chaqce they would have of enjoying them in their home, at least for many
years, and while tﬁey had been most bitter about the changes made in the lives of their
Josie and he£ husband, they still dearly loved the family.

Suréjenough,hefore the week was over, Grandmother Hoaglgnd served crayfish one
'dinnér~time. Alma, thehéldest, recognized them ét once and spoke right up: "We can't
- eat that, "

The other took ‘it for the gospel truth, and althouyh the grandparents applied some

pressure, they all passed the plate without helPing themselves to what they once con~’
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sidered a delicacy.

After Oscar and Josie watched th@ last sale item 1eaye‘tﬁe yard, they completed the
last minﬁte packing and went for one last visit to Josie's parents. Sevefal days had pass-
ed sihce the children had gone home with them, and they greeted each other warmly.

dscar and Josie thanked her parents for their help with the children and the sale,
and then they spent a few hours _emembering the good times, and the bad., |

The 1890 depression han le}t many scars on the homesteaders in Kansas, as it had
on the many others who lived during that time, Now that things were some better, they
could look back and chuckle about some of the inconveniences., . Josie remarked that she
hoped she would never have to eat corn meal mugh again in hér 1ifé, if it were because that
was all there was to eat,

Oscar remembered the chickens so recently sold at auction, and how the price of

- eggs had now ‘risen well above the three cents a dozen during the worst of the depression

days, and so time passed, as each in his own way put off the final good-byes.

At last Oscar announced, "The time has come, We must go home, get our things together

for tomorrow we will be on our way to California."”

While the children vemembered very well the oranges, grapefruit, and apples he

brought back with him from that far-distant place, thny clung to their beloved grandparents

'a bit longer than usual before telling each a sad good-bye,

-Looking back as they drove off in the wagon, the children could see their grand-
parents standing in their yard, Grandma Hoaglund wiping her eyes with her apron, and
Grandpa waving with his weather-beaten hands.

Driving the horses held Oscaf's attention, but tears welled iﬁ.Jbéie'élejes as .she
turned for one last look at the home she loved, and her parents growing smailer in the

distaﬁde.
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Chapter 7

Galifornia, Here We Come

Early the next morning Oscar and Josie waked the children, helped them dress, and
ate a hearty breakfast. This was the big day; and since they had sold everything at the
édc£ion and delivered the horses and wagon the evening before, they wanted to be ready
when their neighbor came by to take them to the nearest depot. It was the month of March,
a time betweenlﬁinter and spring, and still very chilly.

The neighbor drove his team into their yard right bn schedule., Behind the team, a
 wagon estimated to be large enough to take a family of seven and all their earthly be-
longings to the train, o - ;™

Oscar and tﬁe neighbor loaded the trunks and suitcases first, and then helped the
children find places to sit on a blanketvon the floor. By the time they spoke to the
horses, telling them to "Get up!" the chill had become downright icy cold, and the sky
no longer sheltered them with a blue canopy. Dark clouds skudded over, aﬁd befére long
they realized that a blizzard could strike at any time.

Although the children were tucked in snugly with blankets, the ccld stung thelr
faces as the horses trotted along at as fast a clip as their driver let them. Josie,
not feéling well herself, attempted to comfort them as the terrible blizzard stiruck them
full force.

The drive; encouraged thé already-running horses to increase their speed, In fact,

- the childfen bouncing around on the hard wagon floor ~ imagined they were riding
in the chariot of the Biblical Jehu., Still, in spite of the horses breaking all spped’
limits, it took them the better part of a day to reach the aepot in town,

. They found the depot to have one large pot-bellied stove., OSomeone had put in fﬁel

@nfil-it burned red-hot all the way around. ‘Everyone in the depot, including the Larson
-family, huddled around that one stove, each as clesé as he or she could get, But many -

people planned to leave by train that day, and some burned on one side and froze on the
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othexr, I¥f they ﬁere lucky enough to get that close. Most of them satisfiéd themselves

-+ by hanging arounﬁ the fringes of the crowd, getting what little warmth as could get

through. Everyone got in the way of everyone wlse, A few kindly adults gave ‘their

places to the children, or found a way of helping them to slié under en around some of
the taller ones, and they warmed Quickby.
Josie'had a miserable night. Already sick carrying the coming baby, all the excite-

'— ment did her no good, and coming into the colq.depot seemed like adding insult to in;

Jury. PFrequent trips to the rest room relieved her of what little was left of her last

meél. At times she had some serious reservationé about the entire trip.

’ Fortunately,forlheQ, Oscar now had time on his hands and took the children under his
comforéing wings. ter they boarded the train for a transfer point north; in Nebraska,
he often could be seen taking Mable for walks in the corridors of the train, attémpt—
ing to keep her interest on things other than Mamma.

| Knowing that a sixth child was on the way ﬁad ﬁeiped Oécafwand Josie make up their
minds to make the mave., They wgnted more fruit énd other things unavailable to them on
the weétern Kansas prairie for the children, but the two-room soddy was over-crowded al-
ready, and where to put one more was an ever-present concern, to Josie, especially;

| ﬁhen théy aérived in Nebraska, they were shown into another waitiné room ih the depot.

Anotper pot-bellied stove, and another crowd of people. To combound their miserles, they

learned that a bridge ahead of them had burned; so they spent the entire night huddled

around this stove in tﬁe middle of the room. Benches and seats were around the room;.
but no one goﬁ.much sleep, and by morning Albert burned with a fever, Josie's namsea Wwas

. even worse, and the Larsons were a sorry family, indeed,

- With a hew track across an improvised bridge, the conductor called, "All aboaxrd!”
and everyone.fouhd hié seat, .‘ ~ this timé really on the train for California., While
the train to Omaha, Nebraska, was a passenger train, they now rode on a Pullman car, or
an earlier version of the Pullman,

"Whilé the beds pulled down, there was no privacy. Still, with a bunk above for three

T _of the children, they got a lot moxre éleep that first night' than they had at the depot

the night bvefore,
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Oscar's concern for Josie grew. He hoped for a better day for her bﬁt found that
the constant méfion of the moving train only aggravated her already-nauseous condition,
and ghe was most grateful when Oscar took the children with him on walks in the corridors,
showing them things he hoped would interest them and keep thegr minds occupied.

The next few days were misefable ones for Josie, but the children enjoyed all the
'new things Oscar showed them along the way. When they crossed the State line into
California, he called it to their attention: ﬁwa we're really getting closer. We're in
California at last!"

Never in their short lives had the childreﬁ seen so much greenery, and they 6ou1d
gaﬁﬁﬁydbelieve_that such rivers existed, or so many.of them. The largest, the one Uscar

) ihe "Sacramento", caught their fancy because Oscar called them all ovér to watch as
they crossed it. ‘

g What a thrill the boys felt as the train pulled slowly onto tracks on a large, heav-
ily;eonstructed barge, then put on its brakes énd p@rked wHile the barge built up a head
of steam, then pulled out onto the river, ‘

Sﬁivvers of excitement chased each other up and down the girl's backs as they re-
alized that they were actually on a river, such a wide one, with nothing qnder their
frain‘but a‘flat'boat. They jumped as the barge popped off its whistle, and their eyes
grew.large as they neared the far side of the river,

They all felt more at ease when they saw that the tracks éontinued on the far side,
and as soon as the bafge docked, the train slowly pulled onto the tracks and continuéd
on its way. |

Later that evening, well after sundown, the train puffed into the station at
Escondido; ﬁheir destination. A friend Oscar had made on his first trib out met them
at the station ﬁith his buck bbard. With a little help, everyone managed to pile onto
it, but it was greatly over-crowded, and they couldn't get any suitcases or trunks onto
it,. |

' ~Firs£ thing, When they arrived at the home they would be staying for the night, the

boys wanted to go outside and "see California", but their parents told them that bedtime

came Tirst. Tomorrow would be time enough for them to see their new home,
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Josie'expected the childrén to waken early and put'their clothes out and ready to go,
and they lived up to her expectations of them,” Bright and éarly they bounced out of bed,
huréiédly dressed, and rushed outside, Oscar aﬁd his host, Mr, Kelly, were talking in the
yard, but what took their eyes were the orange trees at the side of the house, Never had
they seen anything like it before! The trees were covered with ripe oranges, and on the
ground, oranges laylthick.

| The ‘boys would like to have raced to the tree and to begin stuffing their mouths
With‘the luscious-looking fruit,:but Oscar festrained them until Mr, Kelly said, "Let thenm
haQe all they want. The fruit WOn{t hurt them, and we have more than we can eat,"
. As they ate one orange after anothep} they found them to be as sweet as sugar, and
right then they decided that they had reached the land flowing with milk and honey.

Later'that déy, the men returned to the depot to pick up the trunks and other bag-
gage. Of éourse, a family of séven can't just move in with another family and expect to
stay indéfinitely, so Oscar started looking for a suitable house for them to ;ent. '

The following day they moved into a place of their dwn,zand again the children did
4 bit of exploring., Mable, the youngest, and tﬁe next older brother, Aaron, started out on
their own., |

In Kansasvthey knew nothing ofnfences. Aside from théir home and farm bulldings,
they could see space in every direction. This completely bewildered them., They walk-
ed arouhd the corner of the house and confronted their first fence,

Until that moment, they liked everything they saw, andvat first the fence intrigued
them, But whenvthey walked right up to it, théy found no way around or through.it. First
it‘béwildered them, as they tried to find a way fhr&ugh,'then it\frustraﬁed them, and

finally Josie heard them wailing and found them against the fence, too young‘fo realize that

" all they would need to have done would be turn around and walk away from it.

She led them back to the house, explaining about a few changes they would need to
make iﬁ their lives, now that they no longer lived on the prairies of Kansas,

Oscar immediately started looking for work. While fhey had a considergble sum in.
savings, he had no intention of spending it until they found what tﬁey ﬁaﬁied to.Buy for.

themselves, With no team or machinery, he felt losf, but farmers in the surrouhding com-

munity hired him by the day.
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¥While he_had never been afraid of hard work, this certainly proved to be a different
experience for him, Yef, he made a 1iving wage, for that time, receiving about $1.50 for a
long ﬁine hours of back-breaking work., He comforted himself with the knowledge that this
wduld only be temporary, and that things would soon be better., After all, the Lord had led
them this far. Surely, He would continue 1eéding them, | .

One of the first things on his list of priorities was gétting the older children
into Church School. They knew not one word of English, and this posed a problem., Yet, he

felt it not to be an unsurrmountable one, Oscar visited the little school, talked with the

- teacher, and told her of his children, their move from Kansas to get them into church school,

their ages,:-and how badl& they needed to get started.
He suggested that he would paf the.tuition for the rsst of the school year and would
expect only one thing, that they learn to speak as much English as possible so that at

the ‘beginning of the following school year they could really start classes with the other

s

children. _
The teacher agreed, and the following day Alma ana Joseph held Oscar's large hands -

tightly as he walked with them to the little schoolg The warm greeting couldn't be mis-

understood, even -though it was in English, and while that day and the days. tﬁat followed

were difficult fox them, the children found themdelves learnlng to speak the:language of

their adopted country with the help of an understanding teacher and friendly children
’

who took teaching of EngTish to these two new Swedes as a challenge,

Pay after day new words were introduced: to :them, and gradually they learned many

words that helped them in understanding more about their new surroundings,

At home things were no better. Oscar and Josie decided that if they were going to

. 1ive in an English-spea?ing community, they would also speak Englioh and although it was

quite broken at first, they spoke no more Swedish in their home and also forbade the child
ren to speak in Swedish, |

Mable, at her young age, learned quite readily, and between their parents, the
. »
teache?, and the students teaching Alma angd Joseph, they soon-used English aoceptably
' At a '
home, Alma and Joseph helped Aaron and Mable, as well as their parents with some

they had learned, and_soon the entire family was using English quite coﬂfortably
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¢hapter 8

The Land of Canaan

After living two or three éonths in town, Oscar and Josie found that they missed
country living, Neither of 3heﬁ had lived in a town before, and they wanted their
children out tn "God's country",

One day Oscar took time off from his work and looked for a place of their-very own
out from the little town,. As Josie's time drew nearer, they re;iized that the home they
now rented would hardly be adequate for one more, and Oscar determined that if at all
possible,.they would be in their own home when she gave birth,

The boys needed more to do to keep themselves out of mischief, tco., Oscar grew
up under difficult donditions, working from the time he was little more than a tcddler,
as did Josie, and they felt that their children needed to be busy doing something help-
ful and constructive, |

What he found went'well beyond his wildest expectatiens, A bit over nine acres,
and the man who planted. it used imagination and fore-thought. .Every known variet& of
ffuit trees grew on that small parcel of land, and most of them were old enough to bear
fruit,

He took Josiec out to see it, and it was love at first sight! Many kinds of apples,
several kinds of pears, peaches, apricots, figs, and olive trees, to name only a feﬁ.
Twehty-tﬁo*different kinds of fruit trees seened iike a dream come true to éhese-peéple
of the prairie, so starved for good, fresh frﬁit.

ﬁhen Oscar contacted the owner about buying the place, he found it not only on the
market, but at a price within their budget, and he lost no“time in clesing the deal.

Now they owned their very own home, with a real house, about two miles out of Escondido.
They moved out a short time before Maude made her appearance into the woxrld, in June,

Not only did the place have many kindsvof fruit treés,_but theﬁe ﬁas-aﬁple'room

for planting more £ruit and a vegetable'gafden; Oscar found cutfings of grapes, and és

sn often happens, when something is new and wonderful, planted twenty-two different
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varieties, all-of which grew,

Until now, Oscar hadgone to work each day on his bicyele. A1l was not as he expected
it, and instead of the friendly, hospitabie families on the Kansas plains, whére they
invited him in to a nice, hot lunch each day he worked for them, when lunch time came
here, he opened his lunch box and ate his cold lunch of sandwiches and fruit, all alone,

&lthough the purchase of a bicycle enabled him to get back and forth to his work in
the orange groves, he missed his horses deeadfully, and when he discovered thet he could
make more money if he had his own team and some machinery tg go with it, he shopped
around until he found that he thought to be the best available and felt much more at
homé ﬁ;th his team than he ever did riding a bicycle,

And he did make more money! But it also provided a way for the family to travel to

town for church and shopping during the week, It soon became a common sight to see the

' Larson family, Papa, Mamma, and all six children'riding in to.Escondido to church each

Saturday morning, behind the team in their wagon,
Summer passed very quickly, and with the coming of fall, Alma and Joseph found
themselves looking forward to returning to schpol. Their English had improved a great

deal, and the teacher gladly started them in regular school, With Alma ten: and steph

._almost eight, their minds were open and most receptive, and the. teacher enjoyed watching

them . absorb learning‘so quicklye.

The school boasted of only five or six other children, so each stﬁdent fecei&ed
his sharée of spec1a1 help when needed, and each student made good progress. On vexy
special days, a man the teacher called Elder Ernest Lloyd visited their little school,
télling them stories and playing with them during their recess periods., Children were
instinctiQely drawn to this man of little stature.but great faith and love of children.

Sabbaths were é very special time to the Larson family., FPapa didn‘t go away to
work, the children didn't go to school, and all enjoyed the church services in the
1ittle church in town.

‘However, the children also looked forward eagerly to Sabbath afternoons. Their par-

4ents, in their wisdom, attempted to pdan sométhing special to hold the chlldren s interest.

During the summer, they went for long walks around their little acreage, samplihg flrst

one fruit, and then another. Josie still called it her "1ittle Heaven on earth."
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Alma, Joseph, and Albert couldn't forget their first experience with ripe olives,
fresh from the tree thé first morning that they had arrived in Escondido. In the fall,
when the olives ripened, they tried to inﬁroduce them to their friends, alwayé enjoying
the look on their faces as they frantically spit the extremely titter fruit from their
mouths.

Oscar and Josie felt a real sense of contentment in their home in the country, He
still worked away from home for cash, yet kept théir'éqn small acreage producing for
them, | |

One evening when Oscar came in from work, he found Alma and Joseph impatiently
wéi&iﬁg for hih.- He enjoyed listening to them tell of things learned in school, as it
also broadened his education, But what they'told‘him this particular evening puzzled
him, Joseph blurted out, "Papa, the teacher told us today that the earth is round.,"

- Oscar never made snap decisions, but this one really took some delikeration. ‘He
kriew the eax h could not be round, yet he hesitaged to undermlge the teacher, so he
finally said, "But doesn't the Bible teach that the earth has four corners?"

That ended their discussion, but it gave him something more to think about, and he
qontinﬁed studyiﬁg ever deeper into the Scriptures, His church responsibilities began
to weigh on him, While he hadn't been an Adveﬁtist too many years, the church was
small and it needed all the dedicated help it could mus ster, Almost from the fime he .
became a member, he sexrved first as an elder, and then as head elder.

Elders were considered the church fathers, usually giving the Bible study for the
11:00 séfViceufor Sabbath mornings., Oscar spent hours many evenings preparing for those
Bible Studies. Never would he admit to preaching, but the membelbs of the little church
returned faithfully each week for his inspirational talks..

Josie not only enjoyed the country atmoéphere, but she reveled in their home,
Never in her wildest deeams dld she imagine that she would have anything so
nice., Oniy twelve years old, the builder finished it with heavy redwood siding, trim-
' ged with redwood trim, éven to a square block in the corner'§f each door. Solidly
: bullt and lazge, W1th three bedlooms, a large kitchen and sizeable pantry, a large
liv1ng room, and also a bathroom, Bousing -a z11ﬂ; bath tub.

The boys espec;ally appreciated the wood box, which openod to the out31de of the
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house, making it possible for them to 111 it from the outside and take it out on the
inside, to feed the fires, Such a modern home for a family accustomed to a soddy with no
bathroom facilities at all, excepting forla little path that led out back and‘a wash teb
placed in the center of the kitchen floor at bath time,
Aaron missed living in tewn, and one day he approached his mother. "@an I go to
town?" |
He and Mable had been playing make-believe games in the yard, and Josie'didn't even
look up from her work, Assuming that this was part of his ﬁake-believe, she answered,
"Oh, yes."
| TP Aaron this was not make-believe, He had his mother's permission to go to
town, and off to town he started, walking right along. It didn't occur to him that it
would be a long walk, Jjust that he wanted to go, and now he could:
Mable didn't even miss him, thinking he had Jjust gone 1nbo the house for a while,
and Josie was certain that he had ?eturned and was playing W1th Mable,
As he passed a neighbor's house, the man wae surprized to see this little chap,
much too young for school, walking along by himself, so he asked him, "Where are you
gping?"
?Oh, I'; going to town,"
. The neighbor waé Jjust completing harnessing up his team for a trip into town, so
he said, "I'm going to town, too. You can ride with me, if you want te."
Aaron's short legs were tiring already, so this offer sounded pretty good to him,
The nelghbor helped him climb up and put him on the seat of the buck board wagon, rzdht
beside the driver, just as proud as he could be,
Alma end.Joseph were on the way home from school when they met the wagon, and they
asked, "What are.yoﬁ doing up there?"
"OH, Mamma said I could go to town,"
They didn't say anything. They knew they could trust the neighbor to leok after
'him, but it concerned them a little about how he‘had gone off to town by~himseif.
That certainly wasn't a common thing in those days, ‘

After a whlle, Aaron returned home, He had taken no money with hLm, and even if he

had, would have had no concept of how to spend it, bult when he returned home he had a
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card board box, and he really felt proud of his accomplishment, Josie learned a val-

_uable lessory and never again answered so quickly or absent-mindedly when one of her

children made an unusual request.
That school year ended with Alna doing especially well in school. At the age she

started, she learned very rapidly. Joseph also made good progress, and after another

summer working on their’miniathgegfarm, Albert joined them when they returned to school

-3

in the fall,
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Chapter 9

--The Peanut Era

In every community there are well-meaning people who want to be helpful, and so it
is intevery chruch. When the Larsons arrived in Escondido, the Adventist Church was
just entering the era of the heélth message. Several of the Escondido families had
embraced vegetarianisn, rep1a01ng méat with the almighty and versatile peanut.

Some of these good people felt it thelr Christian duty to "educate' this new family
with so many children in ways of more healthful living. Peanuts, the newest fad, seem-
ed to enter into every discussion. These dear ladies proceeded to tell Josie of the
valve of peanuts in providing protein-in the family diet, far better than the meat they
then used. |

Josie respecied these Adventists, so much longer in the truth than she and decidéd
to make éhanges in their eating habits., No moie meat of any kind, but peanuts iﬁ
every shape, form, and fashion showed up on their table.

Peanut soﬁp in the evening, peénutvbutter on the bread,’in pbace of the harmful
cow's butter, peanﬁt roasts,---peanuts, peanuts, and more peanuts.

bscar found a place in Loma Linda where he could buy peanuts by the 100 pound
bag. They bought their own mill and made their own peanut butter. Josie tried pea--
nut in almost every possible way, stretching even her imagination, trying to make them
palatable. | B

The children soon tired of their diet of peanﬁﬁs, and became even mdre.tired when
they turned the crank of the mill, making peanut butter in large amounts. |

The family was also enéouraged to use olive oil, which was good for the stomach.
While'Josie had never completely removed butter from the table, if olive oil was better
fc}r them, they must try it. |

The children didn't Join her in enthusiasm over food fads, bﬁt they dld aé they

were told, and when she asked them to find olbve zrees and.see if they could get per-

nission to pick the olives, they went out each fall, picked olives, and then took them
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to a‘factory where they made olive o0il,

. .The factory squeezed the seeds as well as‘'the pulp, and tﬁe children returned
Home'with a five-gallon can of olive oil. The factory was on the way to school, so
‘they picked up the oil on the way~ﬁome from school one day, and then tried to decide
how best to use it, | |

-The bitter taste repmlsed them, but with those ladies applying pressure on Josie,
all six of the children, and Oscar, submitted to the indignities of using the bitter
olive oil en bread, in place of butter,

The bojs found that if they sprinkled it liberally with salt, they could get‘it
down., In fact, they came to enjoy the taste of the salt and didn't mind ﬁhe olive oil
so much,

Poor Josie! Her stomach rebelled, and the church people couldn't understand what
had happened to the férmerly robuét laﬁy, now feeling poorly so fregquently. They took
their condolences to her, puzzling over her problem and certain that it must be the '
diét she fed her family. The children wholeigheartedly agreéd. 411 was well until they
tried acceptihg a diet they had no way of fully understanding.

The Larsons became wéll-known and much loved in the comMuhity and chﬁrch in Bscon-
dido, About two years after they arriveé there, the Kellyfs, who had befriended them
upon their arrival, needed to make a business trip to San Diego. This meant that they
would need:ito ‘be gone for at least one night, and they had a 1ittle Spitz dog that
would need éare while they were gone.,

- The children were acquainted with the litile dog, and when they came in ffom_
school and found it tied to their wagon, their.first.thought wa; about-food.' The only.
thing they could think of to fé;d a dog vwas rabbit, Cf course, the best way fo cafch
a rabbit would be to let the dog run it down, so they headed for the house to ask per-
mission to take the little dog hunting,

When Josie heard what they proposed, she reminded them that if they untied the
dog, it would promptly return home again, and they might not be able to ¢étch 1te

"Then how can we get a rabbit for it?" ‘

"Why don't you call the cat?" ;

Why not? Kitty hunted mice, rats, squirreis and rabbits, so they called, "Here



Kitty, Kitty", and she came on a hard run.

She followed them as they walked through the orchard. - No rabbit. On the other
side of a fence at the back of the orchérd, their {ébw*" grazed contentedly,  When they
reached this fence, they got down on their hands and knees and crawled under, In crawl-
ing under, they flﬁshed out a rabbit,

Kitty did her best., She ran 1like a chetah, caught it after a short chase, grabbed
it, and with one bite, brokeyité'neck, killing it inétantly.

But if they thought their troubles were over, they just didn't know, They tried
to take the rabbit away from Kitty, but she would have none of that. Possession is
nine tenths of the law, and>she had the rabbit. She had run it éown and killed it, and
no way would she let them havé it for a dog or for anything else., That rabbit belonged
to her.

She started following them back to the house, dragging the huge jack rabbit between
her légs.” The.rabbif measured longer in inches thah the cat, and finally the children
grabved the hind legs of the rabbit, exciting her greatly.

One big jerk,-and the rabbit no longer belonged to the cat. As the children carried
the rabbit home, poor Kitty followed them eagerly, hoping for at least a part of it, |
She didn't know that they intended to do Jjust that,'and after cutting the rabbit in two
piécas, the 1little Spitz and Kitty each began their feast. While neither of the animals

had enough to eat, it satisfied the children, und at that point, satisfying them was all- .

important.



& Chapter 10

* School Capers

As the school years rolled by, 4aron also started to school, and a year later, Mable.
They went to school'in-the_front part qf their church, .a fine brick building. The child-
ren walked the two miles or so each way, but occasionally they éaught a ride with a
neighbor dr1V1ng along the road.

S One morning a man picked them up in “his wagon and they rode with him most of .the
way to school. Apparently he planned to work with dynamite. Loose on the flooxr of
the_wagon were some caps for setting off the dfﬁamite, which was in an openh box in -the

| bed of the aagon.

Albert saw these ecaps and thought they they looked interesting. In fact, so

7 . interesting that he picked some of them up and put them into his pocket before getting

out of the wagon.

As they walked the rest of the way to school, his conscierce began to bother
him, - He knew that he redlly shouldn't have taken them, but now that he had them, he
didn't know how to get rid of them, As he entered the schoolroom, he saw the perfect

- solution to his problem, | | .

The stove that warmned the room was burning, and he quickly and unobtrusively
tossed the caps 1nto jt. Before long the daps started going off, one after the other.
The stove.dAnced all over the floor, and the teacher was up-set, putting it rather mild-
1y. | |

oy When she traced the culprit to Albert, he had to go to the front of the room and

confess to all, He-learned his lesson well, Never put dynamite caps into the fi;e,
but if you do, don't get caught'

Their church was located in a rather poorer part‘of town, Homes yere poorly

: donstructed and children and éogs were abundant, One dog inpartlcularp 1ns1sted
on going onto the school grounds, probably to play with chlldken, whom it loved..*-.

But these children, especially some of the boys, attempted to drlve them away.



" This one dog really bothered some of the older boys. It interferred with their
games, but mostly it just aidn't belong to the school, and they began discussing what
they could do to discourage it from pestering them.

One recess'the teacher over-heard them .talking of various means of ridding the =
schoolyof this dog once and for éll. The words that she over-heard, "Tin-canning",
struck her as inhumane, and she sternly warned them against ever tin-canning the poor
dog. She mentioned that cruelty to animals is not a Christian virtue, and she thought
the issue closed, | |

On the way home that day, the dog joined these boys as they sauntered along, and
oné of them decided that now teacher had nothing to say about what they did, as long
as they were not on school grounds.

7 It didn't take very much talking for the other boys to join in the plan, Albert and
' Aafpn were among the group planning to rid thelr school of the dog, and they helped hold
the dog whiie one of them foupd a can and put in some.rocké. ;nother produced a piece
of string from his pocket, and before the unsuspecting dog realized what had happened,
thé éan weighed down its tail, rattling in a menacing way, and the dog was off in a flash.

Rﬁnning'wiydly, it headed for the only place of refuge it could think of, straight
back tb thevéchool yard, and finding the door to the. school open, darted inside, head-
ing-for the teacher; who stood there terrified of this wild-appearing creature flee-
ing from the ever—present rattling can.

The teacher suddenly realized that the dog was running.right up to her, and she
was gal&énized into action. In one flying and undignified 1leap, she landed up on -
her desk, yelling for help.

Someéné.Went to her rescue, managedvto calm the dog long enough to get rid of the
noisy tin can, and.no more was said that hight."Howgver,*the’fblloWing morhing most
of the children were amazed t6 Tind that school didn't.start on time, The boys involv-
ed realized one thing--they were in for trouble,

- As the rest of_the“students waited outsideAplaying,gameg, the teacher gaﬁe them a
. thorough discourse on the evils of tin-canning dogs and mefed out due punishment,

and opened the doors for the rest of the childreﬁ to go ih,

When all were seated, the teacher opened school for the day, and after the usual

he



formalities during which the boys waited miserably, she said, "These boys have something

to say to you."

Albert, eager to get it over with, was first to his feet, and made his wéy to the

front of the room and blurted out, "Sorry I .tin-canned the dog," and returned to his

seat,

Aaron followed the lead of his older brother, stumbled to the front of the room and

repeated, "Sorry I tin-canned the dog", and returned to his seat while the others in-

L

volved each made his way to the front for his '@onfession",

Of course,. not one'of them meant a work they said, but whether or not they meant

¢
™ -
y
(I

it; the punishment had its desired effect, and never again did either of them even

| O

assist in tin-canning a dog.
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Chapter 11

Special Guests

. Excitement ran high'when word filtered through that Sister Ellen G, White would be
visiting their church for an entire week-end, Josie's bad stomach still plagued her, but
when word went ahead of the small group traveling with Sister White requesting accomodations
for her and her son, Willie, Josie listened.intently as the various ladies of the church
 found excuses for not keeping them.

“Not enough room in our home., We can't have them with us", one lady commented, and
another, "I'm so afraid that she would not approve of our eating habits. We can't keep
her", and still another, "Our home isn'f nearly good enbugh for her!"

WhileAJosie didn't feel at all well, she couldn't uqderstand these ladies, so helpful
in éelling her how to improve hef family's diet, yet so filled with personal concern and
pride that the& would turn Sr. White away. She well-understood how the members held her in
awe, yet someone must keep her; and finally she spoke up, "She's welcome in our home,"

"But you still use milk and eggs, and sometimes even put butter on your table! What
will she say? Surely you won't put those on your table when she is in your home, will you?h

| "We are what we are," responded Josie, "If she comes to our home, we.will not change
our habits of eating. If we eat anything that she feels is wrong; I hope she'll tell me
about it."

Although 2ll the bedrooms ‘in the Larson home were filled, ‘as far as Josié w;s concern-
ed, that was the end of it, and when Sister White and her staff arrived, Josie and Oscar
made her and Willie welcome in their home., Indeed, they considered it a privilege having
them stay #%ith' themy ~¢.

Sister White! The girls helped get‘the house spic and span, and on the day §f their
arrival, they helped Josie prepare a nutritious meﬁl for their gqests; including.soﬁe |
home-made bread and a blg slab of home-made butter on a dish near Josie.

Friday even;ng, when they sat at ﬁhe table, and‘after'the blessing w&s said, Sister

White looked the table over and exclaimed, "Home-made bread!".as she helped herself to some
e L7
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of Josie's butter and put it on the nourishing bread.

That was some week-end, and one long to be remembered, Sister White walked over oy

thelr small acreage, marveling at the number of fruit trees in their orchard,

While in their home, she talked with'qOSie concerning some of the controversial food

subjects, as Josie lay resting. Her stomach simply couldn't take all those peahuts with-

out rebelling, and at times she:@lmost became an invalid, unable to leave her bed.

As.Josie expressed her Leeiiﬁgs that without meat occasionally her system simply didn't

work well Sister White told her that far better she eat meat occasionally than be bed-:

ridden” because of a lack of nutrlents due to this new diet they weren't ready for Jjust
yet. She expla;ned that meat eating was no cardinal 'sin, but it was better for people to
wean themselves from it slowly, as they grew accustomed to using other foods that ¢tould
take their.place in the over-all nutritional program.,

Josie felt much betfer in her mind after 1isteniﬁg to these words of counsel, Follpw-
ing her visit, Josie decided to do more study for herself and listen less to the well-
meaning but mis-guided ludleo of the church, and finally decided, after reading John 231=3,
wnere 1t states, "I wish above all things that you prosper and be in good health", that
it didn't sound to her like she was in such good health. Certainly not as good as bezore

she went on the peanut butter binge,

When she changed her diet, she was able to be up and abouf again and her health took
a decided turn for the better,

Sister White's visit at this time involved attempting to develop: an interest in
Paradise Valley Sanitarium, and to raise money to help pay for it, She visited various
churches in behalf of the Sanitarium, and found géod response in some of them,. Oscar
felt impressed to give as much as he was ablé-ai the time, and many leSSe; amounts

enabled the purchase of the property,

Camp meeting time arrived, and Josie remembered back to the first one she attended,
several years before, so far away that only she and Mable could go. What a differencel
Here, the entire family attended, and énefyeai“théjcémp meeting_featured Qear} elderly,
beloved Elder Loughborough. Although of small stature,ahd ratﬁer feéblé;dhéispéke on
Daniel 2, his: favorite subject, His enthusia%m nade a real impr9551on on the minds of all

who heard him and deepened their desire to be ready when. Jesuo came,
LR
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Five years after Maude's birth, a little brother joﬁnéd the family. They named
him David, in honor of one of Oscar's brothers,

' Josie was very i1l with the flu when he Waé born, Sickly.froa the very start, it was
some years béfore he gained any kind of robust health, Perhaps because of that, he was a
much-loved little boy, and with sik older bfothers and sisters, Josie had plenty of help
when he cried--which seemed to the family to be most of the time, atifirst.

josie was just regaining her health from the "peanut era'",and still had her ups and
downs., One time she was quite ill, and Oscar called the local doctor to make a house-call,
Most families still drgve.the convéntional horse and either buggy or wagon for transpor-
tétion, but the family doctor was among thé first to dfive a car. The noise not only fright-
ened horses in the streets, but children, as well,

David %ho was'just a toddler,, played in the yard at the foot of the drivewa&. As
the automobile started down the slight incline, David.looked up and began. to scream.
Nothinhg ahyone could do could Stop the screams that came from deep within hlm, uncontrollable
screams that sent shivvers of fear through those who heard him.

The éar finally parked, and David's screamé subsided into sobs, and finally ﬁe became
quiet, bpt he €omplained of pains in the abdomen, and when fhey:examined him, found that
his incessant séreaming had left himAﬁithla double herhia. |

Doctors preferred not operating on hernias excepting as a last resort at that time,
sa hé drdered a steel truss, . ¥hen it began to deform his hip, Josie made a home-made
support, and. eventually he out-grew the hernia,. and it gave him no more trouble.

One day the children came home from school with excitlng news, The following week=-
end,.Sister White would be speaking in the churcﬁ at Saﬁ Pasqual, about fourteen miles
from their home., Ever since he; visit in their homé,:she held a very spegial‘place in their
hearts and that evening they discussed the possibility of their being able to drive éver‘to
hear her speak again,

,Tﬁeir transportation was a ;pring wagon with two seats. It also boasted of a top, and
a fringe around the edge., With a family of nine, 'even théugh David was‘qpite small, they
couldn't all ride in that one wagon, and the& were faced yith a diléma ﬁnﬁil'Joséph and’

Albert came up with what appeared to them, a brilliant idea.. They would ride their bicycles!

If they could go in that way, the rest of the family could crowd into the wagen,
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Their parents contemplated this idea, The ' boys rode them-often, and if they stay-
ed close by the wagoﬁ it would be all right, but could they ;eally get the others all in
for such a long ride? : . \

' They looked the wagon over, planned where they eould put boxes for exzxtra seats, and
decided that they would plan to attend on Sabbath morninge |

Going by horse-drawn wagon is a slow process, but after getting a very early start

and encouraging the horses to walk as fast as possible, they finally arrived for the 11:00

preaching service. Joseph and Albert rode along with the wagon, sometimes ahead, some-

itimes behind, but always within viewing distance, When the younger children tired of sit-

ting on the hard boxes, they stood for a ﬁhilee

. The going was reugh, and the four-to-five hour trip tired all of them, but they sat as
a united family through the preaching sefvice enthralled with the message, taken_from.John
15; verse five, which reads, "I am the vine, end ye are the branches,"

At the close of the service they lunched in the chureh yaerd, Josie had.prepared.a
dessert, special for Sabbath dinner, a lovely bread puddigg, and after a brief restﬁand
scme visiting'with members of other churches and seldom seen, they again loaded into their
wagon and started for home, another five hours of bumping and Jjouncing on roads that left
a great deal to be desired, yet with their hearts warmed by having seen Sister White again,
and hearing her message,

Si. White's reason for making this trip herself was to confinue her fﬁnd—raising for
Paradise Valiey Sanitarium. They could tell that she had aged some .since the visit in
their home and over-heard someone remark that the trip had been very difficult. for her,
and that they doubted that she would ever again travel so far fxom a railroad

She had a very real burden for this Sanitarium.~ When looking for a site for it, ehel
had been shown a place with existing buildinge. She exclaimed, when they went io look ai
that piece of propertyy'iBrethern, this 1s the exact building that I saw in my vision,

I urge.you to buy 1t." '

‘She discovered that the faith of the brethern was weak indeed, S0 decided that she
would do some soliciting on.her'own. She found two or three okhers who were w1lling to
help in a substantial way, and they set to work raising the - $8000necessary to purchase the

then existing buildings and about 30 acres of land,
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Between the efforts of the three of them, they reised the money and made. the purchases
Qscag‘hgd donatéd a large sum,cconsiderdng the times and circumstances under which he lived,
when Sister White visited in their home., Many others sacrificed to make the purchase
possible,
After buying the lang, they.discovered that water was very scarce, The fact was, there
.was.no water on the land, and rain was scarce, The question that loomed in the minds ef
all concerned was, "What are we going to do about getting water so that we can develop
this Sanitarium Sister White has been shown we are to build?"

Many skeptics said_it couldﬂ't be done, Just money down the drain, Just a w#ste.

But Sister White urged them to drill a well, and told them that she had seen ample water

in her vision,

They hired a man to dig this well, He lived in Escondido, and the Larson family knew

" him well, His method consisted of one man digging with a pick and shével, and another at

¥

the surface who drew up the dirt in buckéts with a windlass,

After he dug down to a considerable ‘depth, he had £hekman at the surface lower a
bucket; and he stepped into it and was hauled to the top of the large, dry hole. He went
to speék with Sister White, who left the room where she rested, and met with him in conf-
erence; He‘%old her how deep he had gone, and that in his opinioﬂ, it was useless to put
any .more money into digeing any deeper, She must have misunderstood. The hole was dry,
completely dry, and he had no hopes that he could ever reach water.

She asked him to return and continue digging, and that she would go back to her
room and @ray{ Hé accepted her advice, returned to the well, and as he was being lower-
ed into the well, heard a little sound that interested him, It almost sounded like a tiny
trickle of ﬁater, and when he stuck his pick into the side of the well, a~stream of water
gushed through the hoie and info the well,. He cailed for help, for the man at the top to
pull him out quickly, and this well continued to be a source of good water for many years

for the Pdaradise Valley Sanitarium,
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Chapter 12

Albert's Miracle

The years sped by. Alma finished the eighth grade and began working in homes to

help increase their income, Oscar found that even with his team and machinery, $3.00

" a day didn't take care of their growing needs. Joseph and Albert worked out for different

farmers after school anduon Sundays, and during the summers while Alma cut apricots, they
worked for paultry farmers and other kancﬁers, doing odd Jobs, living away from home
during the week and returning home for week-ends, |

Eventually, Alma found perﬁanent live-in work for the Marcus family in San Pasqual,
helping in the home with the house work and alsd caring for the’éhiidren.

Joseph and Albert also lived-in during the week, and one Frida& afternoon while
walking home, they got caught in a heavy rain storm. Arriving home, they were both soak-
ed to the skin, but the heating stove soon warmed them up, they dried their clothes, and
after they prcpared for the Sabbath, they felt more human again, |

The following day, Sabbath, after attending church serviceq in the morning, the boys

. walked back to the church in the afternoon for their young people's meeting. Oscar walked

with them, as it gave him a chance to talk with his older boys, nearing man-hood.

As they returned home, Albert got a sharp pain in his side, a pain so severe that

"he -could hardly continue walking. Even resting at home didn't ease the unbearable pain,

and when his paxent; finally decided they had better call a doctor, he diagnosed the problem
as pneumonia, | |

Albert was desperately 11l for well over two weeks, His fever raged out of control,
reaching 105, wheie it remained for almost two weeks, going up to 106 for a short pefiod of
time, .

ﬁe was delirious most of that time, having horrible nightmares. At times he became
§iolent, even viscious, tearing the bedclothes from the bed. At other times, although still
delirious, he quieted‘dowh but picked cherries from the bed, saw snakes going up the bea post

and stare down at him, He felt heipless, yet unable to de apything about ik,
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The very worst nightmare of all involved Aaron, the brother next to him, In his
delirium, it seemed that Aaron had had a terrible accident; although just what it had been
was unclear, and he stood at the side of Albert's bed with his head completely opened up

gnd his brains shwwing through the break in the skull, This nightmare returned to haunt hin

repeatedly, driving him even more out of his mind,

The doctor did all that he}could, but nothing. seemed to be of any value, At the
end of the second very bad w;ek;'he told the family that they needn't call him again.
"This will be my last visit, T won't come back. There is no need for me to come. There
is no more that I can do. His fever has been too high too long, and the human brain simply
can't stand that., Even if ﬁe recovers, which I doubt, you can't'expect his brain to ever
be the same again."

It was a very worrisome time for the entire family. Josie nursed him day and night,

but she refused to give up on him, Finally, after the doctor left saying that he wouldn't

_return, they decided to call the minister and ask for special prayer.

The minister arrived, and he iequested that the entireAfamily.join him in prayer, A4s
he prayed, he annointed Albert and claimed the promises of God, and asking that if it be
his wkll Albert be restored to his family and completely healed, |

As he completed his prayer, the fever broke,'Albert opened- his eyes, and recognized
thé entire family standing around his bed, including Aaron, Tﬁe awful nightmare still
haunted him, and he felt special pleasure in seeing Aaron standing beside him in good
health,

Once the fever broke, the family called'the<doctor again, At first he refuséd {o
see Alberf, insisting that it would oply cost theﬁ another house cali, which had neafly
broken them financially as it was, but when they perauaded him that Albertfs fever had
brokeﬁ, he seemed alert, and seemed to be thinking rationally, he returned and could hardly
believe his eyes.,

By the time the déctor arrive, Albert was ravenously hungry. It had been over two
weeks since he had even been conscious, but the doctor said, "Don't let him eat. Don't
feed him, it will ki1l him." | |

Poor Albert! But-the_doctor told Jbsié how to provide Jjust énoﬁgh to keep him going

until his stomach could do its Job again. A little apple, a 1little other fruit, like dried
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figs, ever so little at a time,
Albert could have eaten a cow, and small-pieces of fruit didn't in any way satisfy

his craving for food, but he was at the mercy of the doctor and his mother, so He chewed eacl

tiny piece of fruit thoroughly, savoring every drop of Juice,

His extreme weakness when he fe—gained consciousness surprized his family., Where
ﬁefore he had been_uncontrollably violent at times and needed restraining, now he was
as weék as a kitten, unable to even 1ift his hand from the bed,

| Tﬁe doctor assured that this was quite normal, and thai it would probably be a long

tiﬁe until he hkould be.stfong agaiﬁ. Both his lungs were completely filled with fluid,
with the exception of one small spot in opé lung, However, in time this cleared,. and
Albept Joined the family in giving praise to tbe Lord for miraculously returning to him
his life, wﬂich had.been Jjust hanging by a thin thread.

His lﬁngs were badly scarred, and the scarring remained to remind him of the miracul-

ous healing, “Surely," his parents said, "The Lord must have a mighty work for him to do."

*



Chapter 13 . &

. New Frontiers:

Joseph and Albert still attended the 1little church school winters., During the year
4that'both Joseph: and Albert took the ninth grade, Oscar and Josie did some serious re-
evaluating of their 01rcumstances. They wanted a good education for their children, yet
it appeared.that whlle ESCOHdldO had been the place for them to settle in, perhaps the
time had come to move ons

_They began hearing rumois of new land being opened up to settlers farther north in
California.. Severel members of the Escondido congregation became interested and éent_up
to investigate. They liked what they found. Raw land, mostly flat, with ebﬁndant wild
grasses-growing on it, Fertile soil, ample water for the ‘digging, and they wondered what
more a family could want, ’ _

The first town they heard of was Modesto,vbut when they looked into that, tﬁe land
was already much too high for them to thlnk of buylng. Someone read an advertizement
in a Los Anpeles paper about land being opened up in Madera’ County, and this 1nterested
them in going up to see for themselves if it were as good as the others reported.

While this was being done, excitement began building again around Escondido.. The
annual fair had become quite an event. Josie and Oscar didn't feel that much time needed
to be spent there but it was only about ¥ & mile from their place, and each year they
spent half a day looklng at the many things on display, and the.children looked forward
to their "day at the fair", '

While strolling aroupd the grounds, they learned that this year something new ﬁad
been added b0 increase the interest and attendance at the fair, The man in charge pro-
mised to give a washing machine to the family with the most children, Joéie didn't Dpay
much attention. Never before had she won anything, and eurely‘there were other families
with as many and perhaps even more children than they, o |

The next day the washer would be awarded, and as they walked to the various displays,

the man in charge saw them and made a point of. speaking with them about trying to win,
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It appeared to him that the interest was so low as to be almost non-existent, gnd he fear-
ed that no one would show up to claim the washer. "Won't you please dress your family up
and come over, just in case? You would like a new washing machine, wouldn't you?", he
asked, turning to Josie,
| She pondered that last, How would she know whether or not she would like a new wash-
ing machine? The only thing she knew was gscrubbing the laundry on a wash board, but she
heard herself agreeing to at least get‘the family there in time for the contest the next
afternoon, and the official left feeling much bettery At least one family would be there!l
Poor Almal! She waé no child, yet she happened_ﬁo be home, Joseph and Albert didn't
feel ﬁpch better about it, but obediently they dressed in their Sabbath best and walked the
short distance to the fair grounds, |

The boys had watched the horse race garlier that afternoon from the front porch.

bAdmittedly, it was frustrating when you could see everythlng but the finish line, but it

was better than not being able to watch at all,

They arrived just in time to hear the man telling about what a wonderful washing
machine it was, and ask who would be tﬁe iucky family., Who had the most children°

Dead silence fell over the group of people standlng around him, He waited, and
waited, and continued waiting, but there was not one family that showed up to run any kind
of competition, so hé announced that the prize went to the Larson family, with seven’
children, | |

Children! Alma wished a hole would open up and swallow her, and the older boys would

gladly have gone along with her, but when they saw the look of pleasure on Josie's face

.when she realWy saw the wonderful machine, they felt ashamed of their feelings and were

happy for her. Included Wwith the prize was a huge fruit cake, frosted prettily,

Advertized as fully automatic, when they,got the. yasher home they soon found out what
St fully” automated it. It had a handle, and someone had to push-pull the entire time it
took to dorthe washing, Albert fook his turn, then it went to Aaron; who in furn gave it
£Q Joéeph, who soon found other preséing things to do, and e?en the girlé took their turns
at working that washing machine, If they worked too slowly;'they'were late for school.

The washing machine :proved a real blessing for them, and had an added bonus--a wringer,

which worked with a hand crank, Sometimes one worked at it, sometimes two, but between
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them they got the 2aundry out each week with the new automatic .washihg mechine, won for..
belng the family w1th the most children in Escondido. |

"The fruit cake served as dessert in 1unch'palls for many weeks, weighlng around fifty
pounds, A feal treat, when it took everything Oscaricould make just to keep the barest
of necessities on the table, | |

Oscar's caftle herd now numbered four, so they had all the milk they could drink,
cottage cheese, and butter. In fact, Josie had long been making her good, sweet butter
and selling or trading it to a iocal merchant in town. The children were well-acquaint-
‘ed with the churn, also'"automatic", ohly instead of going back and forth, as with the
ﬁashing machine, it went up and down.

Several ladies in the community made butter, and each had her own distinctive mold,
Some WOullprefer one butter over another, and when customers asked for butter, they always
put a name in front of it, hoping that the kind they liked best would be available,

Partially due to this demand for her butter, Oscar had always had at least one cow,
and usuall¥ morey There was a little pasture for them at the back of the property, and
after they were milked, the cows were~returhedita their "pastire -while the milk was put
into tip pans for the cream to rise. |

These pans-were #aken'toithe?:Aetone-foundation tank hbﬁse, where the milk cooled.
After the cream rose to the top and the milk clabbered, Josie skimmed the cream from each
pan, pﬁtting it into the churn, Then the children went to work, -chutning the sburéd?cream.
into butter. |

When she had enough butter, she usually also had.a few extra eggs, and between the two
it ﬁelped in trading fof groceries and staples. at the iocal grogeiy.

Josie preferred the butter foxm with the prett&:design in it, but when ehe traded'
butter for supplies, she used the square one, more uniform in size, : Onex.form full ﬁeigh—.
_ ed exactly one pound, and soid as a full, square block.

Alma continued working out{ usually-making about $2.50 a week, and living in., Not
big money, but she was proud of her contribution to the famlly s 1im1ted income. ‘While
still in school she became acquainted with a boy a couple of years older than she by the

name of August Hemme, a good German boy., He saw in her the makings of a good, thrifty

wife, and decidedlto see more of her; if possible, When he heard of a possible move to
. q7 . .



Madera County, he also became interested, as he had no intentions oflletting Alma get
" that far away. He w;nted to keep in touch wifb her, for sure. |

.They saw each §ther socially occasionally, and while his motor cycle terrified her at
firsf, he even persuaded her té ride with hin a time.or two.

On advice of some who had gone up before, one of the Escondido members made a trip '

- up to the Great Valley, to the County of Madera, and liked the land so much that he bought
a parcel immediately. _

Letters reached his brother, who talked with Oscar and another member or two, and tﬁey
aeéided to make the trip themselves and see if it did hold promise for them.,

They weﬁt up by train, found the former member, who showed them around and introduced
them.to the land ééent. . He showed them around some more, trying to encourage them. He
explained about the beautiful road planned one day to be lined with palm tregs on eitﬁer
side and go for miles out throuéh rich farm lénds. With a bit of imagination they dould
see the finy palms, already planted, growing up a bit, but‘the beautiful raad took a bit
more imagination,.as it wasn't much more than a wagon trail at the time,

The agenf thought he would hear from them again in a.véry short time, but some time
passed as the men talked with their wives and families about this new place with the Indian
name of Chowchilla. Land was fértile,vbﬁt also the price w;s higher than they had.anti-
cipated. Moving a family of growing children'from a lovely home, from all'the fruit and
garden in their own yard, to a place where there was nbddhing bui prairie gfasses and no
homes took a lot of consideration. |

'When the agent didn't hear from them in some time,‘he made a trip to Escondidq, looked
the Larson place up, and made them a deal for trading their place in on one up nogth. He
offered them a good price'for their place, $4000, much more than the $1506 they paid for it,
and that looked tempting, on the surface, But the rest of'the deal looked a lot like a |
mightyAbig gamble, The condition of the sale depended upon their buying three or four times
the value, They would have no cash to get'a new'start, as the qash from their Kansés pro-
peﬁty had dwindled to almost nothing. | |

They '‘made it a subject of prayer, and the answer appeared clear wheﬁ'a friend from -
Kansas days approached them, saying, "Mx'family would like to go along with you to Madera

County. We have our placé for sale in Kansas, and when it sells, we'll pay you cash and
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buy one of your parcels if we can go up now and work on it, and begin proving 1.
They had been good friends in Kanaas, in fact, the little Seventh-day Adventist
Bhurch had met in their home, and Oscar had no reason for not trusting them cdmpletely,

so on the strength of this promise, they agreed to the agent's proposition, signed the pape:

and made plans for their second major move,

The first one took them toj;a land of plenty, and where this move would take then,
they didn't Know. They only knew that they needed more land for the boys to work, to make
more money to put their young people through school, and they felt that the Lord must be

legding them once again, as He had led them in the past, toward that goal,
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Chapter 14

'?fBbginning_Again

They handled things entirely differently this time when they made their move, They

sold ver& little, keeping all their fﬁrniture; farm machinery, and the 1ivestock. They -

* rented a box car and loaded everything into it, even a -wash tubful of plants that Josie

hoped would grow when they arrived. In fact, she took a sample of all différent kidds of
plapts and flowers out of their garden and stuck them into that wash tub.

Oscar told her of the growing condifions there, as he had lived there. several months
before they made the final move, attempting to get something fit for them to live in
temporarily, and starting a nice garden, including water melons. |

_ Josie had a few misgivings about roughing it again. Before she left the house for
the last time, she told the agent, "How I wish I could take the house with me!" to which
he replied; "Gb ahead.," .

That really hurt, because- he alréadyvhad plans'for tearing the house down, leveling
all the landg and starting a new develppment, When she heard that, Josie decided to take
along -the old zinc bath tub} and none of them ever regretted that decision,

"Oscar selected Joseph, :as:oldest ¢f .the boys, to ride ®ith the livestock and furnish-

ings in the nine-foot:box, or furniture car. First loaded on where the cattle and horses,

faithful andAdearly ioved Kate and Sue. Knowing that they would be making a move, Oscai
had purchased some half-grown calves, in addition to the cows they already owned,
TheSe_ﬁgre loaded into sort of stalls, so that Joseph could get to them and water and’
feed then, aS'ﬁell as milk the four cows each day. The other furnishings were loaded
later, making it difficult to get in and out,.
Above the cattle, they built a platform, or second floor. On this they put things
like barbea wire and oth?r smalier things. Everything they would néed, they.mustutake.
AOn iép of the entire load, clear up'just under the top of the gar, they fixed a place for
'J6seph to sleep., XZach night he'puShed hinself back into the narfow’pl;ce, with not even

enough room to turn over,

Anbther friend of the family, Mr, Millison, also moving up to Madera County, rode in
. A0
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the box car with Joseph, as they shafed the same car. It was farming all the way, with
the livestock to feed each day, as well as take care of their needs concerning water and

feéd; and milk the four cows. At seventeen, that was a lot of responSibility, but Joseph

was accustomed to hard work, as was the entire family.

As a prescautionary measure, fhey loaded on extra barrels of water, as well as more
than enough feed to make the trip.
'The rest of the family left earlier tha same day on a passenger train, leaving Joseph

completely on his own, so far as the Larson's worldly goods were goncerned, when they pulled

out of the station at Escondido aiounu 8100 am. The spur took them to Oceanside, and -

it seemed that they wasted a lot of time before finally getting on the main track and
starting north to San Bernardino, the first check-point.

.Darkneés enveioped the country-side when they arrived in San Bernardino, where they
weighed the box car and found that they were very much over-weight. That meant they would
have to'pay extra demurrage before they could unload, but they allowed them to continue
the trip., "If only they had known," Joseph thought, "So much of the stuff we have in here
1sn't worth mhat we will have to pay to unload it when we get there,”

After the indeterminable waiting time for weighing, ﬁhey folled the car out to the
cattle &ard. The passenger train had not made the lengthy stqlover, and between the time
it had gone ahead, and this freight train prepared to go over the pass, a flash flood had -

washed out the railroad tracks forabout 150 feet, and repairs must be made before they

~ecould make the trip over the Tehachapi Pass," .

The yard man went down the long line of cars, telling everyone that they must unload
ail livestock until they could get the train under—way again, Josepb»sald, "No, we can't v
unload, Come, and I'11 show you why." | |

He showed the man that their entire load would have to be taken out to get to the
cattle and horses, He also showed him the extra barrels of water and abundance of feed the)
had on board in case of an emergency, and this appéared to him as an emergency.

The man seemed quite impréssed with the fore-thought and agreed to allow them to
keép their livestock in the car while tﬁack repairs were made, ‘Th;ré Qeteﬁtimeé; howev;?,
thathoéeph-rather wished-that they could unloéd them, as the‘heat was most oppréssive.

He watched as the other cars unloaded their cargo of cattle and sheep. One car, in
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’ particular; interested him, as'it Wwas a two-decker and loaded on both decks with sheep,

The stock yard aftendants knew just how to get sheep unloaded, and set about persuad-
ing the sheep to leave the car., Sheep just don't move by themselves, They have to have
Something to follow, like dragging one of them out. Then the rest wbuld_follow. But that

is the difficult way to do it, and the stock yard had solved this by training two Nanny

‘goats, and training them well,

When they called, "Here, Nanny", one of the geats went running to the car, up the
rqmp, and Jumped across the backs of the crowded sheep to the back side of the car.

They called her again, and this time when she went to them, all the sheep followed her
out of the Box car and ‘down the ramp into the stock yard. After the first deck had been
bleared, they éént the second goat ﬁp thé ramp tq the deck above, and when they called her

@lown, all the sheep up there followed her, and in a very short time the car was completely

~emptied,

Two days had already gone by. dJoseph knaw thai.theipasSeﬁger car with the rest of
his family had crossed the Pass ahead of the flood and hoped they wouldn't worry too much
about him.

Early on the morning of the next day the train loaded again and pulled out of -the

' cattle yard st San Bernadino, and from there the trip took only a matter of hours, When

the train reached the Pass, the engineer wouldn't allow Joseph £o ride in the car with

the gtock as it was considered too dangerous; He didn't object, as the height that he rode
accented every little movement until it sometimes felt that the car would topple ovef.
After éaring for the livestock, he rode in the caboose,

To cross:fhe mountains, the train had one engine in front, another in the middle, and

" a third at the rear. There were eighty-five cars, and as they climbed the mountain-side

toward the top of the Pass, the tracks circled the side of the mountain., At one point,

looking out of the back of the caboose, it appeared that the Ilead engine of another train

was heading righf for them., At first he didn't realize that it was their train, on a &@if-

‘ferent level of tracks,

They reached Chowchilla about the middle of that day, & very hot day in mid-June,

and it was with eagerness and a little reservation that Joseph unloaded his - "trusty bi—

'CYCiLeand, following his father's instructions, started out the long, dusty ride to their
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“land just off the main road out of town, a road called Robertson Boulevard, Oscari.had

told Joseph that it was named after one of the men tﬁat sterted obening the ‘land develop-
meet'in that part of the country. D~ .

"Joseph noted the young palm trees along the Bouiévard, just as he had been told, and
could see that, although they were still young, 1t showed promiSS:of being a beautiful
drive some day in the future., Many things interested him as he rode along, One man was
operating a combine with thirty-two horses working at one time, The combine had an ex-
tension on it so that it cut twenty—51x feet at one swath. Never had he even thought of
anything so. wonderfull How he envied the man who sat there and said, "Gee", eori" Haw",
and the horses obeyed’ W1thout heSitatlon.

By mid-afternoon, it seemed that the heat became almost too much to bear. Surely he '
must be‘neafing the place to turn off the main road, but he could see nothing that looked
like‘thellandmarksfhis*fatherfhadttold him to look for. The roadway, prepared for paving,
made riaing’a +eal chore. Rocks covered the roadbed, many with sharp edges, forcing him
to. watch carefully as he rode along, sweltering in the afternoon heat. |

Finally_he came to a place where some men were working, They had a well there and
Were bu;lding a tankhouse out of conerete;‘He stopped and asked if he could have a drink
of water, and efter refreshing himseif, he asked if they kneﬁ anything about the Larson
group recently moved in. One of fhe men laughed and said, "Why, you're not even half-way"
yet!".

Certainly not the most encouraging words he had ever heard, but he mounted his bike
and continued riding out the apparently endless road. The hot wind burned his face, and

Soon-. .,his entire head and body felt the effects of the bakihg heat., He realized that
he must get out_to their claim; and let them know that the cattle had arrived; and_the'sun
dropped quickly, ever lower‘in. the west., - | | |
How the family rejoiced as Joseph wearily rode his bicyble up the dusty road that
egeniﬁg! But théir relief and joy was no greater than that of Joseph. Immédiately they
took t¥o teams and wagons and started back to the station. They made much better time
with the teams, and after the sun dropped below the horizon the temperature dr0pped somewha1
but 1t was late evening by the time they ree.ched the depot, paid the extra demurrage and

drove the horses and wagons as close to the train as possible, Everyone pitched in and
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helped with the unloading, so it took a short time to unidad the few things necessary
before‘they could get their own wagon out. They loaded the wagons, eventually getting to
Kate and Sue, and later to the cattle. While one one of the nen harnessed the horsés, the

others_unloaded the furnishings and tools, machinery, and other. ..supplies onto the farm

wagons. DNext came'hhe house hold furnishings, and when the:team pulled the last wagon

from the box Car,'they had.thre? wagons full of hogsehold and farm supplies. _

The live stock remained:jl:o.'drive down a ramp prepared for them. After being cooped up
in that box car fér so long, it took iittle urging to get theﬁ out. In fact, the liberty
they feit as they walked into the cool evening air and the smell of the breezes inspired
them to take off a bit faster than anticipated. |

Between the two hoPefui families,théy had fou¥ milk cows, three heifefs, and one
calf, The éVening;dusksstill lingered as they left town. The cattle started out fast
‘enough, but soon they tired, and as darkness dropped, they began straying from the road.
The men and boys found it difficult, trying to keep them together on the road, ;nd it‘nearf
éd 9300 pm when they finally"arrived at the placd they would call home for a while, at leas

By the time théy-éot the animals féd and watered, miiked the cows; and bedded them
down, it was well past their bed time, and all drépped into an exhausted sleep, Riding out
of town on a bicycle in the heat of the day, chasing cows and their young completed a very
wearing day for Joseph. How he wished he could have time to get a good look at the pro-

'pertj they must now develop into a farm and home, but that would wait until tomorrow, when

there would be much to dos.
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» Chapter 15

Bulding a New Life

Joseph found his family sharing a large, sduare tent with three other families. The

tent measured 15' X 15', with one pole holding up another, which 'in turh, held up the
sides and center of the tent,

All they had taken with them was their suitcases, expecting Joseph to arrive within
a day or so.with the rest of their belongings, so they had moved into this tent on a véry
temporary basis, and now that théir furnishings had arrived,:they moved them into a barn
Oscar had built before they moved up., He intended using it for a calf shed later, but
for the time, it served as their 14' X 36' home. He hadn't expected the'bath tub, but all
were pleased that it was numbered amoné their furnishihgs;‘and to one side they added a
lean-to, installed the zinc tub, and frequently used this after-thought conveulende.

While the family didn't maké the move until June of 19i4, Oscar had moved up in
Fébruary and spent most of his time on their new ranch, waiting for school to let out so
that the rest of the family céuld follow him. |

He divided his time between prepariﬁg his own land, leveling, a little planting, and.
working out for others to make enough éash to dig a well, He hired a Mr, Bennett to dig

this well that would be used for irrigation of the crops, and watched with interest as he

" set up his little derrick to haul out the dirt,

. However, he dug ﬁhe well by hand. The square shaft had a wench on it and a pipe on the
wench, so that two men could walk around and afoundvand around, They ﬁent down about thirty-
Pive feet, but it took only fif%een feet of drilling fo find water. He insis£ed dn'a sand
base, and Oscar agreed that it would meke a better well.

In addition to these simple tools, he had a simple pipe-cutter, and equipment to lower
the casing as the well became deéper, How ﬁhe Larson boys wished for this simple equipment
when they decided to save money and dig the well for domestic use thémseives! Their eqiip~
ment consisted of a post hole digger, but it did the job,'aided by a lot 5f hérd woxrk on
the part of the boys. . .. | ‘

At the time Oscar went to Chowchilla in Feﬁguary, several other families made the same
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decision, One man took his wife, and she cooked for everyone, but most of the families had
ghildren in school and waited for early sumper to make the final move,
'-chh of these men built a dwelling of a fashiéﬁ for their families, as well as drilled

wells and planted gardens, so'that, when their families Joined ihem, they would have fresh

produce,

They pumped all water *-r h&xni,even for their<gérdens. None of those who made the wmove
had enough money to build proper'houses, but each did the ‘best he could with what he had.

The Land Gompény sold 108,000 acres in this area within‘ a few months, adding more to
it later, They deliberately over-sold, fully expecting to ré—possess part of it when it
had been improved. While some may have lost their property in this way, the Larsons worked
hard as a family unit, and while the gcing was extremely rough for a couple of years, they
stuck it out and fooled the local agent.

One of the first things considered by the small group of Seventh-day Adventists that
went up in February was a place to worship. No church buildings had as yet been constructec
in the area, even in town, so they began meeting in the home of the Husted's, knowing that
%t mattered not to God whether the place be shanty or a cathedral, if they loved Him and
gave of their best efforts to Him, Husted's house had the largest living room, and they
felt the presence of the Lord as they w0rshippéd there from Sabbath to Sabbath,

Oscar had been elder in Escondido, and when they started the little company in Chow~
éhillé, they elected him elder there, so for a very brief time, he was technically an elder
in both the Escondido and Chowchilla places of worship., He became one of the charter mem-
bers of the Chowchilla Church, which officially o;ganized in April, and as soon as it was
organized, he requested that his membership 59 moved from Escondido fo Chowchilla,

.pand in the Chowchilla area appeared to be level until they tried ifr;gation. How-
ever, it was very fertile, and just before Oscar returned to Escondido to harvést crops
previoﬁsly planted there, he cut 20 acres of wild hay,.compbsed mainly of filaree and
clover; This made excellent supplemental feed for the cattle, when they arrived,

Oscar's return to Escondido shortly before school turned out for the.sumher marked the
énd of their present life-style and the beginning of another, One of the’biggéét reasons
for making the move vias to further educafional 6pportunities for fheir-children, They re~

alized that schooling would be even more limited in Chewghilla, but they planned on
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farming and making enough money to send them to boarding school as they reached that age.
And already Joseph and Albert should have gone.on to school but it soon became apparent
that no one would be able to.go away to school thab first year., Josephiand Albert didn't

mind at all. They enjoyed the hard work of the fgrm, and even Aaron, not yet finished with

-elementary school, decided not to return to school that first fall,

Their first Job was to ;ather in the wild hay Oscar had cut before returning to Escon-
dido, They were thrilled to”fina that it averaged 1% tons to the acre, Using it as a supp
lement for the cattle, they fed from that stack of hay for two years.,

Alma stayed home that June, too, helping out in the fleld when needed, pumping water
by hand, and helping her mother get the living quarters in order., In July she found work
in the home of the Thornton's, in the little town of Chowehilla, helping with house work - !
ahd éaring for their children while Mrs, Thornton helped her’husbahd- pdheratertheir 1ittle
store.

August Hemme renewed his efforts to win the love of this quiet young lady, and before
the summer was past, they announted plahs for their wedding; which they wanted on Thanks-
giving Day, November 26.

Josie and Oscar had mixed emotions about 1oéing their eldest daughter, bult while he
Wwas not Swedish, August was é hard-working young mén and a'finé Christian, and they com-
forted themselves in that thought,
| With the arrival of the "Adventist Movement", as some chose to call it, other proQ
blems arose, While the living room of the Husted home had served adequately before the
famljleo of the men arrwved, it ‘suddenly became most cramped, A board neeting was held
and plans began to get under-wgy for the building of ‘a suitable church for their needs.

- The Land Compaay was approached and generously agreed to donate one acre to them in
the heart of the community where most of them lived, to be used for the building of a
church. |

After plans were laid, they discussed the names of several for superv151ng the buildin
Bancroft seemed the logical man fox the job, He had brought his carpenter tools along, and
ﬁad a limited knowledge of the building trade. With much planning and'hard wgrk on his pa)
andithe capebie help of‘cther members as they wére able to get free from working on their

)
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ranches and farms, the church slowly began to take shape.
However, by September, when school was to.start, it had not yet reached completion,
510) échool started in the same living room that served as a churegh on Sabbath mornings.

Each child took melon crates,.orange boxes, or anything that could possibly be used as a

seat or table, and while 1t strrted in & very humble way, to them it was their school, and

they were proud of it, 3

The Husteds must have felt a sense of relief when the church was finally completed.

No longer did theyvhave to move boxes and crates to one side each Friday afternoon and in-
étall benches, which had tolbé moved to the side on Sunday té ma?e toom for the boxes and

crates for another week of school. Yet, they never complained, and their home was used in
a mighty way for the services of the Lord,

As soén as they could get free from their own farm, Oscar handled it alone and the
three oldest boys, Joseph, Albert, and Aaron found work on a demonstration farm, carried
on by the Land Company. They earned $1,00 a day each, and while it didn't count up for
very much very fast, they proudly carried their money ﬁoﬁe each pay day.

They proved to be good workers, honest, not shirking even the hardest, dirtiest tasks,
and soon their services were in demand among ofher fa?mers. Cne ‘-man, recently from Imperial
Valley, planted a large acreége to canteloupes.and needed lots of help at harvest time,

He gave each of the boys a burlap bag which they hung from their shoulders. A4s they
filled the bags, they emptied them into wagons that stood waiting., The hard work, and the
use of muscles unaccustomed to bending and carrying such loads, proved too much, and all
three of ﬁhem contracted pleurisy which incapaéitgted them for several weeks, While hhe
back-breaking work might not have been of their choice, they still missed being abléito
work.in the fields they already had come to love, '

Even as they worked out; they still helped with chores at home as much as they were
able, All irrigation water must be hand-pumped and hauled in barrels out to the garden and
newly—b&énted orchard, The cows must be milked eacﬁ morning and again in the evening.

‘Their days were long and tiring, Up by 4300 am, thev fed the.cattle; and started milk-
ing around 4130, After finishing the milking,they'Separéted.mhé cream,.afe théir well~
earned and'haarty preakfasts, and worked.in the fields all day, with time éut for a brief
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At L3130 each evening the entire process started again, and by the time they had
finished the evéﬁing chores and eaten a nourishing meal, they were tired enough to sleep
the sleep of the very weary. To be sure, they had no time or energy for getting into
mischief, although they spiced up some of their Jjobs with a bi% of tom~foolery.

However difficult the work.was, the boys enjoyed it. The entire move had been of
great interest to them, as none of them had ever worked in the fields to this degree.
They soon found that while the work was back—b#eaking at times, there were rewards that

more than compensated for their efforts. Like eating watermelons that Oscar had planted

in the early spring, before the family made the move,

"After getting in his few garden things, he planted about an acre of land to water-
melons, then took a train back to ESCOHdldO to harvest crops there, leaving things to

grow as best they could in Chowchilla,

The melons did exceptionally well, Water, at that time, was so near the surface

that the roots extended down to reach the moisture, and by the time the family made the

move in June, they found watermelons close to a foot long,.

Cscar and the family were elated! Such a wonderful crop, their only cash one, and
the very first year, at that. As the melons ripened, the family ate all they could; then
sold a few around but too many others had similar ideas, and they found that there was no
market near-by.

They couldn't let all those-luscious melons go to waate, and another neighbor or
two also had good crops, so they chartered a freight car and shipped out a load tc inl.

The train company finally told them that the market had dropped out of watermelons, and

iristead of making money on the deal, they ended up paying for the freight of taking them,

They bqys felt especlally badly about it, because they had made special trips to
Chowchilla, a?drive bfnan hour 6r more, and felt that they had & bit invested in thenm,
too. They remembered the year, not too long before, when their father had heard of an
abandoned watermelon field in Escondido,~had driven his team and wagon out to the field,
and when hé returned with his wagon loaded with good melons, had sold them as he drove
tﬁrough the streets of Escondido to the people hungry for mélons, before taking the rést
home for the family to enjoy. | o

But that was all behind them, and now they were faced with a good crop of melons and

Lo



™

no market for them at all.

Then they over-heard someone mention that a tribe of Indians came down to Mintern,
a place'they had heard of about two hours drive‘away, to pick wine grapes each summer,
The Suggestion, that of taking'a wagon:laad over to try to seli,_appealed to the boys,
and one.Sunday morning they loaded up the wagon bright and early in the morning, and start-
ed driving toward Mintern, 1

' As they neatred Minterr thgy noticed many vinéyards of wine grapes and remembered

hearing of a winery doing busihess there, But Mintern was.a 16hg ways from home, and they
had never been over that way.

Sunday was their day off from working out, and it also was®the day the Indians rested
from work in the vineyards. A&s they turned from the main road, they had decided to_sell

them for 10¢ a plece, and as they crossed the railroad tracks, they were startled when

. half a dozen or more young Indiens rode up on their horses, yelling, screaming, making

terrible noises that frightened the boys out of thelr wits, at first,
Joseph held the reigns tightly in his hands, and it took all his strength to hold
the terrified horses and keep them from bolting.
# After things had settled down a bit, the boys began saying, "Melons, 10¢ a plece”.
The Indians: all dismounted, leaving one man holding all tﬁe reigns, and looked the
melons over, Oscar told the boys to take only the vefy largest ;nd finest, and now they
were grateful for his good advice, The melons sold well, and when the Indians bought all
they wanted, Joseph drove the team on down toward the.Indian camp, where they met the
squaws and older men,

Again, the Indians surrounded the wagon, although more quietly.this time, talking

among themselves, and Albert did a good business selling the melons for 10¢ each, But with

Joseph holding the team, and Albert orly able to be in one place at a time, he noficed that
some of the Indians were taking melons from the back of the wagon and walking away with them.
There seemed nothing he could do about it, and shortly business slowed somewhat;

The afternoon was waning, and soon it would be time to milk.. They didn't want to

take any melons back home with them, so they decidedito lower the price to $1;OO,for a dozen,

'expecting the rest to sell quickly, but the Indians couidn't seem to understand that it was

a bargain, and while they continued buying slowly for 10¢ each, none of them would pay any- .
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more than that, so the boys stayed on until the last melon sold, then headed the team back

“toward home, conviced that they could make pretty good money each Sunday, if they continuéd

delivering melons to the little camp., In fact, when they counted their money, ‘they felt
they were rich, with several dollars in their pockets. That was big money. for those days., .

For several Sundays they céntinued taking the tasty melons to the Indian camp at
Mintern. On one of these trips Mable persuaded them to take her with them, and she saw for
herself what these interesting people were liké.

As she watched the back of the wagon for Albert, she noticed one older squaw eyeing
hef suspiciously. Mable became interested, and she watched as the squaw nervously.changed
positions, relocating he¥ bag of valuables, Finally.she decided that Mable had no inten-
tion of’looking away, so she carefully put her bag on the side away from Maﬁle, and dug
deeply into it until she pulled out an old stocking with her money in it, They she bought
her melon for 10¢. K A

| Oscar felt great pride in his boys so wiiling’té take their Sunday's off and drive
the two hours to Mintern to help make a little more money, but all the Larsons worked, and'
Oscar wbrked right along with thenm

Oscar began to have another interest that involved most of his spare time in ‘the
evénings. Trﬁe, ;s the eldexr of the little church, he prepared his Bible study for each
Sabbath morning, but he felt a real burden for those in the community that had no church

home, In his mind, a plan began to take shape, a plan to expand the services of the little

church he loved so dearly.
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Chapter 16

- Questionadle Guests

The more he thought of sc e of his neighbors, goéd people, but not having any church
to attend on Sunday, their ;iy'éf worship, the more he considered his plan, He couldn't
get their need out of his mind fﬁr some kind of religious serwiee in the community on Sun-
day for those who‘had no place to attend. Finally he abproached the church board with an
idea totally new to them, yet they endorsed it whole-héartedly. . He pwoposed holdiné Sunday
services in their church, using the same Sabbath School quarterly they studied from on
Sabbath, . _

With board approval, he started opening the little Seventh-day Adventist Church each

Sunday morning, and people bagan attending. When they left for their homes again, they had

- receieved a spiritual refreshing that carried them through-out the week ahead,

Oscar continued these meetings for gbout one year, faifhfully encouraging the people
to attend, until a community church was built at Befhel, a short distance away, and the .
need no longer existed,

One man who attended, did so only because of his wife; Hé ridicuied religion in any
form,:but continued attending with‘her. Oscar discovered that his Bunday School classes
were doing some good when the wife told him £hat one.time, as her husband reached for a '
pack of cigarettes, she said, "You don't really need theh, do you?"

"No, I guess I don't really NEED them," and he put the pack back on the sheIf and
stopped his smoking as of that day. ' |

‘One eveniﬁg as he was studying, getting his Bible study ready for the*follo?ing day,
Oscar heard a noise under the house. The cats were fighting with something, but he didn't
know what it could be., Just as he went out to investigage, he found out. The'cét pounced.

on a skunk, who retaliated by straying not only the cat, but the entire area under the

. floor. The odoxr penetrated up through the cracks '-in the floor, saturatiﬁg.everything

in the room.

Even opening all the windows didn't seem to help for a while, and sleep came very

slowly that night. By morning, most of the ?Efanding odor had evaporated or blown away,



’

but when Osgar went to get his leather-bound Bible, he found that the leather had absorbéd
the odor., It smellea so terrible that he couldn't take it to -church that Sabbath, borrow-
ing one of the children's Bibles, instead. ' ‘

‘This was their first introduction to their skunk friend, who undoubtedly thought that
mouse~-hunting under their home waé the best ever, | | |

When the church was finally finished, they invited the Conference President, Elder
N, P. Nielsen, to meet with them. He accepted and stayed in their home, which by now had
a@ditional rooms available, so fhgt they weren't as crowded,

Conference headquarters at that time were in Fresno. Even so, forty miles was a long
érive, but the Chowchilla congregation eaéerly looked forward to his visit.

On the Friday night that he stayed with the Larson family, he was rudely wakened by a
rattling around in.the small wardrobs, or closet, that Oscar had made for keeping.clothes.
While he was puzzling as to what it could be, Oscar also had heard it and quickly made his
ﬁay into the room, explaining that it was "only a skunk that comes up into that closet occa-
sionally., If you don't disturb-it, it won't bother you."'-

Oni& partially reassured, Elder Nielsen désperately hoped Oscar was right, énd lay ten-
sely in his bed, not wanting to disturb that "critter” in any ﬁay. Fortunately, aside
from a bit of édor that wafted in oﬁ-a way-waxrd breezé, the skunk went on its way, and
Elder Nielsen finally fell into a restless sleep, probably dreaming of skunks spraying him
and hié things, and wondering about what kind of family would take so kindly to having
skunks living under their floor and able to enter their closets,

, However, the warmth of the greetings of the smali congregation the following morning
quickly dispelled any d§ubts that he might have had abéut visiting this little pioneer
church, o ) h o |

Even before the church was completed, the Sabbath School Superintendent announced
plans for a Sgbbath School picnic and appointed a committee to look into a likely place
to hoid it,. So .fdr:the members took little time out for fun, so the entire congregation
en@ered into the plans energetically. The committee suggested é small place ca;led Min;‘
tern, several miles from ﬁhem, and this was ag?eed upoin, | | | | o

Transportation posed a problem for some of the members, Mintern was about two miles

out of Chowchilla, and some of them iived five. to seven miles out of Chowchilla the other
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way, so it meant a long drive by horse and buggy of wagon.

August Hemﬁe, vho had settled about three miles frbm the Larson family, iived near a

‘man who operated a camp and owned a string of mules, At the time of the picnic this neighbo

was leveling some land next to the Hemme place, seo August approached him and asked if he
could borrow a team of his rules for the picnié.
Permission was granted, and bright and early Sunday morning he arrived at the church

grounds with this team af mules and a wagon lérge enough to carry many ef the church members

~ Alma, his date for the day, looked Witk dismay when.shé saw the size ef the wagon and
tﬂe height ef the wide front seat, where she kno§ August expected her te sit, beside him
as he drove the team to.the picnic site,  Never could she climb that high! No amount of
ceaxiné en his part could change her mind, and in utter humiiiation she aliQWed hin te help

her inte the back with the rest ef the church members fer the trip te Mintern, about seven

miles avay.

| The ride may have embarrassed her, but thé day'wis a lbvei} one, long te be remember-
ed by all these attending, and set a precident unbpoken for many years; Chewchilla and
Sabﬁath School pilcnics became synonemous fer many years, with leng-time residents, having
moved away, returning year after year for the fellewship of these happy gatherings in the
hills, o

_The trip te Mintern took twe leng hours by horse er mule and wagen, but later, twe
heurs by aute took picnickers many miles up inte the hills, The distance changed, but the
fellewship tontinued., | | ' |

Soon after the church was finished, the scheel moved inte it during the week, With

 the sanme precesses continuing as had been dene in the Husted living reom, Benches used

" for Sabbath were pushed te ene side, bexes and crates installed, and scheol bsgan en Menday.

Friday'aftefnGOn; they reversed the pieceedure, replacing the boxes and crates with
benches., Hewever, it soon became obvieus that helding sthesl in the church was remeving
some of the sacrédness of the church fer the children, Many of these attending were not ef
-their_congiegation, but it was the enly scheol in the cemmuniiy at the time,

5 The nearest public scheel was in iown, and while a few eof the cemmunity children rede

a railread spur inte tewn each merning, and heme again in the lats afterheen, it selved a

let of preblems 1f the parents simply sent their children te the little one-room school
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near-by,

After a_business meeting ene evening, the members decided that it weuld be far better

if they censtructed sqhe kind ef a scheol fer the children, apart er at least in a éeparate

reom, frem the church,

Again, they cilled en Mr, Bancreft, whe planned a small lean-te shed en the west end

ef the church, and seen the children preudly met in theif own little scheol reem.

Beth the church and schggltlean—té were built ef beard and hhtten.. The church roef
was a thing ef censternatien te a few, Semetimes many hands make fer a mistake, and seme-
one shingled an area twice, making shinglés twe-deep, These whe knew ef it could always

spet it, but ne ene dared cemplain very leudly, as everyene had ﬁone his best,
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Chapter 17

Firel

As the small congregation grew, it appeared that enough seed had been sown to call
for a ministergtp‘ﬁold some meetings and reap some of the harvest ready in the commun-
1ty; Elder Richard Breitigam accepted the call, but a problem arose as to where he and
his new bride would be housed, o

Finally the JohnjBrown family volunteered to pick them up at the depot and agreed to
keep them until tbey could find something suitable,

.Their home was made of thin boards with geuze pasted on the wall and wall paper over
the gauze; Quite effective, and it looked very attractive, However, before winter soﬁe-
thing more must be done, as it was already beginning to feel quite chilly in the evenings,

After everyone had cleaned up for Sabbath and were seated in the 1iving room stuéying
?ha Bible and.visiting, Mrs. Brown decided that a little fire wouid take the chill out ef
the evening air,

She had cooked a bountious meal on the cook stove, which doubled as their heating
stove, She felt that surely the fire had gone out by now, so poured a little fuel oil in .
to make starting the fire easier, and thekstove exploded in her face,

Instantly the entire interion of the house was engulfed in flames, Everyone rushed
for the door, then realized that Mrs. Brown hadn't come out, so some went back in for her,

" After a very difficult time, they managed to get her out, but she was badly burned
about the face and hands, and in extreme pain, Elder Breitigam rushed in-to see if he’ could
salvage any of fheir things., All of their wedding gifts were in that house, as well as all
their clethes, and after fiantically searching and finding very little, he found his wife's
new wedding hat, put that on his head, grabbed a few ether things, and made his way ocut.

His wife worried the entire.time he was inside, for fear hé wouldn't be gble to get
ouf'again, and the humor of his appearing weaiing her hat was compieieiyelest oﬁ‘her. Al

they ewﬁed wés lest in a fire that lasted enly a few minutes, And all because they had

answered a call from the Lord Yet they still put their trust in Him, although it was a
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very trying énd expensive e€xperience for them.

Some of the Brown's children slept in a separate roon cutside the home, and it ﬁas
saved, so the family managed to find beds for the night, anﬁ the following morning John
Brown showed up in church dressed in a pair of clean blue overalls. The children fared
little better, although some of them were in Sabbath clothes, be;ause they were cleaned up
after the week's work, and they were ready to greet the Sabbath after their yeekly baths.

It was some time before Irsf Brovin could do veiy much, and she never healed well,

Her face and hands vere badly'écarred the rest of her life; a grim reminder of taking a
short-cut when building a fire,

The meetings that Elder Breitigam conducted were quite quccessful., The members took:

' turns keeping the Breitigams in their homes for the balance of the meetings, and it was a

time of spiritual growth for the small church, a time never forgotten by many, especially

the Breitigams. Who could forget a honeymoon that started like that?

Alma and August were married on Thanksgiving Day, as they had planned, How she longed
for the home they had left behind in Escondido! But looking back didn't help, and they -

were married, as she later put it, "In a barn"--the place her parents called home for four

long years.

Tﬁey drove to Madera after their wedding, and upon their return home, they lived in
a cabin on the place August was buylng. As soon as pbssiblé, th;y added.a tent-house and
contented themselves there,

August's one extravagance was the purchase of an iron bed stead before their marriage;

a8 fine one for his bride-to~be, one they used for many, many yearé and-is still in the fam-

- 1ly.

Vo)

Later they added a cart to theilr top buggy, twe neans of transportatioh, and éoon they
discovered tHat fhe wooden wheels must be soaked in water over-night before“they could ride
in it to church on Sabbath,

The i Hemme place boasted an artesian well which flowed the year round. Becausé of the
continuous.flow, a large pool, or'lake{ had formed about it. To keep down the mosquitoes,
they planted this pool with carp,

One day as they worked in the field, a terrible wind blew up. As thé& looked up from

their work, they saw the tent half of their tent-house blow away, and household effects
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literally scattered with the wind, ‘
. They hﬁrried home to recover what they could find, and among other things floating on
tbe'pool, they found Alma's wedding hat, stili afloat but dreadfully water-logged,

This teﬁt-house served as their sleeping quarters, and they were left out in the
weather with no roof over their heads,

Evening came, and they still pondered as to what they should do. Finally, they took
vhat bedding was still on thebed and moved it under the table, where they elept that night,
in the event that it should rain,

. That fall when the trees shed their leaves, many of them fell into the pool. They
felt badly when they discovered that the leaves obv*ously contained some kind of poison
that affected the carp, and they all floated to the top, quite dead,

Hhile Oscar and Josie realized that they were getting in over their depth in buying the
60 acre spread, they relied on friends, whose property was for sale in Kansas to pay fer one
of the twenties,. | '

They became concerned when they learned that the property had éold, but fhey wereﬁ't
approached about the purchase of the twenty acres for cash, as promised, As time passed,
it became anparent that the cash would not be forth-coming, and while Oscar intensely dis-
1iked the task, he finally talked with the family and asked them to move on,

God looked after them, and within a very short time the land agent showed up with a
couple, cash in hand, who desired that property, and they quiekly zlosed the deal. And so
it was that the John Fry family became their neighbors on}the north.

The seCOnd'spring, Oscar again planted an even larger plet to wetermelons, hoping fer
another good cash crop. ' The plants came up well and grew as before, but this‘year,seemed
to be a bumfer year for jack rabEits. | | i

Just before the melons were ready to pick, the rebbits seemed to beaf them te'the most
ef them, eating them in the field, or opening them so they would spoil, even before they
ripened,

. A friend suggested taking a hicef one, cutting it into many pieces, eating some of
the best part, yet leaving enough red to show, and lacing pieces~liberali§ with Sriychnfnea

Oscar decided to use this good idea, but he had no good melons, Finally, he went teo

' town and paid $1.50 for a really nice onme, and that evening, after eating the heart, he and
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the boys put the strychnine on each of the piedes cut, took them out to the melon patch,
and left them in different places around the field,
" The following morning when they checked the melon patch, they were astonished to find

how‘well the plan really worked, Dead rabbits littered the entire patch, Evérywhere they

_1ooked,.they found more dead rabbits,

Finally, they piled them a;; together and made a shock about three feet high and four
or five feet across, but not 1 s;ngle coyote nibblea their bait, They weren't as concern-
ed about the coyot@s anyway, éé they didn't do much eating, juéf slashed them and ruined
a few--not nearly the kind ef damage in one night with the rabbits,

Eagh night they put eut the poison, and each morning they found less and less of the

dead rabbits, until eventually they weren't bothered Qny more,

One morning as they picked up the dead rabbits, they noticed a skunk standing between

- a.couple of them, Not wanting any trouble with it, they decided to pick up the other

rabbitd first, hoping the skunk would move on its way.

When it didn't move on, Jeseph walked slowly toward it, fully gxpecting it te start

walking at any moment, but it just stood there without meving a hair, Bewildered, Jeseph

céntinued moving slowly, until he realized that the skunk was as dead as the rabbits, The
gtrychnine had killed him. se quickly that he didn't‘even fall doyﬁ. So it Jjoined the pile
with the dead, to be taken away and burried before the neighberhoed dogs er cats feund
any eof them, _

About a year after they settled in as a familyy they learned of lumber selling very

reasonably in San Francisco, lumber still left following the big 1906 earthqpake. They

. were able to get some ef this lumber and build a barn and another small building they: used

for living purposes,

Te'accommodate sleeping quarters for adl, they built a loft over-head ;nd this was
sleeping quarters for Mable and Maude, The girls enjoyed climbing the ladder to their
private. bedroom, which cpened to the living room on the front side, |

One night shortly after they started sleeping there, Maude got up in her sleep, walked

‘right to the edge of the loft, and ;Eopped with a thud at the foot of her parent's bed

beiew.

They picked up a very confused and frightened little girl and helped her back inte hexr -
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own bed in the loft above,‘and never again did she wander over the edge.

Oscar realized that Sabbath must mean rore to his children than restricted activities.

He and Josie encourazed their young people to invite their friends in on Sabbath afternoons,
and with Maude at the pump ergan, everyone stoad around it, looking over her shoulder as
they ail joined together singing hymns, with Maude leading them with her melodious voice.,
| Saturday evening, after a worship service led by Oscar, they eften had taffy pulls or
just played games, but whatever the activity, it included the entire family and as many of
their friends as they could get to their home.. o

- Alma and August proudly announced that they iould soon be parents, and their oldest.

daughter, Della, was the first baby in the Bhowchilla congregation,
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Chapter 18

Bgck te Schoel

Aaron, having completed tA? seventh grade before leaving Bscondido, decided that if
A Jeseph and Albert could stay ogt of scheol and werk, it must be the best thing fer him,
teo, and werked the first scheel year in Chowchilla. He felt fhat farming was the life
he had always wanted, and new that he experiénced it, he wanted nothing mere from life,
Miss Vielenty Rider, their teacher, felt that while farming ceuld pessibly be his
calling, he ewed it te himself at least te cempletghthe eighth grade, and he returned
o te scheel during his second winter in Chewchilla, altheugh a bit reluctantly.
| Jeseph had new been eut of scheel fer three years, and fa;ming net only satisfied
him, but it was intrumental in helping keep the four whe really chese t‘ further theii ‘
éducation in a church;sponsored Acadeny.
David had started.schoel the fall befere that. Semehew, learning came very hard fer
L him, pessibly as a result of Josie's illness befere his birth, He jeined the ether stu- -
dents in rejeicing when the small church schedl atAVinton.offepéd their desks te the
struggling scheel at Chewchilla, after the Winten Scheel decided they ceuld ne lenger
‘afferd te centinue. |
. The men teck Broﬁn’s team of herses, hitched them te a large wagen and started fer
o Winten well befere day-break. Traveling as rapidly as possible, they reached Winten,
leaded the desks ente the wagen and made the return trip, arriving back ip Chewchilla late
inte the night, |
These desks were deuble, seating twe students, ;nd were used that wa& fcr a year er
se, until the teacher felt that better quality ef scheel werk ceuld be perfermed if each
,r.' student had a desk ef his er her ewn, |
The church called a werk bee, By then ether families had come to Jjein them, and
‘between Bancreft and T, P, Hansen, each desk was éaﬁed in half. and fitte& With a wooden

end that extended te the fleer for greater stability. This was s sure sign ef progréss,

and everyene pitched in te help in any ﬁay they ceuld in bettering their little school,
81 ; _ ;
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After a few years, seme in the church decidedAthat the scheel would be mere centrally
lecated if it were moéved farther eut Rebertsen Beulevard, After lecating a site near the
Heﬁme place, they built a small schegl and teacherage on the preperty. Scheol epened
there ene fall, and centinued in that lecation for twe er three years, when it seemed mere
apprepriate te meve it back inte mere cemmodioue quarters built en the same preperty with
the church, where it has remained until this time,

The farm centinued te preduce under the capable enceuragement ef Oscar and the beys..
Joseph and Albert centinued working eut while the yeunger brethers and sisters were in
scheel, o

The day Oscar dreve heme in their first car, a medel "T", vintage 1917, created great

excitement in the Larsen heme, 4ll the beys wanted te learn te drive at the same time, and

while othere in the cemmunity already ewned similar vehicles; many still dreve their teams,
The Lareoh family felt a sense eof accemplishment and alse that the Lerd was caring fof
them and dlessing their efferts en the farm.

Abeut this time, twe rather impertant changes ¢ame inte the Lerson home; For soﬁe
time Albert had felt a.strong urge te centinue his educatien. Hethematics and figures
1ntrigged him and haeelwaye held his interest. He still enjoyed the farnm, but he reali-
ged that each passing yeei meant putting.eff getting'the busieess training that he really
vanted, '

He alse realized that he could new ge en te scheel witheut putting an impessible

‘financial burden .n‘the rest of the family, se he went te Jesie and epened his heart te

her, telling her of his desires,

" She immediately consulted Hith Oscar, and they put the wheels in motion fexr reliev-
ing him ef his duties en the farm. After receiving his acceptance fren Ledi, he started
the fellowing school year there, taking the subjects in business that weuld prepare him -
fer deing what he liked best of all, keeping beeks and business management.,

With Alma marrying some time before, she really left home first, Yet, living only a
short distance away, they re&lli felt more like having géined a son than lesing a daughter,
With Albexrt zoing to Lodi, the entire family felt the loss., New,.ae the? stood around the
organ end enjoyed their Ffiday evening or Sabbéth'afternoon.sings, Albert was ne longer
there, | |

82



Word came home by letter and other messages., All went well for him;'although he
missed honre and'famili. But = they were happy to know that he enjoyed the classes he was
takiﬁg and knew that eventually, if all went as flanned, more of their family would soon
5e leaving for Lodi, . '

In September of 1918, what they had hoped .would never happen finally did--a letter
from Uncle Sam, with the famous words, "I need you!"

It_was addressed to Joseph, and within a very short time they lost the second of
their boys. His leaving left an even more vacant place in both their home and their hearts,
as with.the . ig War", World War I, in full swing. no one knew when or even if they would
ever see him again. Tfﬁe. rumor had it that the war was about over, but this was their
son, a member of their own close-knit family going to war, and they missed him and prayed
constantly that the Lord would keep him safe and close to Him.

And so it was that Joseph joined the thousands of frightened and bewildered young
men'called into the service, While all hoped fhe ehd'of thHe war was near, no date could
be set, ‘

At his time of induction, they classified him, at his request; as a Conscience Object-,
or and sent him to Camﬁ Kearney, That titl@ only meant that he would not be required to
cﬁrry arms. “Get%ing Sabbath privilgges were up to him and his superior officer,

| 'ﬁe requested relief from Sabbath duties, and the response was far from re-assuring,
but ﬁis first Sabbath was several days away; and he took it to the Lord in prayer,

Basic training kebt him moré than busy for a few déys, with little time to get

acquainted with the other new inductees, At roll call on the morning of the third day,

 the top sergeant made a strange and frightening order. "4ll those who request relief from

" duties on Saturday, take’ two. paces forward!"

Joseph, feeling entirely alone and frightnned beyond words because he had no idea
what awalted him, swallowed very hard and without hesitation tock his two steps forward.
lookinr neither to the right nor to the left,

- Farther down the lifie another man stepped forward, Theynlater met and became friends.
Tﬁe& also discovered that there were several other Seventh-day Adventists in camp already,

meeting together on Sabbath,

-Wh;le the weeks were difficult, they really cherished those Sabbath mornings when
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they could study God's Word together,
- Week-days were spent in marching and drillé, which'Joseph enjoyed. His sympathy went
out to the few who couldn't keep in step,

Pay didn't amount to much, 1 $30,00 a month to him, but the army fed and clothed

‘him, so most of it he sent home to add to the $65.00 they received from the army.

November 11, 1918, Armistice Day; created excitement all over the world., Only two
months in the army, Joseph didn't know what it would mean for him, but to thousands it
neant returning home and trying to pick up their lives once more,

Vith no more need to semd soldiers over-seas, most of the army posts Jjust spent time
waiting to muster out their men, ,Dedember came, and still no discharge papers. The flu,
putting a few into the hospital, escalated into a full-scale epidemic, and one morning

Jgseph wakened to all the classic symptoms, Much worse than he could have anticipated, he

| somehow managed to reach thehinfirmiiy' where they confirmed his own diaghosis and put him

to bed,

The military claims no recérd for speed, and shortly after they found a bed for hiﬁ.
he lost consciousness and knew no more, | |

He uakeped some days later, aching all over, and one of the first faces he saw was
that of his father as he walked through the door and into the. ward., ‘

"While his mind was clear, his strength was totally gone. As he and Oscar viéitéd
briefly, he learned that the army had given.up on him, moved him into the death ward, and
wired the—fémily of his condition, - Vv |

Oscar and-he thanked the Lord for His protection and miraculous return ffom near death,

_When his fgvér dropped, the hospital moved him back to the:regulir~ward, where he regain-

ei his health-énq strength. His double pneumonia responded to treatment, and he did not
become a statistic--150 deaths each night for some weeks.,

The army lost so many men to illness and death that winter that almost bcfore he was
well enough they had him on his feet, serving trays to others in worse condltion than he,
all of them in the contagion ward. In his weakened conditl?n, it was another miracle that
he_d;dn't succumb tos4further 1llness., -

The army assigned all the Sabbath-keepers and non-combatants to this demeani ng chore,,
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The label given to this group, "The Development Battalion", applied not only to noncom-

 batants, including Seventh~day Adventists and Mennonites, but also second-class soldiers

and military nis-fits, They shared the same reét room facilities with men suffering from
syphiiis and gonorrhea, Needless to say, Joseph was much reliévgd when the military trans-
ferred Him to the Qnarﬁermaatér Corp, where he issued uniforms, shoes, and other necessary
items to the men still in the StéViCG-

Then the good news filteﬁedfthrough the grapevine. Soon they, too, would he muster-
ed out, and while the actua} fime in the army had been briéf, e%ery man in the Develop-
ment Battalion eagerly waited for the day they would be pivilians againe

Excitement ran high the morning they were alerted and told to pack their gear for what
they hoped would be the last time; Still mid—winter,.they still wore théir winter qniforms,

and fortunately; for them. They found the Presidio in San Francisco even colder than Fort

: K¢arney, in San Diego, Added to the low temperatures, the moisture aided in fhe penet-=

ration of the colid.

They stood in line for several days, walting for their names to be oalied, wearing thei:
heaviest cvercoats, so heavy that by evening their shoulders ached.

By the time they called Joseph's name and processed his nustering-out papers, it was
January 29, 1019, After the long walt, it was almost anticlimatié.

Joséph caught the first bus for home, a more matﬁre young ﬁén, and eager to get back
to the- farm and farm work he had missed while serving his country. He made one stop-over,
and spent a night at Lodi, where he visited with his.ﬁrother;'Albert;: HE ST

It was about this time that they were able to save enough to build their first real
home since they had arrived four years earlier, It was a fine house,. to them, boauting
a large kitchen, a screened-in pantry, a dining room, and a parlor.A The two large bed-
rooms had a real bathroom between them, for easy access from either.

Built-in closets in the bedroonms, a built-in China closet in the dining Toon=-4a home
Josie had dreamed aboul ever since leaving her fine home in Escondido,

But Josie had other dreams and hopes, and she felt the time had come to begin making

plans to take a journey, a long Jjourney, ancd she began to .make definite nlans.

85



w5

.Chapter 19

Dream Come True

With Joseph home to operate the farm, another of Josie's dreams could come true,
Life; while fulfilling, had been lonely at times, How she missed her family, and Oscar
also would like to have seen members of his family. Time had passed, fifteen years, in
faet, since they had 1ef£ Kansas,.an& much, much more since they had seen some of thei;
family,

‘Their children, now young people, encouraged them tc make plans while they could be
free, and iﬁ the sﬁmmer of 1919 they made their trip all the way to Chicago, stopping in
Iowa and Kansas for visits along the way. Emma still lived near Chicago, and Josie hadn't
seen her since her first arrival in Amerlca, almost thirty years before,

Between the boys at home from school and the girls to keep house and help with thé
chores, time passed very quickly for them, and ‘Oscar and Josie relaxed on the train that
sped them farther and ever farther away from their beloved family.

While metting re-acquainted was most enjoyable, and visiting with friends and relatives
of long ago a real pleasure, tﬁe time came to board the train that would take theﬁ back
home again.

Josie wrote almost every day she was away, telling of all the things that happened
to them, wondeiful9 exciting things, but almost always she would end the letter by mention-
iﬂg'that day§ wersa fine; although hotter than they were accustomed to, but if'only they
could be home to sleep at night, their trip would Beijust pexrfectl

They were éccusﬁomed to the evenings turning cooler in Chowchilla, and found the
constant heat and humidity fatiguing, They slept nights under a sheet, sometimes wetting
it and wringing it out, hoping to get some cooling effect from the moist sheet ovexr them,
At times it helped, at othexr times it only served to increase ﬁheir discomfortn

They were welcomed royally upon their return and found that the farm had fareﬁ quite

well during their absence. In addition to keeping up with the housevwork, they found the

girls busy sewing and making plans for attending Lodi thet fall,
. 8 :



With the immediate work caught up on fhe farm, the boys continued the routine chores
ahd worked out to make money for school. This summer was & big one, Of course, Albert had
already been at Lodi one year, but with Aaron staying out one year, and Mable and Maude
in fhe same grade, all had decided to go to Lodi the coming féll, so in addition to their

other chores, all were making plaﬁs fer the coming school year. Albert's stories of Lodi

‘hnd sparked their interest, anc they could hardly wait for the announcement of the date the;

4
were to leave for school,

Transportatidn posed saﬁéwhat of a problem with the four 6f them, and when they re-
turned from their trip, Oscar decided to buy a later model "T" and let the young people
drive the élder one,.

And so they became a two-car family! Unheard cf, perhaps, but both cars were put to
good use, and when the school term began, the trusty old model "T" transported all four
of the young people, plus their suitcases and boxes the long drive of ninety miles, to the
bearding school. - : .

Because of the distance, even though they had the car,‘they didn't make the trip verj
aften, and their all leaving at the same time left a real void 1n the Larson home.,

Perhaps David felt the loss more keenly than the others., Joseph was still home, but
he worked long, hard hours, and while David's hernia problem by ﬁow seemed cured, and while
he ‘could pitch hay with the best of the men, evenings became very lonely for him.

To Albert, returning to Lodi was lkke returning to his second home. By the end of the
first year, the school recognized that this young man knew about books, was consciencious;
and when he returned that fall, they offered him the job of keeping their bobks. This he
gladly accepted, enjoying the vork, gaining valuable experience, and.eérning his own wWay.

With the younger three, work was hard to come by, and they needed to Qork as much as
time.permitted. Aaron, well-used to farm work, soon.found that wilh the giaps harvest
in full swing, there were plenty of jobs Jjust walting.. He worked after school and on
Sundays plcking grapes, making not only his entire way but was alse able to hélp out some
with his sister's expenses.

Having four in boarding school in Lodi caused-cbnsiderable;expense;Y:Of courée; in
6omparison to these times, the amount per student would souné minimal.  But in comparison

to the percentage of income, there were very little difference, Albdert keeping books help-
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ed a great deal, and daron found that he could'make good money in the grapes. With what
Oécar'and Jésie could supplement from the farm, they complgtcd.the school year out of debt,

. Af the end of the school year, all four piled.their things and themselves back inte
the Ford andAlike a hoﬁing pigeon, it headed toward Chowchillé,,and home .

They all worked hard again that summer. Albert had only one more year to go and was

assured of a good job again the following school year, but he pitched in and aid his share

of the work to make it possiwle for 21l four of them to return to the school they had all
come tollove. B |

Summer appeared a bit dull, after being in boarding school where something is going
on most of the time, but ihéy were all so happy to be home that this summer passed very
quickly, and almost before they knew it, and éertainiy before they were ready for it, they
re-loadad the old medel "T" and returned to Lodi, where Albert began keeping their books,
and Agron returned to the grape vineyards,

The girls also found work, and once again, they were all busy and deep into their'
school work. This particular year‘Mable took some classes in hydrotherapy. Girls were
encouraged to take these classes, as rumor had it that there was an epidemic of influenza
in some parts of the country and it could spread nation-wide,

She became very adept at this, enjoyed it, and the teache?s.enjoyed watching her as
she eagerly learned all that she could.

Aaron became involved with some exgra-curricular activities this year, also, .:some tha
kept him quite. busy on Sabbath afternoons and sometimes ran into Sundays. He, Francls |
Millard, and Paul Stuyvésant started a sort of branch Sgbbath School., After a Sabbath or
two, when the faithful old Ford took them to their destinations, they decided that if they
could find some gifls to go with them and tell stories to the childreh,they could be more
effeéfive with the adults, seo they asked Mable if shé would like to accomﬁany them,

She enjoyed children, felt that she could use the . fresh country air, and quickly
agreed, .Sometimes the group included other girls, and sometimes new young meﬁ went along
to gain inspiration and assist.

This became an every-Sabbath afternoon affair} with five or six youné people‘loading

into the car, driving up into the mountains where éeveral families walted foxr them in a

private honme,
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- While the girls told stories to the children and taught them songs about Jesus, the
young men gave Bible studies and even preached. The people enjoyed it, and the study
continued for an hour and sometimes even more,

These meetings were voiced around among the people living ‘in that remete mountain com-

munity, and they received invitations te spend the night and hold further services on Sun-

day, sometimes even two servicqs in the homes of two different people.

Rumors of a flu epidemi; became fact, Lodi had its share of cases, but these young
people had their ﬁearts up in Valley Springs, where medical help was almost impossible te
get, and where the mouhtain people were much too poor to afferd it, even if it were avail-
able to thenm,

So while Mable took care of some patients in the Lodi area, when they made one of thei
Sabbath trips up to Valley Springs and found one of the older ladies very ill, she had the
fellows put on a wash boiler to heat water, and she began giving fomentations every three

tr four hours all day long, and when her condition was not improved, she continued through

out the long night,

They called a doctor, who approved of what she was doing but felt fhat she should have
§elief, as it had been a couple of days already. When he arrived with a replacement foi
her, the woman, although very weak, refused to let the new girl near hexr, insisting that
Mable remain,

Finally, the family placed a mattress on the floor for her, and between fomeﬁtations.
she lay on the mattress for some much needed sleep, asking to wakened so that th¢ fomenta-
tions could continue regularly,. .

Although she did all humanly possible, the pétient passed away, so they let Mable slee
And sleep she did! Right through all the commotion fpllowing her patient'§ death, includ-
ing thé undertaker coming,

- After the undertaker declared her legally dead, Mable felt that she had somehow failed
the family. When the doctor heard of her feelings of guilt, he nade a point of telling her
that she had done all humanly possible, Her lungs had cleared up, butl her systen was so
weakened that she was urable to live, even though thg primary cause ﬁad.béen‘taken care of,

The lady's husband. took Mable back to the dorm. She was roohing ﬁith.Maude, and she

dropped inte her bed in total and utter exhaustion, Maude worried when she sgemed unable
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"to waken hére

Finally she went to the dining ryoom and iook a tray to the room,,roused.Mab}e enough
te eat a little, and she drovnned back into a deep sleep. This continued for over a week,
and when she finally got over her complete exhaustion, she found that she had missed almost
two entire weeks of school, With Maude taking trays to her, she finally regained her
strength and resumed her regular routine,

Leter she learned that while’ she ‘was sleeping off her fatigue, Aaron and the group
who had been going up and studying with this family drove back to the home, and while seme
of them prepared the lady for burial, they went out on the back side of the farm, dug her
grave, and these school boys held in informal funeral for her there, making & vivid impres-
sion on the minds of the remaining members of the family.

While this wasn't the only time that Mable assisted families in this manner, staying
for several days in their homes, this ﬁas the most imﬁreséive one, the one where she felt
she had given her all, and yet lost. )

. Following the flu epidemic; the dean of girls suggestéd that Mable consider becoming
a.nurse. Why'not? She enjoyed the things she had already iearned to do, and the idea had
crossed her nind, also. All it needed was a little encouragement, and she made her decisior
to become a nurse and save as many lives as she possibly could.

Christmas that year they all returned home for a much-needed vacatlon. And a mem-
orable one it was., Alma and August's oldest, Della, was old enough to understand about
Christmas, and. Oscar and Josie had decided for the first time to have a Christmas tree in
their home,

Gifts were exchanged by all, but Della spent many hours working on small pia cﬁshions;
using her mother's hair as filiers. These items were cherished by those who received them,

There were giftss of love, the real spirit of Christmas,
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Chapter 20:

Two More Weddings

At the end of‘that school year, in 1921, Albert graduated from Lodi with honors,
ready for greater ﬁhings. A.d éreater things followed shortly. St, Helena Sanitarium
and Hospital invited him to work in their book keeping department. While he could have
made much more money in some other place of business, one of the things Oscar had taught
his young people was the reéson for higher education} Working fbr the Lord was to be the
ultimate goal for each of hié children, Without hesitation, Albert accepted the invitat-
fon to work at St. Helena, and he made the move soon after his graduation from Lodi.

Aaron, Mable, and Maude drove the model “T" home for that summer, where each worked

as best they could to put away some cash for the following, and last, school year at Lodi.,

Bach had enjoyed their Junior year, and by now, Aaron's eyes had been opened to some of

the possibilities of further education.

While that summer may have seemed far from exciting after another busy year at schbolp
Albert found that working for a lower salary had its own rewards, In fact, his summer was
an&thing but boring!

The office staff had several picnics during the weeks shortly after he arrived toé
work at the San, and among those attending was a'young lady by the name of Lois Rice, of
course, the last name was most familiar to him. Her father was the hospltal administrator
at that iime. _ | | . :

_After they met at the first picnic, he fbund hiwsélf thinking about this young lady,
and wﬂen he learned that another picnic would soon be held, he made plans'to attend
that one, also.

‘After getting better acquainted withALois on the second picnic, they found a great
deal in common and frequently met, Jjust te enjoy each other's company. Lois worked at the
gwitch board at the time, and he worked in the office, S0 they~had many dbpbrtuhities to

visit a bit while passing in the halls, eté.

In one of his letters home he mentioned that Elder Loughborough, now retired, lived
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up there and they renewed their brief acquaintance, He wrote of how privileged he felt as
he watched this.godly man at his typewriter in his room, still doing what he could for
the Lord. i

Another letter told uf his promotion, to that of secretary of the corpﬁration and
chief accountant. Oscar and Josie were proud of their boy, working for the Lord, and so
privileged to be able to get better acquainted with Elder Loughborough.

Letters continued arriving at home, and they begap seeing a name unfamiliar to them,
While he didn't say a great deal, the name of Lois entered more and more frequently in
his letters when telling of places he had gone and things he had done,

At the end of another busy summer for the youné people at home, the car, a year older
now, ;ﬁd well-loaded, valiantly made its way back to Lodi, with Aaron at the wheel, and
Mable and Maude as passengers, eager to begin their final year.,

Again, each found work and entered into the school activities, The witnessing team
oncé again drove the car to the mountains and had Braﬁch Sdbbaiﬁ Schools with the dear
people there, and school was well under-way when they heard that Albert and Lois planned
to be married before the New Year, |

When the news reached Oscar and Josie, they had mixed emotiongs., Certainly Albert
wés o;d enou;h, ;nd Lois sounded like a nice girl, but it meant.an even more final separ-
ation, However, they lost no time on regrets, and the entire family began making plans to
attend that wedding.

St, Helena was almost 200 miles from Chowchilla, and over 100 miles from Lodi, but
as many mémber§ of the family as were able made the trip to witness the wedding eof Albert
and Lois, the second wedding in the family. |

It was a simple, but lovely wedding held in the home of Lois's parents, and life took
on a nevw sense of méaning when Albert had someone to share it with.

He learned at his wedding that Joseph, aleo, was courting a young lady by the name of
Dorothy Allen, whom he had met at church one Sabbath when she visited with her sister,
Abigail Cobk. Josie invited the Cooks to dinner, as they livéd many miles from the church
aﬁd were good friends of the family. Joseph gave their meeting very little thought for

about six months, when he decided that he would like to know more about her, and wrote

to hér at her home in Templeton.,



Latér, Jos;ph told Albert of Dorothy's'warm reéponse, and of a trip he had made to
Templeton, ind that he hoped that he could persﬁade her to marry‘him in the near future,

Albert re joiced for this older brothcr who 'worked so hard on the farm at home, still
helping some of the younger ones with their school bills and hoped that Joseph could find
the kind of happiness with Dorothy that he had found with Lois,

After he settled down to working after his ﬁedding, Albert began taking some night
classeés to improve his education and shortly had a second promotion, to that of assistant
administrator. As his letters home reflected his happiness in his marriage,and his joy-
in serving the Lord, his parents re301ced for him and felt more than ever that no sacri-
fice was too great to see their other young: people through school,

When the time came to elect officers for the graduation class at Lodi; Aaron was
elected class president, and on graduation day the Larson.family proudly witnessed a first
for Lodi--three members of the same family graduating together. |

. Josevh and Dorothj, novw engaged and about to be married, attended the graduation

and n*esented each of the three graduates with a leathtr-bound Christ in Song,,with’ each

name lettered on the front in gold, as a present from their parents and themselves, These
hymnals meant a great deal to the students who had worked so hard yet knew that their
parents had vorked even harder to help them reach this mile-stone in their lives,

Aaron, Mable, and Maude rushed home in time to attend the wedding of Joseph an& Doroth&,

in the home of her sister, in the near-by community of Fairmead, on May 30, 1922, where she

,had made her home following the loss of her mother,

Before tﬁe wcdding Joseph had a bit of a dilema. Before he and borothy had agreed
upon a date for the wedding, he had begun building a home on acreage he was buying from his
parents. The building went slowcr than expected, and the wedding date was almost upon them,
' He and Dorothy went to talk with Josie, wonderlnﬂ what they should do. They didn't
want to put the wddding off, yet they had no place to live, Josie had some pretty definite
ideas on the subject, She had the room and knew that she could offer them a place to stay,

but in her years she had seen too hany unhappy homes when this continued for sone time, so

_ she suepested that they could live with Oscar and her until their‘hohe wés'complefed. How-

ever, "No roof is beig enouzh for two wives under it at the sane time," They agreed, and
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this arrangement took care of their temporary problem,

' After the weddiﬁg, Joseph and Dorothy prepared to leave for their honeymoon in Yos-
emité. Everyone wished them well as they drove away, ~ Albert and Lois, having been
married only six months, took a delayed honeymoon at the same time, and they enjoyed a
double honeymoon in the beautiful valley of Yosemite,

| 'The model "T", still vintage 1919, made the trip in fine fashion, Parking the car,
they * rented a mule and hiked out toward Glacier Point, letting the mule carry their
supplies,

That early in the season, there was still much snow en the ground, but*after they
had hiked a couple of miles, they found a hillside with no snow, built a- campfire and
spent the n;ght there, dressed in all their clothes to keep warm, .

After that little Jaunt, they decided not to rough it quite so much and spent the
rest of the time in a house-keeping tent down in the valley,

After the honeymoon, £hey returned back to the farm,.and found much to be done, - .
Joseph helped Dorothy move her limited belongings into the family home, Albert and Lois
returned to St, Helena, where he picked up his job where he left off, and everyone returned

to the normal routine of every-day living,
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Chapter 21

College Shenanigans

While the~ newly-weds were away on their honey moons, Aaren, Mable, and Maude return-
-ed to Lodi, packed all their things and drove up to St. Helgna. Here, they all found work

for the summer, and when fall.came, Aaron and Maude made the #rip on up the hill to Pacific

Union College, while Mable stayed on at the San and started her nurses training.

daron and Maude both enrolled as fifst-year students, with Aaron taking the ministry
and Maude taking a course in secretarial work.

David had finished school in Chowchilla, too, and decided that if the rest of the
family was at Pacific Union Cellege, he would prefer trylng te finish his Academy work
there, His difficulty in learning had continued, and if anything, increased, and he found
the work to be beyond what he could handle, so left before the year was out, going to the
Bay area in search of work and to try to find out what he really wanted out ef life,

A&ron ?poroﬁghly enjoyed cellege life and threw himself into all activittes with
g zest for life acquired on thé farm. The young men in the dorm admired his courage when
he discovered that tﬁe big vines that grew behind the dorm were strong enough to bear his
weight, | |

Crossing the ravine, he grasped a vine, swung out over the depths and across to the

other side, where he dropped safely to the ground. Soon others tried it, and the school

) fathers had te put a hasty stop to this most attractive activify--attractive to the young

men,
In fact, at times the college fathers hardly knew what to do with this ebviously
dedicated young ministerial student who was so irrepressible, While they put a stop to

some of his monkey acts, He seemed to come up with oethers as bad or worse to take the

'place-of the ones already banned,

While Maude started her course in secretarial, her heart was still in Lodi, where

she had met a certain Jake Eberhardt., She realized her parents feelings about cetting

~

95



an education and put-hard and diligent work into her courses. ietters éassed between
P,'U, C, and Lodi at an ever increas%ng rate, and at the end of her first year,. she
;raduated from the one-year secretarial course taught then,

Central California Conference.knew of her good work and accomplishments and offered
her work in their office, which was 5ti1l lOC&téd in Fresno. 'The pull was strong, but
the pull from Lodi even stronger, and Maude married Jake Eberhardt in the family home,
with Elder Elmef Farnsworth officiating, the following September 12th, 1923

They made their home in the mountains of the Kelseywille-Placerville area, and while
she didn't use her secretarial talents in the erganized work of the Lord, she helped out
with local church functioens and enjoyed serv*ng the Lord in her own way.

‘Aaron returned to school the following fall, Oscar still operated the farm, putting
long hours into its operation. With all of the family on their own, Jﬁsie spent 1onz4
hours working in the yard keeping the weeds.out ef the garden and engoying the time sPen£
grewing vegetables and lovely flouers.

Joseph and Dorothy were grateful for a pleasant roof over their heads but were certain-
ly thankful when their own home was completed and they could move intc it a few months
after their marriage. . ,.He eperated his own farm wifh a few déiry cows, ‘a few acres of
apricots; and some grapes,

When Azron returned to college that fall, he soon started some of his old tricks again,
He tried his best to persuade the faculty that if they would only allow him to attach a .
cable well @p the éide of the hill and fix a basket to a rope -that ﬁent over a pulley at
the top, it would make an excellent and innacent sport for the students. Whilé their
reasoning escaped him, they denied his request and wondered jiyst how this fun-loving mini-
ster-to-be would ever develop into a dignified gentlemen.

His work at the college that final year was stoking the boilers for the laundry,
and seeing that they kept going.- He also kept the boilers going at another location,

The: furnished heat for the buiidings during the week, However, on Sundays, he some times
found some leisure moments, and then he would climb thb'stairs,te-the 1auﬁdry to see how’
things_were progressing in that department, |

As he became better acquainted with the }aundry and personel, he frequented a certain
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mangle, stoppingto help the young lady operating it shake out the sheets for mangling,

He learned her ﬁame was Lela Wood, but di@n't give his name, so she asked around and
learned the name of the big blond Swede. In her noteboock she wrote "Aron Larceh;.

.As his interest increased about her, so also dié hers concerning him, and she found
herself picking out his shirts. Aside from these few 1nciaents, they watched each other
from afar,

Both attended Missionary bands each Friday night. Each band chose a different country,
and somehow they both chose China.,. One unforgettable evening he even walked her home,
something unforgiveable in those days, -

Picnics they saw one another, and whén schoa@l closed for the summey, he aéked if he
could write to her, Her response didn't raise his hopes very much, as she answered, "I
guess you can," ‘

His first letter almost beat her honme, bﬁt she kept it almost two weeks before answer-
ing it, His was much more prompt in response, and again,'she waited about two weeks be-
fore answering him, ‘ .

His third letter asked if he could go to her home to visit over the 4th of July,
and there was no time for her to wait two weeks, If .she wanted him to come, she must
respond immediately, and her weiéomé'uas nost hearty.v

W_hen his friends asked him where he was going for vacation, he responded, "Oh, I'm
going to the coast to see the Woods," |

After this visit, letters were more frequent, and when he visited in her home a
second time, they became engaged.

By this time he was employed with the Centrallcalifornia Conference as Colpﬁefter
Leader. They set a date for their wedding, and on his third visit to the~"ﬁoods" they
were married bn her parent's home on March 4, 1925, a memorable éay--the same day Presié
dent Coolege took his seat in the White House,

Mable continued her trainipg in nursing at the 8an and had one more pear to finish,
Aéron made & trip up to the San to pick up'Mable; so that she éould attend the_wedding.
He drove a pickup because lela had a piano that she wanted movea to their'iittle'home in
Oaklapd after the wedding, | ‘

They also picked up David, from his place in the Bay area, and drove on to Ai‘moyo
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Grande, to the "Woods on the coast", for a simple but lovely wedding,

Aaron and Lela made their home in Oakland for six months, where he enjoyed his work,
Bu£ they both wanted something more,-and at thé end of those six months, they feéeived a
call from the General Conference to go into mission éervice, not in China, as they had
hoped, but to the Inter-American ﬁivision, with the first appointment in Panama, where
Aaron continued his colporter leadership,

'Lela worked as secretary for the President of the Panama Conference, so kept busy,
but Aaron's days at home were mést linited. Most of the time he spent out in the field,
riding on the back of an ox, delivering books to the people hungry for the gospel,
| Even when he returned home for a few.days, he spent most of his time making out his
reports in the office, catching up on back work, and then he would load up either the ox
or an ox cait drawﬁ by an ox, and leave again with some colporter., He would be aéay.from
home and the office for from one.to six weeks at a time. |

05 one of her lonlier days, lLela figured up the days he was home that first year and
came to a grand total of about six weeks, Quite a life fér a bride of less than a year,
alone in a foreign country,

Electric storms were frequent, and Lela had never been through anything like one of
those tropical‘storms in her 1ife€, Iihey so terrifiedvher that, because she had heard
that i1f a person is on feathers the electricity wouldn't hurt then, she'put two pillows
togethér in the middle of the bed and just huddled there until the storm passed,

Mission 1life in those days meant really roughing it, and they did their share, but
ngither complained, as they had willingly given their lives to do as the Lord led thenm,

and even in adversity they could see the Lord's hand guiding them along the way, |
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Chapter 22

Tragic Accident

Mable graduabed from nurse's training at the end of that school year, Her dean of
girls prediction came tmue--she was a natural at nursing, and while she enjoyed her train-
1hg, she enjoyed nursing even mere when she finished school and moved to Saerwunento,.
where she worked forba short time before returning to Chowchilla. Once bome again, she
worked for a local doctor.

While working for this doctor in Chowchilla, Mable lived at home. She enjoyed her '
work, worked fairly regular hours, and felt that she was making her contritution to the
world,

Joseph and Dorothy 1ived on the farm next to the home spread, Alma and Augzust not boo
far away, and she enjoyed being near the family again. Alma and August now had three girls,
adding Leeta and Thelma to Della, and Mable enjoyed spending time with the little girls,
She also could get her hands into a bit of farm work again, gardening, which she really
enjoyed, and life looked good to her, '

Haude wrote that they had a 1ittle girl, Ivanette , and ishe and Jake visited oecaeion-
ally. But life in the mountains proved to be a difficult one for them, and while she ... " .
wouldn't have changed it for anything,adjustments had to be made,so while the miles that
separated them didn't seem very great distance can only be measured by length between
visits, and it appeared much greater than it actually measured by miles, - .

Oscar enjo&ed having Joseph as close by as he lived, and they worked together a great
deal, doing field work. Oscar also had a few acres of vineyard, and in the fall had it
planted to a cover:erop of barley.

In the spring he pastured the cattle on the barley before the new 1eaves began to grow
on the grape vines, After the cattle finished the barley, it was March and tlme to get
into the vineyard to begin working it for the next season, ,Earlier in the winter they had

pruned and tied the vines up,
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To be able to get the equipment into the vineyard, they must first take up the
fence put there to contain the cattle, Oscar gnd Joseph had taken the wire down and
rolled it up in several rolls, and then they‘pulléd the fence posts and put them in a
pile to be picked up later with the wagon.

They hitched fhe horses to the wagon and went into the vineyard to pick uﬁ the rolls

< of wire and fence posts, Neithgr of them thought to take gloves, and the barbed wire dug

~ palnfully into their hands,

Time ran short, but they didn’'t want to stop until they had everything cleaned up,
so they drove the team and wagon into the yard about 20 minutes late for starting evening
chores., 0Calling "Whao" to fhe beam, they stopped ﬁeside the plgee they planneé to unload
the wire and posts,

Joseph said, "Papa, if you want to throw off those posts, I'll run to the shop and
get a pair of gloves so that I can better handle the wire,"

Even as he spoke, he started off on a run. The team was skittish, and he had to be
careful not to frighten them, as he started for the shop about one hundred feet away.

Just before he reached the shop he heard a strange sound, and turning, discovered that
gis father had fallen from the wagon and lay in a very precarious position,

He knew instictivel& that éémething very”‘terrible had happened to his father, or he
would have moved or stood to his feef, so he turned back toward the wagon. 4gain, he must
be especially careful not to frighten the horses, becausg Oscar lay right in front of one
of the wheels., '

He reached his side aﬂd tried to straighten him out, but as he did 50, pe heard.a
strange néise, a terrible noise, and one that he néverfforgot the rest of his life, His
father began to turn black almost immediatlely, He tried to say, "Cold water,"

Jbseph tried to get him to breathe',vbut he knew when he straightened him out that
his neck had broken. As he worked with him, his color seemed some better. He couldn't
call for help, as the entire family had gone to visit some neighbors,

After what seemed like an eternity, 5 neiﬂhbor, Mr. Forgey, dfove in with his buggy,
and Joseph asked him to go to Bancrofts and ask Mr. Bancroft to drive to town for the
doctor, and this he did as speedily as his horses would take him.

¥hen dssie,, Dorothy, and Mable returned home, Joseph was still working over his fathar,
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desperately trying to get some sigzn from him that he still 11 ved., Mable took over im-
mediately, and aé she worked over her father, renembered seeing Mrs, Bancroft, in the Ban-
croft's 1914 model "T", pas them on the way to town, driving lickety-split. " She remember-
ed wondering why she could be in such a hurry, never dreaming that she would find out all too
soon, .

Mable knew immediately that there was no hope, yet she also, worked on desperately,

hoping that some kind of miracle could be worked and their father would be restored to thenm,

. How could the Loxrd allow him to go now? Her father, head elder, first in Oberlin, Kansas,

again in Escondido, and pow for twelve long hears in Chowchilla, her father, somehow the
symbol of everything zood and solid to the family. |

Ye;, in spite of her prayers, and the prayers of the others gathered around watching
helplessly, she found no response in this man she loved so dearly, and when the doctor
arrived, he immediately pronounced him dead and helped them move him into the house,

VOf course, all the routine things had to be doneg.énd in dﬁ; time the coroner-.arrived,
After he and Mr, Powell examined the body, they called Jeseph aside and asked if a verdict
of Brokén neck would satisfy the family, Remembering the sickening sound when he moved his
father, Joseph quickly agreed to their decision.

' Woxrd went ou£ to each of thé family members, Albert, Lois,'and their twe children,
June and Gerald, were close enough to return home for the services. David, of course, canme,
ahd Josevh and Dorothy, as well as Alma and August and their girls, who lived near by,

Mable was a comforf to her mother, still living with her at the time, but Maude's

doctor refused her permission to make the trip, as she was about to give birth to her sec-

'ond child, and Aaron and Lela could only weep together when they heard the news many weeks

;fter the funeral,

After the sefvides; the preéiding minister, Elder Shaw, and the one in charge of the
Chowchilla church at the time, told Joseph, "Now that your father is gone, you will have to
take over being elder in his place,."

In_spifc of his feelings of {nadaquacy, . Joseoh shouldered this responsibility and’
coﬁtinued as either head elder ox one of the assoclate ;elders for a period of fifty years,

making Elder Shaw's suggestion a reality,

Iive for Josie changed completely, as life does in this kind of situation, David

s . <
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lived at home with her now, and Mable, also, for a time, Yet, she leaned ever more heavily
on Jpseph, and he accepted more and more of the responsibility of operating the ranch.

She continued working in her yard, raising éasty and nourishing gardens, and beaﬁtiful
flowers._ Yes, life went on, as it always does, but it could never again be the same for
her,

Mable found ﬁetter employmep? in Merced, about seventeen miles to the north, and de-
cided take the Jjob, which meay§ that she would need to move‘to'ﬂerced. This work, in a
hospital, she found.more challenging, and she enjoyed her work there.

¥hile working in Meréed, she met a young man that decided that he wanted her for his
wife, As they became acquainted, she discovered that he had a few habit& that she could
never approve of, and when she realized that he was s;riously interested in her, she let him

know from the beginning that while he might be a friend, she could never marry him as long

"as he chose not to drop his bad habits and become a Seventh-day Adventist, This he ponder-

ed for a while, but finally decided if that was what made her such a sweet, lovely lady,

maybe he had just better look into it for himself., Chester Lee Webb knew what he wanted, and

.one at a time, Mable could see changes coming into his life that encouraged her,

-
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Chapter 23
Life Goes On

When Aaron received the news of ﬁis father's death, there was no way that he could go
to his mother's side., The second year he and Lela were in Panama he was elected Secre-
fér&-Treasurer of the Panama Conference, This gave him more time at home, but even so,
he put in long, long hdﬁre, often returning to the office after his evening meal to clear
off hi's desk féf the following day.

A few months aftef he settled into his new job, their first child, Marvin, ‘was born,i
about a year after Maude and Jake had Merlin, Josie was beginning to count her grand-
children, and the number was increasing.almost monthly it seemsa, for 8 while, because
Joseph and Dorotﬁy had announceq the birth of tﬁeir first, Gail, just thirty minutes before
the year 1926 said gbod-bye.

After Norman was born to Aaron and lela in 1928, they were sent home on a furlough.
Feelings wére_miked for them, Happiness at being home again, ye£ mingled.uith sadness,
because they had not yet accustomed themselves to seéing Josie without Oscar at her side.

| .'Uhile they were on furlough, the Larsons had a family reunion, and what fond mehor—
ies they shared over more of the good Chowchilla watermelons, sweet corn, and other garden
goodieé.

By this time, Lee Webb had tenounced his old 1ife, had béen buried in baptism, and

" he and Mable had married. They continued living in Merced, but they were able to see

" Josie and the rest of the family occasionally.

Albert and Lois continued with their activities in St. Helena, where he was now the

assistant hosp1£a1 administrator and dearly loved by all who knew him, not only for his

‘business abilities, but his caring for others and their needs, yet his sense of humor

alﬁays so near the surface, Josie took pride in showing them her garden and sharing

"4ts bounties . with them.

~ They, in turn, told her of their work up at the Sgn, and she always asked about dear

ting,

0lé& Elder Loughborough, Ever since she had heard him speak at the Los Angeles Campnee
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Lince fheir firs£ meeting, he had held a soft spot in her heart,

One story that gfeatly interested her concgrned him and his interest in trees and
landécapin;. On one of his trips to Australia, he spottéd some eucalyptus trees that he
fhoughi would look well on the Sanitarium property. When he.returned to the San, he took
some small specimens of these trees and planted them on the campus, tenderly caring for
them until they began to take hold and grew inte splendid specimens, A

After several years of good growth, the San needed to expand their facilities. Some
of these trees needed removiqg in order to make roon f&r the new buildings,

Elder Loughborough went out on the 2nd floor balcony and watched the operatibn with
quite a little interesé} and a great deal of regret, Tears rolled down his weather-beat-
en cheeks as he watched his beloved~treés come tqppling down, trees that had taken years
to reach their stature, killed in a moment. .

Lois joined Albert in reminiscing, as she remembered ﬁaiting on Elder Loughborouzgh's
table in the dining room at the San., For a yeér or more, he always sat at her table, and
she knew without asking yjust what his evening meal wouid be, because he always ordered
grape Jjmice egg noz,

As he became more feeble, more and more frequently someone would have to take-a tray
up to his room, until he was unable to leave his room even occasionally fer meals, "A
r}ghtéous man in Israel, that is for certain, " Josie thought,'as she heard stories ef
this'pioneer of the message, especially in the interpretation of Daniel and the book of
Revelation,

Ail good things come to an end, and when Aaron, Leia, and their small boys returned

after their furlough, they were went to Spanish Honduras, where Aaron served as the Presi-

...dent of the Spgnish Honduras Mission, and also as secretary-treasurer. The work.load was

sometimes over-whelming, but he courageously spent long hours, taking care of all the
administrative details.,

Lela contr&cted typheid fever while there and dropped 1h weight from 140 pounds to

.90.4in about six weeks., The Division advised them to return to the States so that she could

géf better food and build herself back up before returning to Mission service. Honduras
was in suéh a state of turmoil and wevolution, with the men out fighting instead of Erov-

ing crops, that food became very scarce,
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In addition to her physical condition, sometimes the battle would be raging close to the
capitol, where she And the boys were, and Aaron would be separated from them on the other
'side of the battle., There was no wdy they could keep in touch., When the bafti; drew too
close for comfort, Lela and the boys would find refﬁge in the church down in the baptistry,
which wax below floor level, to escapz flying bullets, With the two boys, 53 and 4, hexr
hands were fﬁll enough wihtout either the fever or constant worry of battle,

| They had lived there only a short time, so they had few friends. One day Aaron heard
of a threatened seige, Questiéning the source, he ﬁas told that probably that night it wor
become a reality and it could be months before iny more food could be brought into the cit;
| He hurried home, quickly greeted Lela,ind the boys, and rushed down the trail to the
clesest market place. Yes, they -still had some food, and he bought two 100 pound bags of

rice, found a carrier, who had two men help 1ift the sacks of rice to a carrier on his

: head.

The& stumbled up the trail together, Aaron leading tﬁe'way for this he#vy—lhden carrier,
teld him to just dump the bags on the floor, and they boéﬁ-hurried back into the village,

The carrier was most tired, yet agreed to étay with Aaron and carry any other items he
could purcha&e. But when he went to the market place, the rice was all sold out,

In a corner‘of the warehousé,‘Aa;on spotted some éacks of corn, He knew it to be a poor
variety, but it would provide food, if things became as bad as predicted, so he asked about
the corn and was told that he could buy some of that.,

Again, he pald for two 100 pound sacks, again the tired carrier was loaded with both
sacks, and agéin they stumbled up the trail, about B/h of a mile, to the house. The carrie
agfeed to make one moré trip with him to the village, énd again they started out on a run,
knowing that tbeir time was running out. N |

Back at the market place, he found that all the shelves were bare, every sack of corn
had sold, that there was nothins left to buy, so he thanked the carrier, paid him well, and
walkea the trail home, wondering how the Lord would provide for them in the coming weeks or
?grhaps months ahead, — _ _

Their home was on the’same lot as the church, and it had an éight-foéi'high ‘two feet
thick ddobe wall around the entire property. Aa;én soon found how the Lord would provide

for them. -
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The fifist evening of the seige a man called at the gate of the compound., When Aaron
responded, he saW a man leading a goat that he wished to 'sell, 4aron first told him that
they didn't have any use for a goat and no feed to keep it, but the man persistcd,.and
Aaron felt that perhaps he should buy this goat. The price was high--$5.00, but he paid
the man, who went.happily on his way.

The followinz morning when Aaron went ;ut to loock &t his goat, he found not only one
goat, but alse two kids she,h;d given birth to during the night. Now they could have milk

The big problem ®f how to feed her was solved when Aaron cut a hole in the &dobe wall Just

'large enough to push her through, after restraining the kids.

She foraged all day long, eating what grass and weeds, and uhen she returned in the
evening, he helped her back through the hole, where he let the kids nurse, then milked
the balaﬁce for his own boys.

For sixty-two days this seige continued, and somehow the Lord stretched out the rice

and:corn, supplemented by the milk, and aside from lela's poor health making no improve-

ment, the family survived.
W¥hen the kids were old enough, they were sold, and then Aaron's famidy used 2ll the mil
enough for cereal in the momning for all, and extra for the boys for other meals, as well,
After the seige endéd, Aaron and Lela agreed with the Mission that-the only way for Lel

te regain her health was to take the recommendations of the Mission doctor and return te

- the States, - iz

During the ten months that they were getting their " R and R", the States went inte
depression. Instead of sending them back, the denomination was having tovpring workers
home dué to insufficient funds to keep them in their fields of labor,

¥When no call came for them, they went badk on a self-supporting basis: They spoke
Spanish fluently by now, and working among the Spanish-speaking people was in their blood.
For a year and a half they served the Lord, earning their own way and doing whatever they
could to further his work.,

During this time they received word that David had married Opél Rice, the daughter of

" one of the Chowchilla Church familtes. They rejoiced when théy read this letfer, telling

about the 1little wedding, and that Davié was making plans to seftle down in Cheowchilla,

He had become a bit of a wanderer, working from one job to another. Now it hardly seemed
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pessible that the youngest brother had decided to settle down on twenty acres in the

Chowchilla area and try farming on his own,
Josie _ : .
Meanwhile, learned that Albert had been advanced to administrator of.St. felena

Sanitarium. This was a real honor, although certainly not undeserved, He had put in 14%
years of faithful service for the San, and his 1} years as administrator went quickly and
successfully. In fact, St. Helena San was home to them, and it was with certain mis-glv-
1ng§ that they reéeived a'call from the administration at Paradise Valley Sanitarium.

They weighed everything in the balances. St, Helena was on a sound financial basis,
Paradise Valley needed an administrator who could make a valiant effort to get it on its
feet financially, and after prayerfully considerlng the request, they agreed to make the
move.

One tﬁing that bothered them waé a promise they had made to Alma and August. They
had managed to get Della through the Academy, but when it came to college, they didn't
see how they could afford it, with the other two girls in Church School, too. .

It had all seemed to simple at the time. Why not have Della live in with them at the
San? She could vrobably even find work there, and they knew they could find a ride up
the hill to Pacific Union College for her each day, as many lived at ihe San and attended
the collesge. 5 g |

When Alma and August arrived at their home with Della and all her belongings; the move
was still so new that they hadn't had time to let them know. They were,away from home when
the Hemme's arrivgd, and wﬁen they drove in, Lo?s felt so badly that she jﬁst sat in the . |
car and cried; partly for them, and partly because it had been a difficult decision to
nake, |

However, Albert and Lois were able to make thélinitial arrangenents, Della entered
P, U, G, and wés able to remain in school there,

As they usually managed to do, Albert and Lois made a stop in Chowchilla on their way
through, 'to their new post of duty, which was much farther south in California than the San
was to the north. As many of tﬁe family as could gatheréd again, and much fun and éood
fQIIOWShipping followed. In fact, Albert had never forgotten how nuch ﬁe loved'farminé
and wanted to expose Geréld fo it as f;equéntiy as possiblg,'taking him to the field when
he went with Joseph, and introducing-him to the kind of life he had once lived and still
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They found that Paradisé Valley Sanitarium needed some changes made, and as judic-
iously as, possibly, Albert proceeded to accomplish these goals. Eventaully the amount in

the red diminished, a building program got under-way, was paid for, and at the end of ten

years, when Albert received yet another call, he rejoiced to see everything in the black,

They added yet another member to their family while in:Paradise Valley. In 1941 they
learned of a baby that needed mothering, and Lois missed having a tiny baby iﬁ the home,

so the adopted Arlys, and the entire family took her into their hearts, loving her from

_the start,

Each time they fetufned to'Chowchilla,'they found ‘more and more changeS“hadébeen'made.
Josevh :and Dorothy had six’ children by now, Alnma. had a fourth, a boy, Earl, arid Mable and -
Lee- had a girl and three boys. The times that Maude and Jake were able to Join the family,
they took their seven, and Josie almost lost count, as children seemed to be everywhere at
once, |

On one of tbeir infrequent visits, Maude.had her youngest boy in the house with her.
He became so restless that she .suzgested that he go oﬁtside to play. He agreed, went out
the front door and they heard no more from him for some tine., He finally walked in the
back door and announced, "I can't find out doors!"

He was’ looPing for the mountains that their family loved so much; with tall pine and
fir trees, and gurgling streams, None of those things were in this yard, so he didn t
asseciate it with his kind of outdoors, .

Mable and Lee had moved to a farm in the Chowchilla area, where they both worked to
make the soil produce., Their four children early learned the value of hard labor, too, and
their farm.fleurished.

David and &pal had one daughter, Louise, and after finding that farming was not what
he excelled in doing, David had moved his 1ittle family up to Gridley,

When Josie counted her grandchildren, she often wished that Oscar could have enjoyed

them, too. As she counted them, she thought, "How blessed I am! 27 grandchildren born to

my seven children, Two of thenm working for the denomination for the Lord, and others

ﬁorkiﬁg for Him each in his or her oﬁn way in their home church, How very blessed I am!"
And she would thank the Lord for'a family such as hers, :
: Albert was still eager for Gerald to zet his hands into the soil, and on one visit he
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found Joseph harrowing ®¥ith a team of hors;s. AlSert felt certain that surely Gerald could
do that, 'Joseph hardly knew what to say., He knew that Gerald ﬁad never handled horses be-
fdre, but after Gerald watched for a while, heé said, "I can dé that all right.”-

. Josevh agreed to let him try it, and went on the first round with him. Gerald .seemed
to know what to do, and Joseph feit that perhaps he would be able to handle them alone, so
he let Gerald take the team alone on the next found. |

"~ Albert stood with Joseph and visited as they watched Gerald guide the horses to the
far end of the field, then started turning them around. From that moment on, it was total

disaster, He pulled theém in tdo'close, they turned into the harrow, and turned the harrow

up-side-down on top of themselves, Quite naturally, they ran away. Gerald couldn.t begin

to-keép up with them, although he made aﬁ effort to do so.

. They were so frightened that they ran until they got to a fenced-in corner and didn't
see any way out, so they just stopped_and waited for Josgph to come after them, Poof
Gerald--vhile they didn't scold, his twelve-year-old dignity was badly injured, H' T osensd
-« The” horses were none therﬂorse forttheir.ordeél;'BVen though one ﬁas a young oné

Joseph was just breaking in, teaming it with its mother.
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_ Chapter 24
Tragedy Strikes Again

One and one-half years after Aarén and Léla'had returned to Central America on a
self-supporting basis, Aaron was called té Coiumﬁia;-iﬁ South America,'again as president
éﬁd'secretary-treasurer for the Conference headquarters, at Barranquilla.

Again they found food to be scarce and poor. Thdy raised some papayas and ate tice
and béans, Thé‘weather did very little to 1ift their spirits, either, as the humidity
gave them the feeling of being suffocated. |

From Columbia, they were moved to Caracas, Venezuela, Here the fruit and vegetable

market offered a much greater variety. Also, this was a muych larger conference, so they

- . asked Aaron to be secretary-treasurer only. This was still more than a fulltime job, but

he handled it in his usual capable way,

Josie still lived in the family home. % / was a lonely life, but still there were
aspeats of it that she loved, The home was less than one mile f?om her cﬁurch, and each
Sabbafh morning her solitary figure could be seen making its determined way to the church
for.ﬁorning services, And never was she latel ' .

Sometimes she would walk home, and sometimes if the heat was too much for her, "she
acceptéd.a ride., ‘Buty while she never learned to drive, she always preferred her indep-
endence whenééer possible.

She knew that David and Opal had been having problems, but it came as a terrible shock
to her when éhe-héard of theié'Separatioﬁ;' And hardly had she become accustomed to this,
when she learned of his sudden and tragic death, - David, her youngest, and the one for whom

her heart had gbne out so often in prayer, was gone forever, and it was a very difficult

thing for her to accept,

After discussing arrangements with Joseph August, and Lee, she agreed for the three

‘of them to go to Gridley and bring his body back for burial in the iamily plot, with his

father.

Another terrible shock for Aaron and Lela, because again it was weeks before they



heard of thls second death in the family, Mail didn't go very quickly in those days.,
.After hls death, Josie came to the decision that she had better sell the farm.
Joséph had expressed interest in buying it when she was ready to sell, and théy came to
termé, reserving a small lot for her to build a home and live as long as she chose,
She built a tiny home, large enough for herself to be comfortable, but not extra-

vagant. A small kitchen, living room, and bedroom, with a tiny bath was adequate for her

needsgyand when she moved into it, she felt at. peace with the world,

The question arwse about renting the original home. They couldn't consider Just any-
one off the street, About that time-a new pastor moved to Chowchilla and needed a place to
ren£,l§o_Joseph-offered to let him xzent the family home, and all were delighted, It had
room for a small garden, was close to both the church and scheool, and seemed all they could

desire, and for many years the old Larson family home became known as the church parson—

ge.

&t

After Jbsie-had lived in her small home for some time; she walked to church one Sab-
bath morning, as usual, and sat in her regular place, beside Mable and Lee., Everything
appeared to be as usuad, until she felt rather dizzy and excused herself, saying to Mable
as she left "I feel sick and am going out.,"

She had no way of knowing that anything was seriously wrong, but it was totally un-
like anything she haé ever done in all her yearsof church attendance, and Mabie felt
apprehensive and shortly followed her out. |

When there seemed to be no improvement, Mable and Lee took her home, but the dizzi-

-ness persisted, Whem, they ‘consulted a doctor, he diagnosed her problem as having a clot

in the brain and it made everything look up-side-down to her, He felt that if she stayed -

quietly in bed for a while, she would recover, but somehow, that recovery came very slowly.
In fact, Joseph, Mable, and Alma were afraid for her to live alone, and Maude's oldest,
Ivanette; needed a place to stay to attend the 10th grage,

When they found that she would be villing to live in and keep an eye on her grandmothez

'as Well as attend the 10-grade school, it appeured to be the perfect solution, and Josie

-agreed that Ivanette move in with her and keep in eye on things,'helping her as needed,

and attend the Junior Academy near by,

By the end of that school year, still there was very little change, and Mable and-.
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Lee talked with the rest of the family, who agreed that if she could be persuaded to go

| to Paradise Valley Sanitarium, Albert would be able to see that she received the very best

of medical help available, ..
- Persuading her was not easy;.and the ride down'even more difficult for her. When she
left her 1little home, she said, "I'll never see my home again,"

They tried to laugh it off, telling her that she would soon be home again and as well
as before her long months of illness, |

Lee and Mable stayed to help get her settled in at the San, and when they were ready
te return to Chowchilla; she teld them.to give this message to the others theres: "Tell
then that I got here’in good shape and that I'm all right."

The doctors went, one by one, to see her and try to make an accurate diagnosis of her
problem. Tests were made, and finally they decided that she needed surgery. They had
found another blood clot lodged in the intestine, leaving a large portion of it gangren-
ous,

The doctors removed a large section of the intestine, and when Mable and Alma dfove
down to be with her following the surgery, she had some things she wanted to say,

"I've lived a long, full life, I just want to die. I'm of no value to anyone like
this.". |

They tried to reassure her, telling her that she was talking nonsense, The doctors~
told them she was making an excellent recovery, and they all felt that she would soon be
all right again, On the basis of that Judgment Mable and Alma drove back honme, confid-
ent that she would be with them on their next trip,
| One evening, soon after their visit, whilé the doctor was on rounds, he visited with
Josie, She told him of plans Bhe was making., She would travei again, she ﬁould‘go back
and see some of her relativeslstill living, and her spitits seemed excellent,

Before he left her reom, he asked her, "Mother, how would you like to go home to-
morrow? How does that sound to you?

Home, of course, for the time being, would be Albert's home, and she appeared most
pleased. She went to sleep, secure in the knowledge that on the morrow-;he w0uld be ..
ieaVTng'fhe’iospital;a:S&metime towards morhiﬁgﬁ a third blded clot‘stiuck hef in the lung,
and she didn't even waken from her sleép, That day she did leave the hospital, but cer-
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tainly not as she or anyone else expected,
Again, sad messages were sent out, shocking, aS'ali had expected the next news to

be so much better. She, also, was laid to rest in the family plot in the Arbor Vitae

Cemetery in Madéfa, to await the call of the life-giver.
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Chapter 25

Their Good lives After Them

Joseph continued farming the old home plece, although by now all of the apricot : -

’ttrees _ had been replaced with pasture and Alfalfa. The grapes he also replaced with

some pasture, but more with a family orchard, pﬁtting in a large variety of peaches,
apricots, plums, apples, pears, prunes, persimmons, oranges, grapefruit, and tangerines,
On the other side of the house, many varieties of grapes, perhaps going beyond the twenty-

$wo he remembered as a boy in Escondido, when Oscar  did the same, and certainly reflecting

©a bit of heaven on earth., In addition to all these fruits, he had more than enough berries

tovfeed his family of six children, and put upAsome for winter use.

He even rememberd the Esdondido days and put in an olive tree, and many a mouth puck-
ered as they tasted their first olive "right off the tree", as he chuckled,

Aaron and his family returned for furlough again, and again, as many of possible of
the Larson family turned out to visit with them again. A -portion of thei¥ stay was with
Joseph and his family, and at the time they were walsing approximately 30 orphan lambs on
the bottle. Marvinand Norman had such fun helping feed the lambs, and after they 1eft,
two of the lambs were named for them--Marvin and Norman., Joseph asked which was which and
had to explain that Normam was a boy's name, while the lanb was a girl lamb, This posed
no great proﬁiem, as the children responded, *."Then we'll just have to call her Norma."

Furlbughs have a way of passing very quickly, and soon the Aaron Larsons were off for
yet another field of 1abor. The Division had asked Aaron to head the publishing work in
Canal Zone, So he found himself manager of the Canal Zone Paleic Yress Publishing Asso-

ciation, and at a time of great difficulties, Vorld War II was raglng, and shipments

. wWere uncertain. At one time they prayed most earnestly that the Lord intervene. They wer

~on the very last stack of paper, and it appeared that there would be no more indefinitely.

Yet; miraculously; just when they had alriost given up all hope, a shipment of paper ar-

rived, and enabled them to continue printing God's Woxd.,
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. While Aaron and Lela and their boys served in the Canal Zone, Albert suffered a ser-
ious sun stroke; St111 at Paradise Valley San, he soon returned to work thinking that he
haﬁ fully reéovered, when he received a call to work at the Florida Sanitarium, in Orlando,
He and Lois accepted, Gerald and June had both completed théir schooling, Gérald as a

doctor, a general practitioner, and June as a registered nurse, so they felt no obligation

.to either of thém.

Arlys was still young enough to make the:adjustment, and June ﬁoved with them. They
enjoyed the work.theré. Aside from being exéessively hot and humid at certain times of the
y;ar, the climate was ideal. The Sanitarium fléurished under his capable adminisfration.

His sense of humof never abated, and while at Crlando he enjoyed a playful prank with
one oé the secretaries, encouraging‘her to fly for the first time, then célling her office

with almost hourly reposts on poor weather, giving her alternatives in the event of pro-

: bléms while flyinge.

When he had rer talked into parachuting déwn évef the'cif; in preferrence to flying
to a point as far beyond her destination as she started from in Orlando, she came into his
office to get his reaction to her conversations with the ?airport?,_as she had been doing
after each new report,

. Howevef} tﬂis time he couldn't keep a straight face, and she finally learned that he
was at the bottom of all the weather reports, etc. She felt a great deal better about her
trip after he confessed all.

When the Central.American Union chose their ne%t president, Aaron, or A, V, Laréon,
was their first choice, Well-rounded in his experiences, it seemed fitting that president

of the Union would be his last appointment in the Mission field. From colporter to Union

*:'Presidenﬁ; he and Lela -completed their 28 years of mission service in 1956, when conditions

at home'and Lelé's'gfowing concern for her aging father brought them to the realization
that they could also serve their Lord in the Unitgd States, and with regrets, they said

their good-byes to a field Where they left a goodly portion of their hearts, Jjust as they

- had given.a goodly portion of their lives, and returned to Célifornia,<where they took care

~of her father in Arroyo Grande for some time,

" Albert continued at the Florida San, and he enjoyed his work. Each institution has it
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own challenges and rewards, However, before he had worked very long in Florida, he be;aﬁ
noticing a health'préblem that had never before presented its self, Not one to worry un=
duly, he continued his work, but his‘family beeame conce;ned and finally persuaﬁéd him to
seek medical advice, '

| Aftér_tests were run and all.the data in;.the recommendations were to move to a coolez
climgte. The almost constant heat and high mumidity.at times of the year that made Florida
alvacation spot for many caused the return of.problems brought about by the sun stroke . "
suffered before he left Paradisé Yalley, and after a brief five years of service at the
Florida San, he agreed that a change was imperative,

Receiving a call to the New England‘Sanﬁﬂgwg.}he didn't hesitate to accept, and they :
made. the move, leaving their June behind, She had married one of the staff doctors while
they lived in Orlahdo. Arlys made the move with them, but Gerald had settled inﬁiowa_in
his owqmedica%'bractice, and lettexrs home souhded full ef happiness and promise of better
things to come, '

The visits tb Chwwchila were farther between now. 5éomehow,_while it was still home,
in a way, with Josie,gone; there wasn't quite the pull that there had been nhile.she still
lived in her little home, |

On one ofvhis visits, he was aéfonished to 1earn.that Joseph had been havingAsome
Yather shaking and most expensive problems with his milk cows, Several years before, the’
State bf California had begun mandatory testing of all cattle for tuberculosis, On the
first time around he lost most of his milking herd. This hurt him badly, financially,  “‘'
although the cows were mostly sold for meat, so he didn't completely lose all he had in
them, | | | |

One of the older cows didn't react to the tesﬁ,iso they let him‘keep'her, and asvh

heifers were moved inte~the main pasture and freshened, he began to build up his_ herd

again, The heifers had been fine when they were tested, but were pastued a few miles from

the home place,
When the State returned and again tested, Joseph felt fairly secure in the knowlege
that his would all be fine this time, However, he found.that}once,agaihi'élmost every one

of them reacted to the test, and again he was forced to sell them, and again most of them

®

.went to the: slaughter house for meat, Stﬁangely enough, the older cow did not react to
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test, as she remained the core of his dwindling herd.
Again, the-heifers out on pasture were tested, and all were healthy. When their
freshening time came close, they were moved to the home place, and as they freshened, his

milk cans became more plentiful again. Things were looking better for him, until the State

" sent the men out a third time to.test the cattle. For the third time, alhost all the c51£1(

-reacted to the test, and again, all had to be sold at a fraction of their value as milk

cows, most of them going again to the slaughter house.

This time, however, there was a change in the routine. The older cow, always appear-
ihg‘free from disease, reacted so strongly that they sent hef to what was then known as
"the tark"”, meaning that no portion of her meat could be sold.

Joseph didﬁ't believe that she‘coula be that bad. After all, she hadn't reacted to
the test the other times, so he decided to folloﬁ the truck as it hauled her away. Sure
enough, they took her to the "tank", and he followed them as they tested her carcassez
They found it completely filled with tuberculosis, . R

When Joseph-asked why she hadn't reacted to the other tests, they told him that
occasionally they found one.tha%vwas.so bad that she didn't react, but remained in the herd
and infected all the other cattle. They called hei a "carriei“. -

Apparently -this must have been the case wifh her, because efter he-gbt rid of her, all
the tests were positive, with no further trouble with T. B, in his herd.

0 As he told Albert about it, he mentioned that after seeing what the butcher industry
did with most of his cattle, known to have T B, he and Dorothy had decided that‘the time
had ceme,fof them. to discontinue eating of meat of nay kind,. |

 After a’éood vacation, visiting with as many of the relatives as possible, and taking
in some scenery going and coming, Albert, Lois, and Ar&ys,reﬁurned to the New England San,
but Hinsdale ﬁeeded a good man and after five years at.the New England San, Hinsdale,
Illinois,vcalled "A. G, Larson", as he was known, to help them out in a difficult time,
Again, they made the move, realizing that probably it would be his last position as edmini-
strator. Most men retire when they reach 65! He had but a few years to go, and moving is
no fun, so he hoped they could stay at Hinsdale until time for his retirement.

. ¥While Aaron and Lela had retired from Mission service, they continued in the Lord's
work. For a while they stayed on in Arroyo Grande, caring for Lela's aging father, but

when he remarried Aaron was called to Central California Conference as Director of the
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Association there, As_he traveled around Central, he kept his eyes open for a good place
to retire somedé&, a place where elther there was a small church or none at all, where they
could still continue furthering the Cause, :

.He took Lela with him sometimes, and they fouhd Just what they were looking for in’
Mariposa, driving distance to Choﬁchilla, yet up out of the valley, and they were abie to
find a small acreage there and start the wheel§ in motion for buying it,

In the process he learned a rather startling fact. As he looked over the records in
the County Clerk's Office one day, he discovered that all pfoperties owned by Seventh-day
Adventists were labeled‘as such, He could find no other notations concerning other denom-
inafidns, and when he asked as to thg reasons, theyaﬁswers were rather vague, He left with

a feeling of unrest, thinking about the time of the end, and wondered how many other county

offices also had all properties owned by S, D. A's marked so that they could be sought out

:wheﬁ the time of trouble arrived,

o

Aaroh,cdpably served Central Califérnia Conferencé in ihié’capacity, building up their
'department, increasing a great-many wills and trust agfeements in the four years that hev
ser&ed ihere, and finally decided that the time for retirement had come.

He'and Léla built a lovely hcme on their property in Mariposé. Lots of room for garden
with oné big'ﬁroﬁiem. If the rabbits didn't ge£ it first, the gophers made a try for it,
and what was left the deer always managed to do a pretty thorough job of eating, Fences
helped keep out the deer, scare-crows discouraged the hungry birds, tfaps solved part_of

the gopher problems, but they tried many things before they finally managed to keep most

of the rébbits away.

With much effort, they finaliy were able to have fruit trees, grapes, and lovely

gardens, living-almost in God's out-of-doors.

Both were moét active in tﬁe little church thére, and their efforts were much apprec-
lated. Souls were won by their studies, and the work in Mariposa flourished because the
Lord blessed the efforts that they and others put into His work,

‘When ietirement time rolled around for Joseph, he decidea that he wanted no part of
it; Dorothy's health had been deteriorating for some time. What. began as "nerves" devel-
opéd into a heart cbn@ition aggraQated by atheroscierosis; and for many'years she had |

suffered from bouts with arthritis and gout.,



One da& while alone at home, Dorothy euffered a massive heart attack, She called
for help by telephone and the family ;ushed her to the hospital, but all the modern mir-
acles of medical science couldn't save her, and she.pessed'to ﬁer rest the day. before her
57th birthday,

At first the loss seemed unbearable, All the family had married, excepting the

‘youngest, Maxine, and she was . < her final year of Academy. Friends encoutaged Joseph to

take a real vacation, and ge- agey from it all, He scoffed at them, Vacation? He had
gone on his share, i |

Each year he had taken one entire week with the family as they grew up. Then, as they
grew older, he and Dorothy had one with Alﬁa and August‘to Florida in 1949, Two years
later, when Aaron and Lela were home on fﬁrlough, Aaron wanted to get away from the heat
of the tropical Americas, and he and Lela had persuaded Joseoh and Dorothy to pull their
trailer and travel with them to Alaska,

| Never would Joseph forget those roads, or the fine time tﬁey had, =Especially never

was he allowed to forget the bitter taste of dandelion greens, cocked at his and Aaron's
insistence, by their wives, They insisted that the.problemknas thaf the dandelions were a
bit older than they appeared, but neverAhad they seen dandelion leaves of such proportionsi

But friends now felt he 'should join an Adventist group and go to Hawaii. and finally
he agreed.‘ Somehow, without Dorothy, the trip didn' t meet his expectations. In fact, it
turned into a terrible disappointment for him, and he returned home disillusioned about what
would soon by the 50th State, | | B -

Aaron's boys completed their education in Maindand schools. Marvin married a daughter
of missionary friends in Central America, as he was, and they returned for e'time, as sec-
ond generation missionaries. Norman, in his way, dedicated his life to working for a med-

ical institution, the White Memorlal Hospital, although he could have made" better money

elsewhere, and spent most of his life working in their laboratory there.'

Alma's girls all grew up and somehow managed to finish college, each finding a place
for herself in the work. Earl chose to live closer home and in other areas,

Mable's were all going to school, and the strain on their pocket book visibly showed .

’ But they made the sacrifice to get as much education as each needed to do what they felt
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Maude's young people were no longer as young, and with seven of them, the burden of.
Christian education fell heavier on their shoulders, but they struggled through it and
their family made them proud and happy that they had done so,

‘Joseph and Dorothy's.six also went through Church Schobls.. After all, there was no
thought of their ever doing anything else. Each was allowed to decide what he or she want-
ed to do with thein life, and Joseph could now feel pride as he saw them mature into fine
norkers. ‘

| Albert began to feel that berhaps he shouldlconsider retirement. His services were
snch thet the institution didn't encourage him in that direction, but after serving nine
fears_at Hinsdale, he felt that he had the hosphtal on a sound financiai.basis, and that
it was time for a younger man to take over the operation,

In their travels, he and Lois had also been looking for just the right place to re-
tire, and they felt that North Carolina would be the ideal place for them, June still lived
in Florida,-Gerald had settled in Iowa, and Arlys, now also married, . had moved around a b;t
but currently lived in Oregan, so there was no place they ‘could be near all of their
scattered family, 4 |

In 1963 they made the move to Hendersonvilie, Nb;th Carolina, but with 42 years in
hospitai work, nostly in the adminisirative field, and being‘welloknown in the denomination
for his work and most dearlyAresPected and loved, fhe Adventist Hospital Association asked
1f he would continue serving on their board as executive secretary on a part-time basis,
working out of his home.,

He agreed, and for twelve years more worked in this capacity, traveling to many of
the institutions, counseling wlth the leaders, advising then, and it made him feel good to
keep in touch with the work he had devoted his entire lifetime to serving, |

Maude and Jake continued in the Placerville-Camlno area until it seemed wisest for .
them to slow down a bit, too, and they made several moves before finally settling back in
Clevelend, Geofgia; near the doctor son, Myron and his family.

.Alma, also, found that her health necesitated her retiring from active management
of their farm, August had fought a good fight with cancer and had won’ meny years added
to his 1ife, and when shenlost him, she carried on alone for some time, with the help

of Eari, leasing out the farm land, now much larger than the original twenty acres of

4120



virgin soil, .

Even after her retirement, she lived on the home place, weicoming the relatives when
they_came for visits, and always having a home for her family té visit when they returped
for short times, |

When she discovered that she also had cancer, the most dreaded black melanoma, she
refused to give up, encéuraged e use of relatively new and powerful drups and returned
to her home for many additioillAggars, before finaliy giving in to the urging of her family
to retire and leavg the farmiﬁé worries to those younger‘aﬁd mofe capable of handling then,

Meanwhile, Aaron and Lela found that while retirement had its Jjoys, they missed work-
ing with the Spanish-speaking people of Central America, They solved their semi-retirement
winters vacationing in Mexico, where they visited churches they had known in their infancy,

strengthening the believers, stugying with others, and doing what they could to speed the

. spreading of God Word there,

In their spare time, they spent many hours working on their Investment project, that
of collecting shells, cleaning them, and each spring when they returned to the States, they

took the shells to places that gave them good prices for their number one shells, What

better way of vacationing than working for the Lord, and enjoying every minute of 1t?

On oné of these trips, Aaron began to experience some probleﬁs, health-wise, that con-

~ cerned them both, and as they drove toward home in their motor home, they stopped for ex~

tensive testing at the White Memorial Hospital, staying with Norman and family,
The verdict struck terror to their hearts, yet they continued smiling, trusting in the

Lord and knowing that His will would be done, The doctors told him that he had lumphatic

~luekemia, that if he readjusted his living habits and took certain kinds of therapy and

medications, he could live for quite some time, a.though at a slower pace,

After some extensive treatments, sadly Lela drove their motor home on ﬁp through the

State of California, stopping by Chowchilla for a visit with those living there, before

. driving on up to Oregon, where they had moved at that time. Aaron rested on thé bed most

of the trip.

Leukemia plays games, it seems, glving the appearance of great 1mprovement then lets

'down, and the realization comes back that it 1s a deadly opponent, one not to give up

ea.Silyo
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He continued treatments in Oregon, and at one time the doctors gave him a very short
time to live, ordered rubber suits to prevent fluid accumulation; and let him leave the hos-
pital where he had been for some time, After a day .or so in one of those suits, he decided
that he would rather die sooner than suffer longer, asked for special prayer and annoint-
ing, and took the suit off declaring that he would never put it on again,

Following the prayer and aénointing, nothing sudden or flashy followed, but gradually
he improved., When he visite. tﬁ; doctor the next eime, the doctor showed great surprize
at the improvement in his coﬁéition, admitting that there eas ﬁo need to wear the hated
suit if he continued as he was, .

Aaron never claimed that the Lord healed him, only that He saw fit to prolong his
life, and this proved to be the case, Other trips were made to Mexico, encoﬁraging_the
believers there. True, his activities were slowed down, but he still felt that he lived a
productive life,

When he realized that the recession was over, plans were elready under way for a -
grand celebration of his and Lela's 50th wedding day, something he vowed not to miss. How-
ever, by the time of the celeﬁration, there was no doubt that he had little time left.

'Even so, no one would ever have realized from his smiles and happiness for the day that
he had buf six weeks left to live; ’

Back in Chewchilla, among friends and relatives; he chose to spend his remaining days,
letting the one nurse take care of him who knew and loved him so well, his own sister,
Mable, who had buried Lee not too long before, |

One at a time, they all retired and are leaving the work to their families. Albert

and Lois celebrated their 50th wedding anniversary, as did Maude and.Jake. Each family has

..-one or more working actively in the Lord's work, some serving in their home churches, and

some in far away places,

'On the resurrection morning, what a joyous awakening it will be for Oscar and Josiel

“When they learn that their sacrifices were certainly more than wbrth-while, when they learn

of the valuable work done for the Lord by their children because of their having the fore-
sight to move their brood to a place where they could get. a Christian education, even

though it meant leaving both of their families behind——Oh, vwhat a day that will bel

125



